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Candover is a listed invesiment trust,
focussed on optimising the long-term value
of the underlying investments in its portfolio
for its shareholders. We expect to achieve
this via a progressive return of cash over
time as portfolio realisations are achieved
by the investment manager.

2010 was a transformational year for These disposals have now been completed,
Candover. We changed our investment and combined with the proceeds from exits
policy, agreed the spin-out of our achieved so far in 2011, have had a positive
investrent manager and the sale effect on our key performance metncs.

of a stnp of our portfolio. We now have a clear strategy to deliver

long-term equity value to our sharehoiders
from a sustainable financial position.

Key metrics

Pro-forma impact of disposals

Year end pasition Pro-forma position’

Net agsets asat Loan-to-value covenant Neot assets as at Loan-to-valye covenant
31st December 2H0 at 31st December 20110 315t Decomber 2010 at 31st December 2010

£1779m 32.6% £177.9m 13.7%

Not assets per shareas at  Outstanding commmbments Netassets per shareasat  Outstanding commitments

814p £38.9m 814p £27.6m
£91.0m 2X £26.7m 5x

51.2% 15.0%

References m this Report and accounts to Candovermean 1 Incluges sale of the stnp (assumes no nghts are exercrsed by
Candover Investments plc and/or, where appropriate, one tag rvestors) assocated costs, and realisabon proceeds from
or more of its subsidiaries dsposals agreed pre year end




Dear Shareholder

2010 was another year of major change for Candover Our objectrves at the beginning of

the year were to continue to deliver greater staibity for the bustness whilst also exploring the
optrons available to allow us to protect and grow value for our shareholders We are pleased to
report that we ended the year having put in place a clear strategy ammed at delivering long-term
equity value, based on a sustamnable financial posion and with an independent stable investment
manager in place

In our interim announcement in August we outlined our beltef that the best way to optimse
the long-term value of the underlying investments in the portfolio for shareholders was to
focus solely on a progressive return of cash over time as portfohio reahsations were made by
our investment manager, Candover Partners Limited (*CPLT) Wewould no longer make
new mvestments

In December, we announced the final steps to effect this strategy; aformal change 1n
investment policy and two consequent proposed disposals — the sale of CPL to Arle Capatal
Partners LLP (“Arle™),a new private equuty partnership formed by some of the CPL team,
and the sale of a strip of Candover’s investments in the portfolio for a cash consideration of
£60 0 mallion to an entity backed by Arte and Pantheon, one of the largest private equaty fund
of fund and secondary managers in the world.

The change 1n investment policy 15 now in place after being approved by shareholders, and
the two disposals were completed on 19th April 2011, having recewed the necessary
consents and regulatory approvals

The rationale behind the disposals was to mitigate some of the volanhities surrounding our
business 1n order to protect and deliver long-term sharcholder value. The transforming effects

of this strategy can clearly be seen in some of our key performance metrics at the yearend ‘The
strip sale, combined with 1mtial proceeds from other disposals completed by CPL since the year
end, reduces debr on a pro~forma basts to £26 7 milhon from 31st December’s £21 0 million and
the pro-forma loan-to-value covenant to 13 7% compared to 32 6% reported at 315t December
Additionally, as a result of the strip disposal, Candover’s Labiliry to fund outstanding
commutments has been reduced by £11 2 milkion to £27 6 mullion

In Light of the financial results for 2010 which reflect the signuficant changes in our business
this year, the Board 1s not recommending the payment of a dividend.

The completion of the transactions on 19th Apnl 2011 has seen Gerry Gnmstone stand down
as Chairman and retire from the Board Twould like to take this opportumity to acknowledge
Gerry’s contribution to Candover He served on your Board for 11 years, the last five of which
were as Chairman In particular, throughout the challenges of the last two years, he has shown
great determination and commutment 1n steering the Company mto calmer waters We wish
Fum every success for the future As a consequence of Gerry's renrement, I am delighted to be
taking over as Charrman

We belicve that we have been able to put in place an innovative solution to a complex serses
of challenges and one which provides a greater certainty of being able to return cash and
maxumise value for shareholders over ime Against this backdrop we will continue to review
how best to ensure that the cost of admimistering the affarrs of the Company are minimised,
1 addition to monutonng the performance of the investment manager and the portfolie

2010 has been the end of an era for Candover— we wili no longer be making new investments
i a new fund =but it 15 also the start of 2 new cra for the CPL team as they transition to

Arle We wish them every success 1n building their own sustainable model for the future,
whulst continuing to maximse the returns for all stakeholders from the existing investments

they manage

Richard Stone
Chairman
19th Apni 2011
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CEO'’s report
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Malcolm Faflen
Chuef Executve Officer

Qur priority over the last year has been to
develop and implement a clear strategy
aimed at delivering long-term equity value
from a stable and sustainable pasition.
We are now focussed entirely on
benefitting from the realisation of the
portfolio, and have reshaped the
Company’s balance sheet to reflect this.




Performance

As has already been outlined, the two

disposals, which complated on 19th Apni

2011, significantly strengthen the Group's
balance sheet by reducing the level of net debt
and markedly mproving the covenant position

At the same time, the level of outstanding kabilities
to future commitments to the Candover 2005
Fund has also been reduced Whilst net asset
value per share has decreased in the short-term as
a consequence of the disposals, foregoing some
of the upside means we have established greater
Iikelihood of being able to deliver long-term
shareholder value

The disposals will leave the Company focussed
entirely on benefitting from the realisation of
existing investments as the mvestment manager
runs off the porticlio Accordingly, we have
decided that our balance sheet should be
restructured to reflect this We have therefore not
only provided against the costs of completing the
disposals and related restructunng costs but we
have also made a provision aganst the future cost
of our property lease obligations, as well as wrniting
oft ali related leasehold mmprovements Overall, the
majonty of the costs represent an acceleration of
existing contractua! habilities of the Group Whlst
this has adversely affected our results in the
short-termn, it provides transparency and the
impact wall be to smplify our balance sheet and
align its make-up with that of a nn-off vehicle for
our portfolio of Investments

The Company’s net assets per share of 814p

at 31st December 2010 includes costs and
provisions for the discontinued operations (the
sale of CPL and the stnp disposal) and exceptionat
non-recumng ¢osts {pnmarnly a provision against
an ongoing property hability) This s a decrease of
21 6% since 31st December 2009 (1038p)and a
decrease of 9 8% since 30th June 2010 (903p)

If these prowvisions and costs were excluded, net
assets per share would have been 1026p, a
decrease of 1 2% from 31st December 2009, but
an increase from 30th June 2010 of 13 6%

Dunng the year, Candover receved realisation
proceeds (including mcome) of £36 9 mulion from
funds managed by CPL from the sale of Spnnger
Sclence+Business Media and Ontex Since the

year end we have received further reahisation
proceeds of £15 4 milion from the sale of Equity
Trust and the disposal of our interest in two
mezzanme funds, with addihonal deferred
proceeds of £8 2 million contracted to be received
inJune 2011 These proceeds are all in line with
year end valuations Follow-on investments
totalling £34 7 million were made to supporta
number of portiolic companies

The realisations have led to a further concentration
of the portfolio during the last year As at 31st
December 2010, the ten largest investments
compnsed 87 0% of Candover's investment value
(2009 81 5% on a ike-for-like basis) with Expro
International indwidually accounting for 27 9%
{2009 29 9%} This trend wil continue as further
realisations occur

The combination of follow-on investments and
operating and financing costs, which have only
been partially offset by inflows from realisations,
has resulted in our net debt at the year end nsing
to £81 O miflion agamnst £74 8 millon at the start of
2010 At 31st December 2010 our loan-to-value
ratio was 32 6% comparedto 26 4% at 31st
December 2008 and 25 0% at 30th June 2010

The transforming effect of the stnp sale on our net
debt level and loan-to-value covenant can clearty
be seen in this context The proceeds from the
stnp sale of £60 0 millkon before related costs

and adjustments for tag nights, combined with
proceeds from other disposals completed since
the year end, will reduce debt on a pro-forma
basis to £26 7 million at 31st December 2010 from
£91 O mdion as reported at the year end with the
pro-farma loan-to-value covenant improving to
13 7% from 32 6%

As we move towards a net cash pasition, our
current hedging structure may no longer be
required The existing arrangements were put in
place when the ongmnal US private placement
notes wera raised in 2007 and were structured to
match the cumrency of our indebtedness against
the currency of our Investments Based on our
current estimates it may be appropnate to unwind
the existing hedges which would benefit the
Company's net assets
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CEO’s report
continued

Key strategic events and initiatives
Terrmination of the Candover 2008 Fund

As reported in the 2009 Report and accounts, the
investment penod of the Candover 2008 Fund was
formally terminated in January 2010 Thishad a
significant impact on our financial posrtion very earty
onn the year, with outstanding commitrments to
ongoing funds capped at our outstanding exposure
to the Candover 2005 Fund (€90 0 million as at
31st Decernber 2008) compared to the combmned
axposure to both the Candover 2005 and 2008
Funds of €934 0 million pror to the termination

Unsolicited approach

In Apnl we receved an unsolicited approach froma
third party to buy the whole of the Company As the
Board has a fiduciary duty to consider any credible
approach, we began discussions with thus third party
aimed at understanding how such a potential offer
rmight bnng further financiat stability to Candover
These talks ended in July when the potential offeror
concluded that it was not able to make a firm
proposal that could be considered by the Board

Change of investment policy and disposals

At the half year we indicated that following our
cngoing review of our options, a decision had been
reached with regard to the future of the Company
Based on our belef that there was significant
long-term value in the portfolio we considered

that the best way to optimise value for shareholders
was to remamn as a listed investment trust, no longer
to make new investments, and instead to focus
solely on retuming cash to investors over time as
portfolio realisations were made by CPL

04 Candover Investments plc
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In December we announced the final steps to
facitate these plans As a consequence of the
proposed change in nvestment policy, we
proposed two disposals, the sale of CPL to

Arle for a nominal consideration, and the sale

of a stap of our Nvestments in the portfoho for a
cash constderation of approximately £60 0 milion

The new investment policy and the nterconditional
disposals were approved by shareholders in
December The investment policy came into
immediate effect, while the two disposals

were completed on 19th Apnl 2011 following
receipt of the outstanding consents and

regulatory approvals

The sale of CPL

With the change of investment policy Candover
will not commut to a new fund and therefore does
not need a manager with the capacity to make
new Investments it does however need a stable
and focussed investment manager to manage
its exssting assets, and the sale of CPL to Arde
achieves this

Arle 1s a new private equity partnership formed
by some of the CPL Directors and led by John
Arney, who 1s Managing Partner of CPL. CPL
will continue to manage the portfolio on behalf of
the Funds’ Limited Partners [t will also manage
Candover's investments for a market-based fee
of 1 5% of ther value The team’'s ndependence
provides a stable platform throughwhuch a
motivated investment manager can be retained
in order to focus on maximising and realising
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the value of the portfolio Independence for the
team also increases therr prospects of raising
a new fund at some stage in the future, which
18 an important factor in the retention and
incentmvisation of a professional and dedicated
group of executives

The sale of a portfolio stnp

When considering the sale of the stnp, the
Board felt that while Candover was more
financially stable than 12 months previousty,
there were still volatiities surrounding the
business that could impact on the ability to
deliver the retum of cash strategy — for example,
the lack of control over follow-on iInvestments
and realisations, movements n valuations, the
level of our debt, the leveraged nature of the
investments in the portfolio and the portfolio’s
highly concentrated nature

Whilst we recognised that some of these
volatilties could not be controlled — for example
when and for how much the indmdual portfolio
companies could be sold for, or the timing of any
follow-on investments — other volatiities could be
mitigated We decided, therefore, that the most
appropnate strategy to mitigate the impact of
future potential volatility on the retum of cash to
shareholders was to strengthen the Company’s
balance sheet by reducing net debt

After considenng vanous options, the Board
concluded that the sale of a stnp of the portfoho,
from a shareholder perspective, was preferable to
a highly ditutive nghts 1ssug as a way of reducing
net debt

The portfolio stnp sale compnsed selling 29 1%

of each portfolio company (excluding Ontex

and Equity Trust and the 2001 Fund camy)to a

new entity formed by Arle and Pantheon The
transaction, which was negotiated in September
2010, was structured to deliver cash sale proceeds
of £60 0 mullon (assurmng no nghts were exercised
by tag investors) which represented a discount of
14 3% to the 30th June 2010 carmmying value of

£70 0 milion of the stnp of assets being sold

The stnp sale reduces net debt on a pro-forma
basis to £26 7million from 31st December’s

£91 0 milltlon with a pro-forma loan-to-value
covenant of 13 7% (actual 32 6%) In addition,
the stnp sale has reduced Candover’s liability to
fund its remamning commuitments by £11 2 million
from £38 9 milkon as at 31st December 201010
£27 6 milion, on a pro-formabasis

Pro-forma impact of disposals

Year endl Pro-forma

posibon postion!
Net assets as at 31st December 2010 £1779m £177 Sm
Net assets per share as at 31st December 2010 814p 814p
Net debt at 31st December 2010 £910m €26 7m
Ratio of nat debt to net assets 51 2% 15 0%
Loan-to-value covenant at 31st December 2010 326% 13 7%
Cutstanding commitments as at 31st December 2010 £389m £27 6m
Ratio of cash 1o gutstanding cormmitments 2x 5x

1 Includes sale of the stnp [assumes no nghts are exencrsed by tag rvestors), assoceted costs and Boguty Trust and ICG sale proceeds
[exchuding the additonal condractual proceeds expectad i une 2011)
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CEO's report
continued

Proceeds from the sale of the stnp will be used
to reduce net debt and this will also reduce the
Company’s net annual interest costs The
proceeds will be made avalable to the 2007
noteholders to prepay part of the outstanding
notes at par If this offer of prepayment i1s not
accepted by some of the noteholders, the
remaming proceeds will be invested in cash
and cash equivalent assets to meet future
repayment obligations

The sale of the portfolio stnp to Pantheon, who
require an independent manager to run ther
purchase and who have put in place additional
ncentrves for the team, provided additional
context for the spn-out of CPL.

Future return of capital

In reviewang when and how to return cash to
shareholders, the Board has agreed with its
noteholders that it is prudent that no money should
be returned until the Company 1s in a net cash
position, with total available cash in excess of the
outstanding pnncipal and accrued nterest on the
notes, and the then cutstanding commitments to
the Candover 2005 Fund (the follow-on investment
penod of which currently expires in August 2011),
as well as an appropnate cash reserve to support
future operating cash flow The one exception will
be dnadends that may be required to be paid to
meet investment trust obhgations

068 Candover Investments pic
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Reaching the point of returning cash will be
determined by the pace of realisations that are
achieved by the mwvestment manager and so the
timng s hard to predict at present The Board wall
consider different mechanisms for returring cash
to shareholders in anticipation of a successful
programme of realisations

Risk and performance management

We intend to review our financial and investment
nsks in ight of the change in the balance sheet
profile and, as already mentioned, specifically
assess the appropnateness of our current hedging
techniques

We will retain our focus on the key measures we
believe are clear determinants of shareholder value
- net assets per share, net debt and outstanding
commitments — and use these to provide clanty on
our performance

Outlook

The Board 1s confident that the decisions and
actions taken are the best way toensure
sharehclders will benefit from the long-term value
inherent in the portfoho Candover now has an
appropnate operating model with a transparent
and simplified balance sheet This provides a solic
base from which to delver sigrificant potential
value in the underlying investments

Malcolm Fallen
Chief Executive Officer
16th Apnl 2011
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Financial review

Net asset value per share

Net asset value per share after discontinued
operations and exceptionat non-recumng

costs was 814p, a decreaseof 21 6% since

31st December 2000 (1038p) and a decrease of
9 9% since 30th June 2010(903p} Excluding the
wmpact of discontinued operations and exceptional
non-recumng costs the net asset value per share
would have been 1026p, adecrease of 1 2%
from 31st December 2009, but an increase

from 30th June 2010 0f 13 6% See Table 1

As outlined in the business review, the combined
disposal of CPL and a stnp of nvestments has
significantly strengthened the Group's balance
sheet, mproved its covenant position and reduced
its uncalled Fund commitments Whilst these
disposals have reduced net assets, the liquidity
event has positioned the Company, and the
investment manager, on a more stable financal
basis to enable shareholders to benefit from the
anticipated growth in value and realisation of the
residual Investments

Investments

The valuation of investments, including camed
interest and accrued loan note Interest, was
£310 0 milion at 31st December 2010

{31st December 2009 £3199million)

Table 1
£m p/share
Net asset value at 31st December 2009 2270 1038
Gain on financial Instruments and other ncome’ 127 58
Recumng adrnmustrative expenses 7O (32)
Finance costs 69 {29)
Others (including tax) 21 10
2283 1045
Currency impact
- Unreahsed investments 59 (27}
- Restatement of cash and cash equivalents 63) (29}
- Translation of loan and swap baiances 82 37
2243 1026
Loss from CPL disposal group (discontinued operations) 217) (99)
Loss relating to assets subject to stnp disposal (discontinued opsrations} (19 6) {90)
Exceptional non-recumng costs 51) (23)
Net asset value at 31st December 2010 as reported 1779 814

1 Stated before adverse currency impact of £4 O mition and adverse netfectve nterast rate swap movements of £1 2 milion

finctuded in *Others™)
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Financial review

continued
Table2
£m

Investments at 31st December 2009 3199
Disposals at valuation (33 1)
Addtions at cost 347
Less release of financial lability on equity commrtments (12 2)
Investments adjusted for additions and disposals 3093
Revaluation of investments'
—Valuatton movements befare cumrency mpact 76
— Currency mpact on unrealised mnvestments (6 9)
Investments at 31st December 2010 (ncluding assets held for sale) 3100
Investments held for sate? (80 0)
Investments at 31st December 2010 2300

1 Stated before the mpact of the assats subyect to the stnp disposal

2 Includes the mvestments realised as part of the stnp disposal{£77 4 mulon by value at 31st December 2010) and thenterssts nthe
ICG mezzanine funds the disposals of which were agreed mn December 2010 and completed post year end (£2 6 mihon by value at

31st December 2010)

Table 3
3151 Decemnber 2010 315t Decernber 2000
£m m
Loans and borrowings 200.5 194 6
Farr value hedge adjustment (16.5) (133
Deferred costs 1.0 13
Value of bonds 185.0 1826
Value of related swaps {14.1) {15)
Cash {79.9) (106 3)
Net debt 91.0 748
Table 4
Pro-forma
£
Net debt as reported at 31st Decernber 2010 910
initia proceeds from Equity Trust realisation {inciuding camed nterest) {14 1)
Iritial proceeds from realisation of ICG mezzanine funds (13
Proceeds from disposal of the stnp of nvestments* (60 0)
Exceptional costs — post year end cash impact 11 1
Pro-forma net debt 267

1 Assumes no nghts ame exercisad by tag yvestors
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Report and accounts/2010




review | G | Financial statements | Shamshoider servces

Valuation movements for the year before
currency effects were £7 6 milion Taking into
account additions and disposals, thisis an
mncrease of 2 5% on the value of iInvestments
at 31st December 2009, and 10 8% since
30th June 2010 SeeTable 2

Net debt and loan-to-value covenant
Candover’s net debt increased from £74 8 million
at 31st December 2009 to £91 0 million at

31st December 2010 Thus reflects net operating
outflows of £20 5 mullion, including £6 1 mifion
of net interest paird Cver the course of the year

a further £34 7 million of follow-on nvestments
were made, offset by inflows from realisations of
£35 5 milion (£36 9 milken including mcome
proceeds) See Table 3

At thus level of net debt the year end loan-to-value
covenant on the Company’s borrowings was

32 6% compared 1o 26 4% at 31st Decermnber
2009 and 25 0% at 30th June 2010

As noted above, the stnp disposal significantly
mproves the net debt and covenant position of
the Company On a pro-forma basis, taking intc
account the impact of the stnp disposal (including
related costs), the intial proceeds from the
realisations of Equity Trust including camed
interest) and the ICG mezzanine funds, the net
debt of the Company would be £26 7 million,
with a resulting loan-to-value ratio of 13 7%
SeeTable 4

In addition the impact of the stnp realisation has
also reduced the outstanding commitment of
the Company to the Candover 2005 Fund from
£38 9million to £27 6 million {the follow-on
investment penod of which currently expires in
August 201 1) further improving the Group's
financial stability

Profit before tax

Profit before tax for continuing cperations for the
year was £0 3 million compared to £8 1 milion in
the pnor year This reftects areduction in the level
of nvestrment and other ncome recognised and
the impact of the change in capitalisation policy In
kght of the change in our focus on realisation rather
than investment, we have revewed and revised
the allocation of expenses between revenue and
capital In particular, this change reflects the
impact of longer hold periods cn investments
before realisations which will result in a greater
proportion of the anticipated future returm being
received as loan stock interest, rather than capital
gains, which would therefore be recognised as
revenue rather than capital return in the future

As a consequence of the change In investment
strategy of the business and the decision to
dispose of CPL and the stnp assets, the Group
has reported £41 3 million of lossas (of which
£19 6 milkon are reported as a capital loss) on
discontinued operations and£5 1 million of
exceptional non-recurring costs The costs
compnse losses attributable to the CPL disposal
group of £21 7 million, a prowision of £17 4 milion
agamnst the fair value of the nvestments subject
to the stnp disposal (reported as a denvative)

as well as losses for the yearon those assets

of £2 2 million; and £5 1 million of exceptional
non-recurmng casts pnmanly compnsing a
provision against the ongoing property Labity
Of these costs, post year end cash payments of
£11 1 milion will be incurred

Candover Investients plc 09
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Manager’s portfolio review

Overview

The European buyout market recovered well
dunng 2010, with the volume and value of
transactions completed nsing by 43% and 169%
respechvely, at 367 deals worth €63 1 billon
The increase In buyout actmty 15 encouraging n
the context of exats, and to tius end CPL realised
its nvestment in Spnnger Science+Business
Media, Ontex and Equity Trust all wa secondary
buycuts The Sprnger and Ontex transactions
were two of the largest buyouts announced in
Europe dunng the year

As it currently has no new investment capability
other than for follow-on investments, CPL. has
focussed exclusively on continuing to explors
ways to enhance portfolio company values both
organically and through add-on acquisitions with
the objectve of maximising realisable values
We have also made it a pnonty to ensure that
our portfolio has been well positioned to take
advantage of the improvements seen in the
developing economies, whilst minimising the
negative impacts of a slower recovery Iin the
more developed economies

Ten largest investments
Analysis by value as at 31st December 2010

S of our top ten investments have achreved
Last Twetve Months (“LTM”) earnings at

31st December 2010 above the comparative
2009 LTM positon  The average imphed multiple
of the top ten mvestments s 7 6x LTM EBITDA
compared to 8 5x 2009 LTM EBITDA. Interms
of the level of leverage across the portfolo, the
weighted average net debt to EBITDA multiple
for the largest ten investments hasfallento 5 1x
(2009 5 3x) reflecting the focus on maximising
cash flow and ensunng sustanzable capital
structures are inplace Excluding Expro
Intemational, which replaced its senior debt
with a high yield bond in December 2009, this
leverage falls to 3 6x {2009 4 6x)

The following review and analysis of the portfolio
1S pnor to the impact of the stnp disposal on
Candover

Realisations

Candover and the managed funds achieved
realisation proceeds of £169 2 millon dunng
the year — Candover’s own share of such
realisaton proceeds was £36 9 miflon
{including iIncome proceeds).

Muttiple cf earnings 94% Industrials 45% United Kingdom 54% 2-3yearn61%
Sale price 6% Energy 32% Benehux 23% 3-4 ynars 23%
Leisure 13% Spain 13% 4-5yoars 2%
Financials 8% Iady 6% >Syears14%
Support services 2% France 2%
Switzertand 2%
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in February 2010, Candover and the Candover
2001 Fund sold ther investment in Spnnger
Science+Business Media The sale generated
total proceeds of £11 7 mullion for Candover
(including loan note interest of £0 1 million),

of which £8 0 million resulted from the catch
up phase of the camed nterest scheme

The Candover 2001 Fund achieved a retum
of £32 1 million before payments of camed
interest (including loan note interest of

£0 5 million}, bringing the overall nvestment
multiple to 1 8xwith an [RR of 28% At the
same time, Candover receved proceeds of
£4 6 million relating to the return of surplus
cash from the Candover 2001 Fund which
went towards the remaining camed interest
catch up amount

In May 2010, Candover and the Candover 2001
Fund completed the exit of Gala Coral achieving
an overallmuttiple of 0 6x In November,

the sale of Ontex to Goldman Sachs and TPG
completed for an enterpnse value of €1 2 billion
The sdle generated initial cash proceeds for
Candover of £17 3 mullion, including £4 9 rullion

of camed interest A guaranteed, nterest accrung

deferred payment, will result i further proceeds

valued today at £7 6 milion and will be payable
between completion and September 2012
The camed interest from this deferred payment
wall retum an additional £3 0mifion The
Candover 2001 Fund received mitial proceeds
of £96 8 million and a further £59 3 million from
the deferred payment, gving an investment
multipte, before camed nterest, of 0 7x the
onginal nvestrment

Post the year end, the sale of Equity Trust 1o
Doughty Hanson completed in January 2011,
generating initial cash proceeds of £14 1 million for
Candover, including €4 0 rmilien of camed interest
A deferred payment of £5 1 millon, guaranteed by
funds managed by the purchaser, 1s payable upon
the earlier of a refinancing or recapitalisation of the
business and the end of June 2011 The carned
interest from this deferred payment will return an
additional £2 O mellon The Candover 2001 Fund
receved nitial proceeds of £79 1 milion and will
recewve a further £40 2 million from the deferred
payment, gvng an investment muttiple, before
camed interest, of 1 5x the ongnal nvestment

The pnncipal realisations are set out in Table 1

Table 1
Prortfolio company Candover©mn  Funds £m Type
Candover 2001 Fund camed interest! 177 - Crystallisation of camed interest
Ontex 124 968 Private equity sale
Spnnger Science+Business Media 37 321 Private equity sale
Other 31 34
Total realisations? - 2010 36.9 132.3
Equity Trust 101 791 Private equity sale
Candover 2001 Fund camed interast’ 40 - Crystalisation of camed interest
Qther 13 -
Total realisations? - 2011 to date 154 79.1

1 The camed interest receipts are distnbuted to the Comparnty from the fund receipts

2 Proceeds shown above include loan interast income:

Candover Investments plc 11
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Manager's portfolio review
continued

Follow-on investments

In September, Expro Intemational completed the
acquisition of Production Testers International, an
Asian-based oliffield services company Candover
invested £1 5 million and the Candover 2005

and 2008 Funds invested £25 8 miflonin the
transaction

In addition, dunng the year Candover made further
investments in the following portfolio companies

—~ £2 2 mulion in DX Group as part of a balance
sheet restructunng,

— £2 4 milhon in EurotaxGlass's ("ETG") as part
of a restructunng,

— £6 8 milion In Hilding Anders to repay a faciity
put in place to fund acqusitions, and

— £21 6 milion in Technogym to repay a debt
faciity put in place at the time of the onginal
acquisition

Since the year end, ETG has completed the
acquisition of Autovista in Finland, a business
supplying motor vehicle valuation data products
The acquisition should dnve the ETG business
forward, enabling ¢t to supply its customers with
more robust data in near real tme Candover
invested £0 6 million and the Candover 2005
Fund invested £3 6 miflion in the transaction

Portfolio valuation review

Table 2 shows the valuation movement by portiolio
company Adverse exchange rate movements
reduced the effect of the valuation uplifts on the
Euro denominated investments, although overall
the portfolio has been wntten up by £0 7 milkon
(3p per share) since 31st December 2009

Table 2

Vahshon Vakaton Valuabon
at3ist Additons movement  movernent at3ist Valuabon
Rescial  Decamber and exchsfng atrbutable movemant
cost' 2009 24 o2 2010 penca per
Portiolo company £m £m £m £m £m m share?
Expro International 1109 958 15 (142) 33 864 (50)
Stork 489 438 00 199 220 615 82
Parques Reunidos 257 347 oo 30 (177 360 6
Capital Safety Group 119 108 01 77 03 189 37
Qoptig 96 158 00 21 o8 171 6
Technogym 412 00 94 60 06 160 30
Equity Trust 83 126 00 33 (0gy 153 12
Innovia Films 38 50 00 20 02 68 8
Alma Consulting Group 205 309 00 (230Q) 17 62 (113)
EurotaxGlass's 198 114 24 (6 8) 14 56 {38)
Ten largest investments* 300.6 260.8 13.4 {0.0) 4.4) 2698 {20)
Hilding Andlers 342 00 68 an 04 55 6)
DX Group 3302 00 22 00 00 22 0
Ono 31 14 00 01 ©1) 14 0
Candover 2001 Fund camed interest 00 279 (15 5) 59 o8 175 23
Qther® 651 298 175 33 200 136 6
Other investments 132.6 59.1 .0 7.6 2.6) 40.2 23
Total 433.2 3199 10.6 7.6 6.9) 310.0 3

1 Ressdual cost s ongnalcost less realisabons o date

2 Compared 1o the vahuation at 31st December 2009 or acquesihon date, if xter
3Netnvestment of £21 6 madlion and release of equsty bndge provision of £12.2 methon

4 Exciuding Candover 2001 Fund camed mterest

5Inciudes £33.5 million relating to Alcontrol and Gata which are fully written off and £8.0 milion relting to the cost of thevendor loannate

remanng on Orex

12 Candover Investments pic
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1. Expro International

Industry sactor: Energy
Geography 113
Date of investment: July 2008
Residual costof investment£m 110.9
Directors' valuation £m 88.4
Change over prior valuation £m {10.9)
Effective equity interest (fully diuted} 6.7%
% of Candover’'s net asgets 48.6%
Basis of valuation. Muttiple of eamings
Dividends received £m: -
Yearend: March 2010
Sales: Us$1,08.8m
Eamings' US$302.9m

Industry sector: Industrials
Geography: The Netherlanda
Date of nvestment: January 2008
Residual cost of investment£m. 48.9
Directors’ valuation £m: 615
Change over prior valuation £m 17.7
Effective equrty intorest (fully diluted) 8.4%
% of Carndlover's net assots: 34.6%
Basss of valuation- Muttiple of carmnings
Dmndends received Em -
Yearend December 2009
Sales: €1,626.0m
Eamings' €118.0m

Expro International is one of the leading oiffield
service providers speciahsing in well flow
management, with a particular focus on the most
technically challenging deepwater environments
Expro Intemational’s operations are cntical to the
development of oll and gas reservoirs and are
utilised by multinational ol majors as well as state
owned nattonal ol companies The macro factors
affecting Expro International’s markets are
improving, such as ncreased global demand for
ol and nsing ol pnces The company continues
to build its order backiog but there will inevitably
be a lag before a pick up i parformance 15 seen
because of the long lead tmes between orders
and the recogniton of revenue: In light of the
weaker performance of the business over the last
12 months and no impact yet from the positive
sectoral trends, the investment has been wnitten
down by £10 9 milion (50p per share), after
adding back favourable foreign exchange
movements

Company wehsite
WWW EXDrogroup Gom

Stork 1s a diversified Dutch engineenng
conglomerate active in the asrospace and
technical services sectors The group enjoys
good positions in the markets and sectors in
which it operates and theres a clear strategy
for driving value from each ¢f the dwvisions
Stork has performed strongly over the year with
profits ahead of pnor year and budget As a result
of the improved trading and positive outlook for
the business, the investrnent in Stork has been
wrnitten up by £17 7 milion (82p per share), after
adverse exchange rate movements

Company website
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Manager’s portfolio review
continued

3. Parques Reunidos

Industry sector: Leisure
Geography: Spain
Date of nvestment: March 2007
Roswdual cost of nvestmentfm 257
Directors’ valuatton€m- 360
Change over prior valuaton £m 13
Effective equity mterest {fully dduted) 5.6%
% of Candover’s netassets 20.2%
Basis of valuation Multiple of earnings
Dividends received £m: -
Yearend September 2010
Sales: €516.8m
Earmungs' €178.8m

4. Capital Safety Group

Industry sector Industrials
Geography: UK
Date of investment: June 2007
Residual costof investment £m: 19
Directors’ vatuation £m: 8.9
Change over prior valuation £m. 8.0
Effective squity interest {fully diluted) 7.2%
% of Candover's net assoets 10.6%
Basia of valuation: Muttiple of earnings
Dividends recerved £m- -
Yearend. March 2010
Sales: Us$197.0m
Eammngs': uUS$50.1m

14 Candover Investments plc
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Parques Reuridos further consolidated its
position dunng the year as one of the world's
leading operators of attraction parks The
company enjoys strong positions in all its key
markets and the majonty of the parks are the
leading family attraction in the surrounding area
Pargques performed well n 2010, with profits for
its financial year to September ahead of prior
year despite the economic downturn and poor
weather in parts of Europe and the US during the
surmmer months Management continue to drive
operational improvements throughout the park
portfolio, particularty n the parks acquired in the
past 12 to 18 months In February 2011 the
equity bndges for Parques were repad in full

At the same time, the US part of the business
was refinanced with a high yield bond, freeing
up cash to provide the company with addiional
acquisition capabilty going forward The
investment was written up by £1 3milion

{Bp per share), after adverse foreign exchange
movements

Company website
www parquesreuntdos com

Capital Satety Group 1s orie of the global market
leaders in height safety and fall protection
equipment Capital Safety’s products are

widely used inindustries such as ol and gas,
construction (predorminantly non-residentsal),
utdibes, renewable energy and telecoms Capital
Safety Group has had a strong year with order
intake, sales and earnings significantly ahead

of pnor year and budget This 1s underpinned

by a strong recovery in nearty all end markets,
geographies and sales channels As aresult, the
mvestment has been wrtten up by £8 0 mithon
(37p per share), Including a small positive foreign
exchange movement

Comparny website
www capralsatety com




| Sharehoider services

5. Qioptiq

Industry sector: Industrials
Geography- UK
Date ofinvestment: December 2005
Residual cost of investment £m 2.6
Drrectors’ valuation £m 171
Change over prior valuation £m: 13
Effective equity mterest {fully diluted). 7.2%
% of Candover's netassots- 9.6%
Basis of valuation: Muyttiple of carmings
Dividends rocelved £m: -
Yearend Deacember 2009
Sales. US$370.0m
Earmings’ USS$71.4m

Industry sector: Industrials
Geography: ttaly
Date of investment: August 2008
Reswdual cost ofinvestrnent £m 41.2
Directors’ valuation £m 16.0
Change over prior valuation Em 6.6
Effective equity interast {fully diduted) 4.5%
% of Candover'snet assets: 9.0%
Bass of valuation. Multiple of earnings
Dividends received £m: -
Year end December 2009
Sales: €305.8
Eamungs': €32.3m

CQioptiq 1s one of the world’s leaders in igh-
precision optical and photonic technologies
Despite a softening in the US defence market,
the business has outperformed compared to
the pnor year The mamn dnvers for the contmued
growth of the business have been the recovery
of the industnal markets and the increased
volumes of defence modules and equipment
sales As a result of this improved performance
the valuation has been wntten up by £1 3 miflion
(6p per share), after adverse foreign exchange
movements

Company websrte
WwWw opliq com

Technogym is a global ieader m the design
and manufacture of premium branded fitness
equipment and welliness solutions and enjoys
strong brand recogrition intemationally The
business performed strongly in all of its three
main product segments, and also across its
geographies, with sales ahead of prior year in
all but one of the regions  The resulting year-on-
year eamings growth has seen the investment
valuation increased by £6 6 milion (30p per
share) after adverse foreign exchange
movements

Company website
wiww technogym.com
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Manager's portfolic review
continued

7. Equity Trust

Industry sector Financiats
Geography" UK
Date of Investment: May 2603
Reswdual cost of investment£m, 8.3
Directors’ valuation £Em 153
Change over prior valuation £m 27
Etffective aquity interast (fully diluted) 5.6%
% of Candover's net assets 8.6%
Basis of valuation Sate price
Dividends receved £m -
Year end December 2009
Sales. €134.8m
Earmungs' €32.9m

8. Innovia Fiims

Industry sector Industnals
Geography: UK
Date of investment: September 2004
Residual cost of investment Em: a8
Directors’ valuation £m 6.8
Change over pnor valuation £m 1.8
Effactive equityinterest (fully diluted) 8.0%
% of Candover'snot assets 3.8%
Basis of valuation Muttiple of earmings
Dvidends received Em -
Yoarend December 2009
Sales €345.7Tm
Earmings'? €51.4m

16 Candover investments plc
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Equity Trust, aleading trust and fiduciary
services group, was sold in January 2011 for
£15 3milion, including a deferred payment of
£5 1 milion These proceeds resultin an uphift
of £2 7 million (12p per share} despite adverse
foreign exchange movements

Company website
www equitytrust com

Innovia Films manufactures speciality films
pnmanly for packaging and 1s the onty
manufacturer of polymer bank notes in the

world via a joint venture with the Reserve Bank
of Australia The business has had an excellent
year with volumes continuing ther positive trend
resulting in record eamuings  The valuation was
therefore wntten up by £1 8 mulion (8p per share)
after adverse foreign exchange movements

Company website
www mnoviafims.com
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9. Alma Consulting Group

Industry sector- Financials
Goography: France
Date of mvestment. December 2007
Reasidual cost of nvestment£m 20.5
Directors’ valuation Em 6.2
Change over prior valuation £m 247)
Effective equity mterest {fully diluted) 5 4%
% ot Candover's net assets: 3.5%
Basis of valuation Multiple of eamings
Drvxlends received £m -
Yearend: December 2009
Sales: €271 0m
Eamings’ €98.2m

10. EurotaxGlass’s

Industry sector Supportservices
Geography” Switzertand
Date of investment: June 2006
Residual costof mvestmentfm- 19.8
Directors’ valuation£m 5.6
Change aver prior valuation £m (8.2)
Effactive equity interest {fully diluted) 7.9%
% of Candover’s net assets 31%
Bawus of valuation Multiple of gamings
Dwidends recerved £m -
Year end: Decembaer 2009
Sales: €100.5m
Eamungs' £30.3m
Notes

1 Eamings fiqures are taken from the portfolio company’s most
recent audited accounis or financial statements filed wath
reguiatorybodies The figures shown are the total eamings
onordinary actvibes hefore exceptional tems, depraciation,
gondwl arnortisation, interest and tax for the penod

2 Excludes earmings from assocate joint venture (Securency)

Alma Consulting Group 1s one of the European
leaders n cost reduction and optirmisation,
offenng a wide range of services based ona
success fee model The business has
underperformed over the year with a decline in
earnings as a result of a senes of difficuties In its
small business lines combined with increased
costs drven by regulatory changes in one of ts
major products The regulatory emaronment
remains uncertam, with recent statutory changes
implemented by the French Government altering
the Research Tax Credit scheme thereby
reducing the value Alma brngs to its customers
As a result, the valuation has been written down
by £24 7 million (113p per share) including
acdverse foreign exchange movements

Company website
www.almacg.com

EurotaxGlass's, a provider of automotive
intelligence, 1s predominantly a B2B subscnption
business providing valuation data to all sectors
of the automotive Industry The business has
had a solid trading performance over the past
12 months with earmings in ine with the
restructunng plan implemented this year
Management expect that the market will start
to recover shightly n 2011 with some positive
signs already seen in Germany, Switzerland
and Austna. The nvestment has been written
down by £8 2 milkon (38p per share) to reflect
both the restructuring and the difficult trading
environment, as well as adverse foreign
exchange movements

Companywebsite
www eurotaxglass com
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Manager's portfolio review
continued

Other investments

The remander of the portfolio, ncluding
camed interest, was wntten up by £5 1 million
(23p per share)

1. Hilding Anders

Hilding Anders 1s a European and Asian
manufacturer of beds and mattresses The
company has diverse products and operations,
seling both branded and private label products
and operates In 40 countrnes Since the buyout in
December 2006, the company has grown hoth
organically and via acquisiion However, demand
for its products continues to be impacted by the
prevailing economic condiions The valuation has
decreased by £1 3 million (6p per share), reflecting
the decline in trading

2. DX Group

DX Group 1s one of the largest ndependent
end-to-end operators in the UK postal market
offering maul solutions for both businesses and
the secure matl market Key customners include
property lawyers, financial nstitutions, national
and local government agencies and credit card
companies, all of which have been adversely
impacted by the recession nthe UK Given the
significant impact of the recession on trading, the
company restructured its balance sheet durng
the year with Candover injecting £2 2 millon The
trading tracked the restructunng plan dunng the
year and as a resuit the valuation of the business
remans in ing with the follow-on mvestment

18 Candover Investments pic
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3.0no

Ono s a Spanish cable operator n which
Candover and the Candover 2001 Fund have a
small mnonty interest The company performed
well n 2010 with earmings ahead of pnor year and
restructured its balance sheet to provide stability
for growth going forward The investment has
remaned unchanged dnven by a shght valuation
ncrease offset by adverse foreign exchange
movements

4. Candover 2001 Fund carried interest
Candover’s share of the Candover 2001 Fund
camed interest was valued at £17 5 miflion,
representing a £5 1 millon ncrease from 2009
after adverse foreign exchange movements

Conclusion

in conclusion, the mayorty of the investee
comparuas are performing to plan and we will
continue to focus on maximising value throughout
the portfohio over the course of 2011 and beyond

Candover Partners Limited
19th Apnl 2011
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Ten largest investments

asat 31si Decerher 2000

Resdual Effoctve
costof Deactors’ Movernent ety % of

Dateof rvestiment valation fomist serest Candover's Bass of
wesiment mestment m £m Dec 2009  (hully diluted) NEx assets valuahon
1.
Expro International Jul-08 1109 864 (109} B67% 486% Multipleof
Oilfield sernaces earnings
2.
Stork Jan-08 489 615 177 64% 34 6% Multiple of
Engineenng conglomerate earnings
3.
Parques Reunidos Mar-07 257 360 13 56% 202% Multipleof
Operator of atiraction parks earnings
4.
Capital Safety Group Jun-Q7 119 189 80 72% 106% Multiple of
Fall protection equiprment eamnings
5.
Qioptiq Dec-05 96 171 13 72% 9 6% Multiple of
Optical engneering earnings
6.
Technogym Aug-08 412 160 66 45% 9 0% Multiple of
Premum fitness equipment earnings
and weliness products
7.
Equity Trust May-03 83 153 27 56% 86% Salepnce
Trust services
8.
Innovia Alms Sep-04 38 68 18 80% 3 8% Multiple of
Transparent and coated films earnngs
and polymer bank notes
9.
Alma Consutting Group Dec-07 205 62 (247) 54% 35% Multiple of
Cost reduction and optimisation eamings
10.
EurotaxGlass’s Jun-06 198 56 82) 79% 3 1% Multiple of
Automotive data inteligence eamings
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Valuation policy

Investments are valued by the investment
manager in comphance with the pnnciples of

IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and
Measurement and the International Prvate Ecuity
and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines as
recommended by the Bntish Venturs Capital
Assoctation (“the BVCA"

Principles of vatuation of unlisted
investments

Investments are stated at amounts considered
by the mvestment manager to be a reasonable
assessment of their far value, subject to the
requirement to apply a degree of caution n
making the necessary estimates Far value is the
amount at which an asset could be exchanged
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an
arm’'s length transaction In estmating far value,
amethodology 1s used which 1s appropnate in
hight of the nature, facts and circumstances of the
investment and its matenality in the context of the
total nvestment portfolio

Investments are valued on one of the bases
described below Typically, the eamings multiple
basis of valuation will be used unless this is
nappropnate, as in the case of certan asset-
based businesses

When valuing on an earnings basis, profits
before nterest and tax of the current year will
normally be used Such profits will be adjusted

to a maintainable basis and multipiied by an
appropnate and reasonable earnings multiple
normally related to comparable quoted
companies, with adjustments made for points

of difference between the comparator and the
company bemg valued, in particular for nsks,
earnings growth prospects and surplus assets or
excess labilities In addition, factors such as the
Iikely tirming of an exit, the influence over that exit,
the nsk of achieving condrtions precedent to that
exit and general market conditions are considered
when evaluating the price/earnings multiple

Where a company has incurred losses, or if
comparable guoted companies are not pnmanly
valued on an earnings basis, then the valuation
may be calculated with regard to the undertying
net assets and any cther relevant mformation,
such as the pnicing for subsequent recent
nvestments by a third party that is deemed to be

20 Candover Investments plc
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atarmm’s length In cases where anexit 1S actively
bemg sought, any offers from potential purchasers
would be relevant in assessing the valuation of an
mvestment and are taken mto account in arriving
at the valuation

When investrnents have obtamned an exit (ether
by listing or trade sale) after the valuation date but
before finalisation of the accounts of the relevant
Candover Funds, the valuation is based on the exit
valuation subject to an appropnate discount to
take account of the time penod between the
valuation and exit dates

In amving at the value of an investment, the
percentage ownership 1s calculated after
considering any potential dilution through
outstanding warrants, options and performance-
related mechanisms

Valuation procedures

Valuations prepared by the investment manager
are nitially prepared by its finance department
using comparable multiples sourced from an
independent third party and financial results
provided directly by the nvestee companies
These are then passed to the relevant iInvestment
executive for review and comment, in particular
with respect to the sustainability of earnings

and level of underiving debt, the comparables,
and any adjustments to be made thereto for points
of dfference Any changes to earmnings basis or
comparables used in a valuation, compared to
the prior valuation, must be approved by the
senior management of the Investmant manager

These valuations are then subject to review, ‘
challenge and approval by the senior management

of the Investment manager, who at the same time

will discuss the undertying trading and outlook,

both internal and external, of the investee

comparny

The valuations are audited by the independent
auditor of the Candover Funds (separate auditors
to those of the Company)

In conjunction with this process, the auditors of
the Company also review the valuations of the
investee compares pnor to the approval by the
Board of Directors of the Company
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The Board of Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors

{the “Directors” or the “Board”) sets

the strategic direction for the business
and is the principal body responsible

for decision making. The Board's remit
includes strategy, oversight of the
investment management agreement,

the risk assessment and regulatory issues.
The performance of the Boardis subject
to an annual evaluation exercise led by the
Senior Independent Director.

Richard Stone FCA

Chaumnan, 68

Malcolm Fallen

Chief Executive Officer, 51
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Each of the Directors listed below served
on the Board throughout the year. Antony
Hichens, Chris Russell and Nicholas Jones
retired from the Board on 20th May 2010.
Gerry Grimstone retired from the Board on
19th April 2011.

Appointment date:
May 2005

Committee membership:

Chairman of the Nominations Committee and
committee member of the Audit, Risk and
Vaksation Committes and the Remuneration
Committee

Background and relevant experience:

Until 1998, he was deputy charman of Coopers
& Lybrand and chasrman of the firm's European
corporate finance actvittes From 1998 to 2000,
he served as a member of the global board of
PricewaterhouseCoapers LLP

External appointments:

He s Sentor Independent Director of Halma PLC
and a non-executive director of Trustco Finance
p'c, TR Property Investment Trust PLC and
Gartmore Global Trust plc

Appointment date:
September 2009

Committee membership:
None

Background and relevant experience:

He was previously director and Chief Executive
Officer of KCOM Group pic, a UK-based IT and
telecommunications senvices business Prorto
KCOM he was chief financial officer of ercom,
the incumbent telecommunications operator in
Eire His previous career has included sentor
roles with Bowater, BT and British Biotech

External appointments:
None
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lord Jay of Ewelme GCMG
Seror Independent Director, 64

Jan Oosterveld

Non-executve drector, 67

Appointment date:
January 2008

Committee membership:

Committee member of the Audit, Risk and
Valuation Committee, the Nomuinations
Commuittee and the Remuneration Committee

Background and relevant experience:

He was formerly the Permanent Under-Secretary
at the Foreign Office and Head of the Diplomatic
Service, having previously served as Bntish
Ambassador to France

External appointments:

Non-executive director of Associated Bntish
Foods plc, Credit Agncole SA, EDF Group and
Valeo SA, chairman of the international aid
agency Merlin, aregistered chanty, and the
educational chanty Culham Languages and
Sciences He s chaman of the House of Lords
Appointments Commission

Appomntment date:
Cctober 2008

Committee membership:

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and committee member of the Audit,

Risk and Valuation Committee and the
Nominations Committee

Background and relevant experience:
He spent over 30 years with Royal Philips
Electronics, where he was Chief Executive
Officer of Philips Asia Pacific, charman of
LG Philips LCD and a member of the Group
Management Committee with responsibility
for corporate strategy

External appointments:

He is chairman of Crucell NV and a non-
executive director of Cookson Group plc
and Barco NV

For more information, go to:
www_candovenmvestments.com
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report containing
statutory and corporate governance information
together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31st December 2010

Principal activities

Candover Investments plc was a mid-market UK
and European pnivate equity investor Following
the change in investment policy approved by
shareholders on 22nd December 2010 the
Company's main activity will be to focus solely on
retuming cash to investors over time as portfolio
realisations are made by the investment Manager
The Company will remain as a hsted investment
trust but wilt no fonger make new investments

Tax and investment company status

The Company 1s an investrment company within
the meaning of section 833 of the Companies
Act 2006 1In addition, Her Majesty’s Revenue and
Customs has approved the Company's status as
an investrment trust under section 842 of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 for the
year ended 31st December 2009 In the opmion
of the Directors, the Company’s affars since that
date have been conducted so asto enablestto
continue to be treated as an investment trust

Investment policy and strategy

Under the Company’s previous investment
policy, ts pnncipal focus was investing alongside
other third parties in the Candover Funds The
Company remams contractually commutted to
the co-investments it has made and accordngly
such investments wil!l only be realised when the
Candover Funds dispose of therr own interests
in such Investments The Company’s direct
investments which were made independently

of the Candover Funds are now in the process
of being realised The Company will make dmvadend
payments in comphance with the relevant
investment trust conditions

The Company will not make any new investments
save that (a) nvestment may be made to satisfy
commitments to the Candover Funds under
existing contractual arrangements, and (b) realised
cash may be invested in lquid cash-equivalent
secunties, including short-dated corporate bonds,
govemnment bonds, cash funds, or bank cash
deposits No more than 15% of the Company’s
qualifying investrments may be mnvested in any
single cash equivalent instrument or placed on
deposit with any single instituhion, except that tis
it does not apply to iInvestment in govermment
bonds, which are unconstrained
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The Company will continue to comply with the
requirements of the UK nvestment trust legisiation
and the restnctions iImposed by the Listing Rules n
force from time to tme

Any matenal change to the Company’s investment
pohcy would require shareholder approval in
accordance with the Listing Rules

Investment returns and revenues

The Company's investment retuns and
revenues will be derved from its co-investment
arrangements The Company’s commitment to
co-invest alongside the Candover Funds 1s set
out n the co-investment agreement for each
fund entered into between the Company, the
general partner or manager of thevanous imted
partnerships making up the relevant Candover
Fund and other investors Each co-nvestment
agreement requires the Company to contnbute
its proportionate share of any nvestment made
by the relevant Candover Fund, but permss the
Company to imit its share of any investment on
acquisiion to 15% by value of its qualifying
investments, to avod jeopardising the Campany’s
status as an approved investment trust

Other than with respect to the Candover 2008
Fund {see below) the Company also participates n
the profits from the Candover Funds, subject to an
overall minmum return having first been generated
for third party investors In respect of the Candover
2001 Fund the Company recenves a straight
percentage split The exact percentage receved
by the Company in respect of the Candover 2005
Fund will be determined by a ratchet mecharism
which 1s based on the investment multiple
achieved Based on current valuations value 1s
recogrised in respect of the Candover 2001 Fund
but not the Candover 2005 Fund

The Company earns income frominterest on loan
notes structured as part of an investment n a
portfolio company and from its cash balances

Business review

The Company’s performance dunng the year to
31st December 2010, its positicn at that date and
the Company’s future developments are detaled
in the Chairman’s letter, the CEOQ'sreport, the
Financial review and the Manager's portfolio review
on pages 2 to 20 which compnse the formal
Business review

The Business review should be treated as part of
the Report of the Directors
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Results and dividends

The financial statements of the Company and its
subsichanes for the year to 31st December 2010
appear on pages 43 to 94

The Group's total recogrused income and expense
for the financial year after taxation was a loss

of £23 1 million (2009 £9 0 millon) Revenue

from continuing operations was £8 1 million

(2008 £13 3millon) Adrministrative expenses from
continumng operations charged to revenue were

£9 6 milion, including £5 1 milkon of exceptional
costs (2009 £11 3miflon including £7 9 million

of exceptional costs) A loss charged to revenue
relating to discontinued operations of the CPL
disposal group was £21 7 milion for the year
{2009 loss £9 2 mulion) Capital return for the year
was aloss of £25 9 million {2009 €13 3 mullion
profity which includes a £19 6 millien loss relating
to assets subject to the stnp disposal (2009 £ni))

The changes In fixed asset investments are
descnbed, together with a review of Gandover's
activities, in the CEQ's report, Financial review
and Manager’s portfolio review on pages 2 to 20

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
final dvidend for 2010 (2009 final dmdend of £nil)

Investment management and administration
On 1st January 2010, the Company entered into
two agreements with CPL to establish arm’s length
nvestment management and administrative
support arangements The effect of entenng into
the agreements was to place the relationship
between the Company and 'ts mvestment
manager and then subsidiary, CPL, withina
formal, legal and operational framework which
provided clanty as to each party's nghts and duties
to the other Following the disposal of CPL to Arle,
revised agreements have now been implemented

A revised transaction services agreement (the
“Revised Transaction Services Agreement”™) will
govem the investment adwvisory actvities which
CPL cames out on behalf of the Company
Pursuant to the Revised Transaction Services
Agreement, CPL is appointed to act as adwiser

in respect of the co-investments which the
Company has made alongside the Candover
Funds The Rewvised Transaction Services
Agreement can only be terminated in respect of
any particular nvestment if CPL ceases tobe the
manager of the Candover Fund which holds that
investment This achieves an algnment of interest
between CPL as manager of the relevant fund and
the Company in respect of each co-mvestment
asset The fees payable by the Company are

broadly equivalent to 1 5% of the aggregate of the
book value of the Investments and outstanding
co-investment commitments (excluding the value
of the Company's holdings in the carned interest),
payable in advance on a bi-annual basis

This arrangement does not affect the Company’s
participation in the camed interast arrangements
for the Candover 2001 and 2005 Funds

A revised administrative services agreement (the
“Revised Administrative Senices Agreement”),
covers certain administrative services that are to
be provided to the Company by Arle The services
cover the provision of company secretanal,
financial management and reporting together with
IT support services The Revised Administrative
Services Agreement 1s for annitial duration up until
30th June 2011, durng which time the Company
will review, in conjunction with Arle, how these
services might be transferred {o a third party
service provider Afixed penodic fee is payable

by the Company to Arle for the provision of such
services pursuant to the terms of the Revised
Adrministrative Services Agreement

Conflicts of interest

The Companies Act 2006 sets out directors’
general duties which require that a director must
avoid a situation where he has, or could have, a
direct or ndirect interest that conflicts, or possibly
may conflict, wath the Company's interests This
requirement 1s very broad and could appty, for
example, if a drector becomes a director of another
company or a trustes of another organisation The
Companies Act 2006 allows directors of publc
companies to authonse corflcts and potential
conflicts, where appropnate, where the articles of
association contain a provision to this effect The
Companies Act 2006 also permits the articles of
association to contan other provisions for dealing
with directors’ conflict of interest to avoid a breach
of duty The Company’s articles of association

(the “Articles”) provide the Directors with the ability
to authonse such conflicts and nclude other
provisions to allow confiicts of interest to be dealt
with The Company has implemented vanous
safeguards which apply when the Directors decide
whether to authonse a conflict or potential conflict
Firstly, only the Directors who have no interest In
the matter being considered will be able to take
the relevant decision and, secondly, in taking the
decision, the Directors must act in a way which
they consider, in good faith, wil be most Ikely to
promote the Company’s success The Directors
may also impase condiions when authonsing
confhicts of interest
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Appointment and re-election of Directors

In accordance with the Articles and in compliance
with the Combined Code of Comporate
Governance dated June 2008 (the “Combmed
Code"), Lord Jay will retre and, being eligible, will
offer imself for re-election at tha Annual General
Meeting The terms of appointment of Lord Jay
and his fees are descnbed in the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 42 to 48 and his
biography appears on page 23

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

and indemnities

The Company has purchased and throughout the
year mantained approprate INsurance Gover in
respect of directors’ and officers’ labiities In
accordance with the Articles, the Combined Code
and the provisions of the Comparues Act 2006, the
Company has mantaned qualfying third party
indemnity arrangements for the benefit of the
Directors throughout the year

Information for shareholders

(i) Articles of associaton

The business of the Company 1s managed by the
Board, which may exercise all the powers of the
Company, including the power to 1ssue or buy
back shares, subject to the prowsions of the
Articles, relevant statutory law and any direction
which may be given by the Cormpany In a general
meeting by special resolution

A summary of the nghts, restnctions and
obligations attaching to the shares in the
Company 15 set out below Full details are
contained in the Articles, a copy of which can
be found at www candovennvestments com
The Articles may only ba changed by a special
resolution passed by the members of the
Company

(i) Share capital

The Company's share capital consists of a single
class of ordinary shares with a nominal value of
25p each (the “Shares"), all of which are fully pad
As at 19th Apnl 2011, the 1ssued share capital of
the Company comprised 21,856,615 Shares, of
which 78,035 Shares are held in treasury by the
Company Nots 21 to the accounts, on page 78,
sets out the detais of the Company's capital
structure
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(i) Major interests in Shares

As at 19th Apnl 2011, the Company had been
notified, pursuant to the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules of the Financial Services
Authonty, of certan significant holdings in the
Company's share capital Details of members with
nterests of 3% or more of the Company’s Shares
are set out In note 21 to the accounts on page 79

(iv) Rights attaching to Shares

The nghts attaching to the Company's Shares

are set out in the Articles All Shares nssue
(excluding those held by the Company in treasury}

carry equal nghts

(v) Dividends

By passing an ordinary resolutton, members may
declare final dwidends afthough the amount of a
dmdend cannot exceed that recommended by the
Board All Shares, excluding shares held by the
Company in treasury, carmy equal nghts in respect
of declared dividends The Board may pay intenm
dvidends provided that, in the opinion of the
Board, the financial position of the Company
justifies such payment If authonsed by an ordinary
resohution of the members, the Board may offer
any membser the nght to elect to receve new
shares in the Company, which will be credited as
fully pard, instead of their cash dnadend Any
dndend which has not been claimed for 12 years,
or more, after becorming due for payment wilibe
forferted and will revert to the Company

(vi) Voting nghts

Except as descnbed below, there are no
restnctions on the voting nghts attaching to the
Company’s Shares There are no special control
nghts in relation to the Shares and the Company 1s
not aware of any agreements between members
that may result in restrnictions in voting nghts

Subject to tha Company’s Articies and to law,
votes are exercisable at a general mesting of the
Company at which the relevant resolutions are
being heard Votes may be exercised in person, by
proxy, or, in the case of corporate members, by
corporate representative, but in allcases the
member must be entered on the register of
members of the Company in respect of the
relevant Shares at such tme (not being eartier than
48 hours before the meeting) as may be specified
by the Company in the noaice of general meeting
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For each resolution proposed every member
present, or otherwise duly represented, has one
vote on a show of hands and on a poll has ong
vote for each Share held In the case of joint
holders only the vote of the most senior holder
who votes, whether in person or by proxy, can be
accepted For this purpose, senionty 1s determined
by the order in which the names stand in the
register of members

(vii) Restnctions on voting

Unless the Board of Directors otherwise
determines, no member shall be entitled to attend
or vote either personally or by proxy at a general
meeting in respect of a Share ifany call or other
sum presently payable by him to the Company in
respect of such Share remansunpaid In addition,
no member shall be entitied to attend or vote, ether
N person or by proxy, N respect of Shares ifhe has
failed to provide, within 14 days of delivery of a
notice by the Company, information concerning
interests in the Shares (“Restncted Shares™)

(vui) Appointment of proxtes

Under the Articles, members are entitled to
appoint a proxy, who need not be a member of the
Company, to exercise all or any of ther nghts to
attend, speak and vote on their behalf at a general
meeting A member may appoint more than one
proxy, provided each proxy 1s appointed to
exercise nghts attached to different Shares
votes are to be exercised by proxy, the Articles
provide that proxy forms must be received not less
than 48 hours before the time appointed for the
holding of the meeting A notice of general mesting
and accompanying proxy form explain the full
method for voting by proxy

(ix) Transfers of Shares

A member does not need to obtan the approvat
of the Company or other members i order fora
transfer of Shares, whether in certificated or
uncertificated form, to take place Transfers of
Shares in uncertificated form must be camed out
using CREST

The Board may refuse to register a transfer of

Shares

- fthe Shares are not fully pad, provided that this
discretion may not be exercised m a way which
the Financial Services Authonty or the London
Stock Exchange regards as preventing dealings
in the Shares from takung place on an open and
proper bas's,

— 1f the transfer 15 1n favour of more than four
transferees jointly, whether the Shares are fully
paid or not,

- mn relation to Shares in certficated form, where
the provisions of article 42 of the Company’s
Articles are not met,

— in relation to Shares in uncertificated form, in
accordance with the Uncertificated Secunties
Regulations, and

— if the shares are Restncted Shares (as defined
above in the section entitled “Restnctions on
voting”) and represent at least 0 25% in nominal
value of the issued Shares of the same class, as
more fully descnbed in the Articles

There are no other restnictions on the transfer of
Shares, other than restnctions imposed from time
to time by laws and regulations (for example,
insider trading laws) or pursuant to the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authonty (whereby
all employees of the Company require the approval
of the Company to deal in Shares).

{x) Creditor payment policy

The Company's policy I1s to negotiate payrment
terms with its suppliers on an indwvidual basis
The Company had trade creditors outstanding
at 31st December 2010 representing on average
36 days (being the ratio of the number of the
Company's trade creditors at the end of the year
to the amounts invoiced by trade creditors to the
Company during the year)

(xi) Agreements which are affected by a change
of control of the Company

As at 19th Apnl 2011, the Company was party to
the following agreements which take effect after or
terminate on a change of control of the Comparny
following a takeover nd
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(a} Note Purchase Agreement dated
12th October 2007 between the Company
and certain financial institutions in respect of
(a) US$200 0 milllon 7 02% Senes A Semor
Notes due 12th October 2014 (b) €30 G million
Floating Rate Senes B Senior Notes due
12th October 2014 and (c) £30 O milkion 7 45%
Senes C Senior Notes due 11th January 2015
(together the “Notes™) Under this agreement,
the Company s required to give wntten notice
to the holders of the Notes within 21 days of
a change of control taking place and offer to
prepay the entire unpaid pnncipal amount of
the Notes held by each holder together with
interest thereon within 45 days of the Company
1ssuing a change of control notice Each
noteholder 1s required to accept orreject the
prepayment offer within 30 days of it being
made by the Company

(b) Awards and options under the employee
share schemes referred to in the Directors’
remuneration report on page 43, will vest or
become exercisable upon or shortly aftera
change of control, athough the number of
shares compnised within those awards or
options may be reduced

As set out In the Directors’ remuneration report
on pages 42 to 48, there are no agreements
between the Company and its Directors or
employees providing for compensation for loss
of office or employment that occurs because of
a takeover bid or subsequent change of control
of the Company

Auditors

Grant Thornton UK LLP have expressed
wilingness to continue in office In accordance
with section 489(4) of the Companies Act 2006,
a resolution to reappoint Grant Thomton UK LLP
will be proposad at the Annual General Meeting
to be held on 18th May 2011

Corporate governance

A summary of the Company's approach to
corporate governance, approved by the Directors,
can be found on pages 30to 37 The Company's
Corporate Governance report should be treated
as part of the Report of the Directors

Risks

A summary of the Company’s nsk management
framewaork and an overview of the Company's
pnncipal operating nsks are detalled in the Risk
review on pages 38to 41 The Risk review should
be treated as part of the Report of the Directors
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Political and charitable donations
Dunng the year, the Company made no polbcal
or chantable donabons (2009: ££169)

Corporate and social responsibility
Following the change n Candover's nvestment
policy, the long-term success of our busmess
will depend on both growth in the value of the
current portfolio and the successhil realisation
of the mvestments by the Investment manager
Throughout this penod the Company will
continue to maintain positive relatonships with
our stakeholders, mcluding our shareholders,
and our nvastment manager '

Wa are of the view that the direct environmental
and social impact of Candover's acimties s
relatively low

Our pnncipal social and environmental mpacts
and the consequent nsks and opporturuties anse
In the portfolio companies which operate ina
diverse range of sectors and countnes. Candover
does not manage these busmnesses directly and s
a co-investor in the funds managed by the
Investment manager However, as a co-mvestor,
there are commescial and legal considerabons that
imit the nfluence the Company canexert on the
funds managed by the mvestment manager We
consider that we have an open and transparent
dialogue with the mvestment manager in relation to
its actmvities and we remain focussed on ensunng
that non-financial issues do not impact negatively
on the Company’s reputation

Employees and employee share schemes
Information regarding Candover’s employees and
employee share schemes IS giveninnote 2 to the
financial statements on pages 64 to 66 and in the
Directors’ remuneration report on page 43.

Shares n the Company may be held, fom tme

to time, by the trustee of the Candover Investments
SMP Trust (the "SMP Trust™) established m
connection with the share matching plan refered
to In the Directors’ remuneration report on page 43,
which s an employees’ share scheme The trustee
of the SMP Trust may not vote shares that are hedd
nthetrust Asat 31st December 2010, no Shares
were held by the trustee of the SMP Trust.

Going concern

Under the Combined Code and applicable
regulabions and guidance, including the FRC’s
“Going Concem and Liquidity Risk. Gudance for
Directors of UK Companies 2009, the Directors
are required to satsly themselves that it 1s reasonable
to presume that the Company 1s agomng concem
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Candover’s business actvities, together with

the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position, are set out in the CEQ's
report and the Manager's portfolio review on pages
21020 Thefinancial position of Candover, its cash
flows, Iquidity position and bommowing faciities are
descnbed in the Financialreview on pages 7 t0 9 In
addition, the Risk review and note 29 to the financial
statements on pages 3810 41 and pages 82 to 93
respectively, ncludes Candover’s financial nsk
management objectives, its capital management
policies and procedures, details of its financial
nstruments and hedging actmties and its
exposures to market nsk, cumency nsk, interest rate
nsk, credit nsk, lquidity nsk and other pneing nsk

As descnbed in the Chaiman'’s letter and the
CEQ’s report on pages 2 to 6, the completion of the
disposal of the stnp of assets has had a significant
positive Impact on the Company’s financial posiion
by reducing the level of net debt, increasing the
headroom relative to its covenants and reducing
the level of outstanding commitments to the
Candover 2005 Fund As aresult the Directors have
areasonable expectation that Candover and the
Group have adequate resources to continug as a
going concern for the foreseeable future For these
reasons, they contnue to adopt the going concem
basis in prepanng the Report and accounts

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for prepanng the
Directors’ report and the Financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial year Under
that law the Directors have prepared the financial
statements in accordance with Intermational
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by

the European Union ("IFRSs™ Under company

law the Directors must not approve the financal

statements unless they are satisfied that they give

a true and fair iew of the state of affars and profit

or loss of the Company and Group for that penod

In prepanng these financial statements, the

Directors are required to

» select sutable accounting pobcies and then
apply them consistently,

* make Judgments and accounting esimates
that are reasonable and prudent,

+ state whether applicable IFRSs have been
followed, subject to any matenal departures
disclosed and explained in the financial
statements, and

= prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it 1s Inappropate to
presurma that the company will continue
in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are sufficient to
show and explan the Company’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and enable them
to ensure that the financial statements comptly
with the Companies Act 2006 and Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other rregulanties

In s0 far as each of the Directors 1s aware

» there 1s no relevant audit information of which
the Company's audhtor ars unaware, and

» the Directors have taken all steps that they
ought to have taken to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the auditor is aware of that mformation

The Directors are responsible for the mantenance
and integnty of the corporate and financial
information included on the Company’s website
Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissernination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other
junsdictions

To the best of my knowledge

* the financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the applicable set of
accounting standards, gvea true and farr

view of the assets, kabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole, and

the Chairman's letter and CEQ’s report includes
a {ar review of the development and
perforrmance of the business and the position of
the Company and the undertakings included in
the consolidation taken as a whaole, together
with a descnption of the pnncipal nsks and
uncartanties that they face

On behalf of the Board

Malcolm Fallen

Chief Executive Officer
20 0ld Bailey

London EC4M 7|

18th Apnl 2011
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Corporate governance

The Combined Code sets out guidance in the form
of pnnciples and provisions on how companies
should be directed and controlled to follow good
corporate governance practice The Financsal
Services Authonty requires companies listed n

the UK to disclose in relation to Section 1 of the
Combined Code how they have applied its
prnciples and whether they have complied with its
provisions throughout the accounting year In the
event that the provisions have not been comphed
with, the Cormpany must provide an explanation.

The Board is of the view that the Company has
been fully comphant wath the provisions set out in
Section 1 of the Combined Code This report

explains how the Company has appled the
prnnciples contaned n the Combrned Code dunng
2010 Further information on the Combined Code
can be obtained at www frc org uk.

In May 2010, the FRC published the final version of
the UK Corporate Governance Code which replaces
the Combined Code Smce the Company hasa
year end to 31st December, the Company 1s only
required to report against the new code for the first
ttme in the 2011/12 reporting season However,
for the year to 31st Decermnber 2010, the Company
has opted to comply with certain provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code

The Company's overall approach to corporate governance

The Company believes that strong corporate
governance 1s essential for delivering sustainable
value, enhancing a culture of business integnty
and mamtaining confidence in the Company

The following surmmanses the key 1ssues
affecting our governance responsibilities and
how we address them

1. The Board:
How do we ensure that the Company 1s headed
by an effective and collectively responsible
Board of Directors?

2. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
How does the Company ensura that no one
ndividual has unfettered powers of decision?

3. Board balance and independence:
How do we ensure that no ndmdual or small
group of ndviduals can dominate decision
making by the Board of Directors?

4. Appointments to the Board:
How do we ensure that there s a formal,
ngorous and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new Directors to the Board?

5. Information and professional development;
How do we induct and regularly nform our
Board of Directors?

6. Performance evaluation:
How do we formally evaluate the performance of
the Board, Committees and indwvidua!l Directors?

7. Re-election:
How does the Company ensure planned and
progressive refreshung of the Board?

B Remuneration

1. Level and make-up of remuneration:
How do we ensure that executive Directors’
remuneration links rewards to corporate and
ndmdual performance?

2. Procedure:
What 1s our procedure for developing policy
on executive remuneration?

C Accountability and audit

1. Financial reporting.
How do we ensure that the Board of Directors
presents a balanced and understandable view
of the Company's position and prospects?

2. internal control:
What does the Board of Directors do to
mauntain a sound system of internal control?

3. Audit Committee and auditors:
How does the Board of Directors forrally
apply the financtal reporting and internal
control pnnciples?

D Relations with sharehalders

1. Diatogue with institutional shareholders:
How does the Board of Directors ensure that
a satsfactory dialogue with shareholders
takes place?

2. Constructive use of the Annual General
Meeting:
How does the Board of Directors use its
Annual General Meeting to commurucate with
investors and encourage their participation?
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A The Board

1. The Board:

How do we ensure that the Company 1s
headed by an effective and collectively
responsible Board of Directors?

The Board of Directors 1s responsible to
shareholders for ensunng that the Company

1S approprately managed, that t meetsits
objectives, and 1s collectively responsible for the
long-term success of the Company The Board
of Directors meets regularty to determme the
Company’s strategic direction, review its financial
performance and to oversee the performance of
the Company’s investment manager All Directors
have allocated sufficient time to discharge their
responsibilities to the Company

The Board has approved terms of reference that
address a wide range of corporate governance
matters The terms of reference contan a formal
schedule of matters reserved to the Board of
Directors and its duly authonsed Committees for
decision

These include

— approval of the Company’s overall strategy and
business plans,

- approval of the Company’s half-yearty and
annual financial statements and changes in the
Group's accounting policies or practices,

- valuation of the Company's Investments,

- changes relating to the capital structure of the
Company,

- dvidend policy,

- investrments and divestments in the ordinary
course of business above certain kmits set by
the Board from time to time,

- appontmenits to the Board, and

- constitution of Board Committess

Matters delegated by the Board to management
include implementation of the Board approved
strategy, day-to-day management of the business
and the formulation and execution of nsk
management policies and practices The
schedule of matters reserved to the Board s
available on the Company's website

Board meetings

The Board met 11 times dunng 2010 (2009 15
times) Some of these meetings were called at
short notice for operational reasons whuch meant
that not all of the Directors were able to attend
Attendance at Board meetings and Committee
mesetings 1s set out in Table 1 on page 32

The pnncipal matters considered by the Board
dunng 2010 (in addition to matters formally
reserved to the Board) included

- the strategic options facing the Company
particularly given the volatilites it faced that it
could not directly control,

— the unsolicited approach from a third party to
buy the whole of the Company,

- the sale of a stnp of Investments to an entity
backed by Pantheon;

- the sale of CPL to Arle,

~ the change i investment policy of the
Company,

— regular reports from the Chief Executive Qfficer,

- the recommendations of the Audit, Risk and
Valuation Commuttee;

- consideration and review of the Company's
key nsks,

— the Company’s relationship with its investment
manager,

- financial reports on the performance and
outlook for the Company including compliance
with covenants and regulations, and

— bespoke external adwiser reports

Board information

The Board of Directors receves reports and
papers In a tmely manner containing clear and
accurate information for all Board and Commuttee
mestings Additional papers are provided to
address specific 1Issues from tme to time

All Directors are prowided with appropnate
information on the Company and access to its
operations and staff

The Board's discussions and its approval of the
Group’s strategic plan and annual budget provide
the non-exacutive directors with the opportunity
to contnbute to and valdate the plans of the
Company's management and assist in the
development of strategy The non-executive
directors receve regular reports and mformation
which enable them to scrutinise the Company’s
and its management’s performance

The Company Secretary

The Board of Directors has access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary, who s
responsible for adwising the Board, through the
Chairman, on governance matters The Articles
and the schedule of matters reserved to the Board
or its duly authonsed Committess for decision
provide that the appomtment and removal of the
Company Secretary 1s a matter for the full Board
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continued

Table 1
Audt, Fisk
and Valuahon Remuncraton

Board Commatee Comosttee  Commdiee
Number of
meetings in
the year 11 7 4 3
Gerry Gnmstone 11 N/A 4 2
Malcolm Fallen 11 N/A N/A N/A
Richard Stone 10 7 4 2
Lord Jay 10 6 3 3
Jan Qosterveld’ 7 5 2 2
Chns Russell 6 4 3 2
Antony Hichens? 6 4 3 2
Nicholas Jones® 3 4 3 N/A

1 Jan Qosterveld was appomted to the Nommetions
Commuttea on 20th May 2010 He attended all meetings
subsequent to his appontment

2 Antony Hichens and Chs Russell resigned on 20th May
2010 They attended all meetngs pnor to that date

3 Nicholas Jones ressgned on 20th May 2010 Thera were
six Board meetngs pnor to his resignabon

2. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer:
How does the Company ensure that no one
individual has unfettered powers of decision?

The drvision of responsibiliies between the
Chaiman of the Board and the Chef Executve
Officer 1s clearly defined and has been approved by
the Board The Charman’s pnionty is the leadership
of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer's
pnonty 1s the management of the Company

The Chairman

Richard Stone, in his role as Charman, feads

the Board i all areas mcluding the determination
of strategy and s responsible for organising

the business of the Board, setting its agenda
and ensunng the effectiveness of the overall
Board and the indmdual Directors Giventhe
non-executive nature of the role, the Chairman
has no involvement in the day-to-day activities of
the Company The Chaiman is also responsible
for ensunng a cutture of openness and debate at
Board level Gerry Gnmstone stepped down as
Chairman on completion of the disposals on
19th Apnl 2011

The Chief Executive Officer

Malcolm Fallen in his role as Chief Executive
Officer 1s accountable to the Board for reviewing
and considenng strategic optiens for the
Company, for managing the financial and
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operationa! performance of the Company and
assisting the Board in executing the Company’s
strategy The Chief Executive Officer is, in
particular, respons:ble for the day-to-day
management of the Company's relaticnship
with its investment manager Together with

the Chairman, he provides leadership of the
Company which includes representing the
Group to all stakeholders

Senior Independent Director

Pursuant to the Combined Code, the Board has
appointed one of the non-executve directors to
act as Senior Independent Director The rman
role of the Senior Independent Director 1s to

be available to sharehoiders should they have
concemns that they have been unable to resolve
through normal channels or when such channels
would be inappropnate The Senior Independent
Director provides a sounding board for the
Chaimnan and serves as an intermediary for

the other non-executive directors The Serior
Independent Director s also responsible for
leading the Board’s discussion on the Chairman'’s
performance and the appointment of a new
Chainman, when appropnate Lord Jay has been
Senior Independent Director since 20th May 2010

3. Board balance and independence:

How do we ensure that no individual or small
group of individuals can dominate decision
making by the Board of Directors?

It s the Board's view that each Director 15
independent in character and judgement and
that no Director has any relationships that couid
matenally interfere with his judgement None of
the Directors have been interested in any contract
or arangement subsisting dunng or at the end

of the financial penod that was significant in
relation to the business of the Company All of the
non-executive directors were considered by the
Board to be independent for the purposes of the
Combined Code in the year to 31st December
2010, save for Gerry Gnmstone as Chairman,
who was independent on appointment in 2004
As noted previousty Gerry Gnmstone stepped
down as Director and Chairman of the Company
on 19th Apri 2011

The Board, taking into account of the changes
descrbed in section A4 below, wil compnse a
non-executive Chairman, a part tme Chuef
Executive Officer and thres non-executive
directors, which we feelis an appropnate
structure for our situation gong forward
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4. Appointments to the Board:

How do we ensure that there1s a formal,
ngorous and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new Directors to the Board?

The purpose of the Norminations Commuittee is to
assist the Board in reviewing the composition of
the Board and following a thorough process when
making or renawing appointments of Directors to
the Board The Nominattons Committee was
charred by Gerry Gnmstone and compnses

Lord Jay, Jan Oosterveld and Richard Stone

Lord Jay, the Senior Independent Director, ted

the process to appoint a new Chairman acting

as Chaiman of the Nominations Committes

After considering a number of external
canddates, the Board decided to appoint

Richard Stone A process to find a replacement
non-exacutive director who will aiso take on
Richard Stone’s position as Chairman of the Audit,
Risk and Valuation Committee 1s well underway,
using external advisers

Following his appomntment as Chaiman of the
Board, Richard Stone became Chairman

of the Nominations Commitiee replacing

Gerry Gnmstone All the current members of
the Committee are independent non-executive
Directors The Board is satisfied that members
of the Committee and the Committee Chairman,
Richard Stone, have recent and relevant
expenence

The Committee met on three occasions in

2010 (2009 one meeting) and the members’
attendance record 1s set out in the report on page
32 The Company Secretary acts as the secretary
to the Committes and mestings are also attended
by the Chief Executive Officer

The terms of reference of the Committee are
avalable on the Company’s website

-5. Information and professional development:
How do we induct and regularly inform our
Board of Directors?

The Board believes that the Company's Directors
should develop their skills and knowledge through
participation in relevant training courses The
Chaiman 1 responsible for agreeing and regularty
reviewing the traning and development needs of
each Director On appointment, all non-executive
directors have discussions with the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer following which
appropnate brefings on the responsibilities of

Directors, the Company’s business and the
Company’s procedures arearanged The
Company provides opportunities for non-
executive directors to obtan a thorough
understanding of the Company’s business

by regularly meeting members of the senior
management team of the tnvestment manager

6. Performance evaltuation:

How do we formally evaluate the
performance of the Board, Committees
and individual Directors?

Dunng 2010, the Board evaluated the
performance of the Board, its Cornmittees and

the indmdual Directors in comphance with the
Combined Code including Lord Jay who has been
proposed for re-election The Charman led the
process using a pre-determined template and met
with each of the Directors to ascertain ther iews ]
on the functioning of the Board and the various
Board Committess In addition, the Charman
reviewed the performance commitment and
contnbution of each Director

Following discussions with tha other Directors,
the Senior Independent Director reviews the
performance of the Chairman The Board
considers that there 1s no need to appoint an
independent third party to manage the evaluation
exercise as the cumrent process 1s appropnate

7. Re-election:
How does the Company ensure planned and
progressive refreshing of the Board?

The Board currently compnses the Chairrnan, i
two non-executive directors and one executive |
director A search s currently underway to add one '
further non-executive director Biographical detalls

forall of the Directors are set out on pages 22

and 23

Each Drrector s required to be elected by
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting
following hus appomtment by the Board and to be
re-elected once every three years Any Director
who has served on the Board for more than nine
years 1s to submit himself for re-election annually
In addition to fulfiling therr legal responsibilities, the
Directors are expected to bnng an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standards of conduct
and to help the Charrman and the Chief Executive
Ofiicer provide the Company with effective
leadership
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Directors’ employment contracts

Details of the Directors’ employment contracts
and letters of appointment are set out in the
Directors’ remuneration report on page 48

1. Level and make-up of remuneration.
How do we ensure that executive Directors’
remuneration links rewards to corporate and
individual performance?

Our remuneration policy focusses on long-term
performance It 1s designed to ensure that we
provide remuneration at the median level of our
comparator group but with the opportunity to
reward exceptional business performance wath
upper quartile total compensation The Directors’
remuneration report on pages 42 to 48
summarnses the rernuneration policy and strategy
The report details the Committeg’s actvities over
the financial year and contamns details of each
Director's emoluments

2, Procedure:
What 1s our procedure for developing policy
on executive remuneration?

The purpose of the Remuneration Commuttee is
to assist the Board in determining Directors’
remuneration

The Remuneration Committee 1s chared by Jan
Qosterveld and includes Lord Jay and Richard
Stone All the cumrent members of the Commuttee
are Independent non-executive directors The
Board 15 satisfied that members of the Commuttee
and the Committee Chairman, Jan Qosterveld,
have recent and relevant expenence and the
Committes takes independent adwvice as required

The Committes met on four occasions in 2010
{2009 three meetings) and the members’
attendance record 1s set out In the report on
page 32 The Company Secretary acts as the
secratary to the Committee and meetings are
attended by the Chief Executive Officer, other
than when the Committee considers matters
relating to the Chisf Executive Ofiicer's
remuneration

The procedure for determining Directors’
remuneration is stated in the Committee’s
terms of reference wiuch are avatlable on the
Company's website
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C Accountability and zudit

1. Financial reporting:

How do we ensure that the Board of Directors
presents a balanced and understandable view
of the Company's position and prospects?

The Dwrectors are required to explan their
responsibility for the financial statements and this
staternent 1s gven on page 29  The auditors review
the Company's compliance with the prowisions of
the Combined Code and with therules of the
Financial Services Authonty and are also required
to report on therr audit of the financial statements
Therr report is on pages 50 to 51

The Board seeks to provide investors with a
balanced and clear view of the Company’s position
and its future prospects Further information s
grven in the Chaimnary's letter, the CEO's report and
the Manager's portfolic review on pages 2 to 20

2. Internal control:
What does the Board of Directors do to
maintain a sound system of intemal control?

The Board i1s required annually to review the
effectiveness of the Company’s key nternal
controls inctuding s financial, operational and
comphance controls and nsk managerment The
controls are designed to ensure that the nsk of
falure to achieve business objectives 1s managed
rather than eliminated and are intended to provide
reasonable rather than absolute assurance agamnst
matenal misstatement or loss

Through its reguiar meetings and the meetings

of its vanous Cormmittees, the Board seeks to
rnaintain full and effective control over all strategic,
financial, regulatory and operationalissues The
Board mamntains an organisational and committee
structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility
and delegation of authonties

As part of the comptlation of the nsk register for
the Company, appropnate consideration has been
given to the relevant controt processes and that
nsk is considered, assessed and managed as an
integral part of the business

The Company’s system of internal control
includes inter alia the overall control exercise, the
procedures for the identification and evaluation of
business nsk, the control procedures themselves
and the review of these internal controls by the
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Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee on behalf
of the Board Each of these elements that make
up the Company’s system of nternal controt is
explained i further detail below

(i} Control environment

The Company 1s ultimately dependent upon the
quality and integnty of the staff and management
of its nvestment manager and highly qualfied and
able indwicduals have been selected at all levels
The investment manager recruits employees when
appropnate in order to aid the management of the
Candover Funds and staff are aware of the internal
controls relevant to ther actmties and are also
collectively accountable for the operation of those
controls Appropniate segregation and delegation
of duties 1s in place

On behalf of the Board, the Company’s
management in conjunction with the Company’s
auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP, carry out an
external review of the Company’s financial controls
and the auditors of the managed funds, KPMG
LLPR, also carry out an extemal review of the
financtal controls of those Funds KPMG LLP and
Grant Thornton UK LLP carry out therr review only
to the extent necessary to give their audit optnions

(i) Identification and evaluation of business nsks
The key business nsk at Candover remains the
performance of the Company’s nvestments
which is managed by the investment manager
which undertakes regular analysis and reporting
of business nsks in relation to each portfolio
company and the taking of appropnate action to
protect the mvestments

Whilst there remain a range of operational nsks
to the Company's actvities, the mvestment nsk
IS paramaount

(i) Key procedures

In addition to the above, the Board's key

procedures involve

— acomprehensive system for reporting financial
results to the Board regutarty whuch provides
actual results compared to budget and prior
year Towards the end of each financial year,
detaled budgets for the followmng year are
prepared and are reviewed by the Board,

— areview of these financial controls which 1s
camed out on behalf of the Audit, Risk and
Valuation Commuittee twice a year and by the
Company’s external auditors to the extent
necessary for expressing ther audit opinton, and

— atwice yearly review of mvestment valuations by
the Board including reports on the undertying
mnvestment performance

Although no system of intemal control can
provide absolute assurance agamst matenal
misstatement or loss, the Company’s system

15 designed to assist the Directors in obtaring
reasonable assurance that problems are iIdentified
on a timely basis and dealt with appropriately

The Company, through a function of its size,
does not have an nternal audit function

It 1s the view of the Board that the controls in

relation to the Company’s operating, accounting,

compliance and [T nsks performed robustly

throughout the year In addition, all staff have

been in full compliance with the Company’s

policies and external regulations, including

- personal account dealing,

- money laundenng,

- treatment and handling of confidentta!
information,

- bisting Rules,

— applicable Financial Services Authonty
regulations,

— complance policies,

- conflicts of interest, and

— health and safety

There were no protected disclosures made
pursuant to the Company’s whistleblowing policy
dunng the year to 31st December 2010

In summary, the Board considers that the
Company’s existing internal controls, coupled
with the analysss of nsks inherent in the business
models of the Company and its subsidianes
continue to prowvide appropriate tools for the
Company to monitor, evaluate and mitigats its
cperating nsks

3. Audit Committee and auditors:

How does the Board of Directors formally
apply the financial reporting and intemal
control pnnciples?

The purpose of the Audit, Risk and Valuation
Committee s to assist the Board in discharging its
responsibilites for the integnty of the Company’s
financial statements and in assessing the
effectiveness of the Company’s Internal controls
and the objectvity of external auditors

The Audit, Risk and Valuation Commuttee 1s
temporanty chared by Richard Stone and
compnses Lord Jay, and Jan Qosterveld As
previously stated, a search is underway to recruit
a new non-executve director who will also replace
Richard Stone as Chaiman of the Audit, Risk

and Valuation Commuttee Al the members of
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the Committee are ndependent non-executive
directors The Board is satisfied that members
of the Commuttee and the Committee Chairman,
Richard Stone, have recent and relevant
financial expenence

The Commuittee met on seven occasions in

2010 (2009 four meetings) and the members’
attendance record 1s set out n the report on page
32 The Company Secretary acts as the secretary
to the Committes and meetings are attended

by the Chairman of the Company and the Chief
Executve Officer

During the year, the Committes reviewed, n
conjunction with the external auditors, the
Company's accounting disclosures compnsed in
the half-yearly and annual financial statements of
the Company, the scope of the annual audit plan
and the external audit findings The Commuttee
axercised its judgment to ensure that this
information was presented farly and objectively
and that appropnate accounting policies were
applied and observed The Committee also
reviewed the financial and accounting aspects
of the disposals announced in the year The
Committee reviewed the nsk register of the
Company It also exarmined the Company’s
compliance with its regulatory requirements,
therd party habiities and off balance sheet labilities
and received reports on compliance with the
terms of its loan notes

The Committee reviewed the valuation of the
Company's investment assets The Committee
oversaw the Company's relations with the external
auditors including assessing auditor performance,
independence and objectmty, recommending the
auditors’ reappointment and approving the
auditors’ fees

The terms of reference of the Committee are
availlable on the Company's website

Auditors’ independence and objectivity
Subject to annual appointment by shareholders,
auditor performance 15 monitored on an ongong
basis and formally reviewed every five years,

38 Candover Investments pic
Report and accounts/2010

the last review being held dunng the year to
31st December 2010 Following this review the
Audt, Risk and Valuation Committee concluded
that Grant Thornton UK LLP’s appontment as
the Company’s auditors should be continued

The Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee
recognises the mportance of ensunng the
independence and objectivity of the Company's
auditors It reviews the nature and extent of the
services provided by them, the level of their fees
and the element compnsing non-audit fees

The Audt, Risk and Valuation Committee
Charman s notified of all assignments aflocated
to Grant Thomton UK LLP over a set threshold
Safeguards have been put in place to reduce the
Iikelthood of compromising auditor Independencs,
including the following principles which are applied
inrespect of services provided by the auditors and
other accounting fimns and monitcred by the
Audit, Risk and Valuation Committee

— services required to be undertaken by the
auditors, which include regulatory returns,
formalities relating to borrowings, shareholders
and other auditors,

- services which it 1is most efficient for the auditors
to provide, and

- services that could be provided by a number
of firms, including generat consultancy work
All significant consultancy projects are normally
put out to tender and work would be allocated
to the auditors only if it did not present a
potential threat to the independence of the audit
team Included in this category is due diligence
work relating to the investment process if this
service were (o be provided by Grant Thornton
UK LLP, the specific team engaged would be
independent of the audit team

The Company paid £0 1 milion ta Grant Thomton
UK LLP for audit services dunng the year to

31st December 2010 relating to the statutory
audit of the Company's financial statements

and the audit of the Company’s subsidiares

and associates pursuant to legislation

(2009 £0 1 million) The fees are explaned in
further detailin note 2 to the accounts on page 64
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2 Gonstrucive wse of theAmmual

General Meeting:

How does the Board of Directors use its
Annual General Meeting to communicate with
investors and encourage their participation?

1. Dialogue with mmstituttonal shareholders:
How does the Board of Directors ensure

that a satisfactory dialogue with shareholders The Company uses the Annual General Meeting
takes place? as an opportunity to communicate with its
shareholders At each Annual General Meeting,
The Board of Directors recognises theimportance  ¢hq Company complies with the Combined ch>de

of maintaining a meaningful relationship with the t relates o voting, the separation of resolutions
Company's shareholders The Directors consider it gﬁé the attend‘;né;egéf Commitee Charmen '

important to understand the views of shareholders

and any issues which are of concern to them
The Chaimnan and Chief Executive Officer mest
with the Company’s pnncipal institutionai
shareholders to discuss relevant issues as they
anse and ensure that shareholders are appnsed
of the Company’s strategy and corporate
governance within the constrants of nformation
that has been made public

The Board of Directors receves reports from
the Company's brokers on shareholder 1ssues
Non-executive directors are invited to attend the
Company's presentations to analysts and are
offered the opportunity to meet shareholders

The Senior Independent Director i1s avaidable
to be contacted by shareholders in situations
where contact through the Chaimman s felt to
be inappropnate

The Company has taken full advantage of

the relevant provisions of the Comparies

Act 2006 allowing communications to be made
electronically to shareholders where they have
not requested hard copy information Therefore,
the Company's website 1s the prnimary method
for information shanng wath investors

The Report and accounts of the Company
together with (ts intenm reports, Intenm
management statements and all other public
announcements are designed to present a
balanced and understandable summary of the
Company's activities and are made avallable on
the Company’s website

The Company's share capital and information for
shareholders 1s descnbed in the Report of the
Drrectors on pages 24 to 29

The Charman 1s responsible for ensunng that
all Directors are made aware of the issues and
concerns of major shareholders

The Chairmen of the Remuneration, Audit, Risk
and Valuation and Nomimatons Committees are
availlable to answer shareholders’ questions and
shareholders are nvited to meet the Directors
after the conclusion of the formal busmness of the
meeting |n accordance with the requirements of
the Combined Code, the resuits of proxy voting by
shareholders, including votes withheld, are made
avalable to shareholders on request and are
placed on the Company’s website following the
Annual General Meeting.

The Combined Code suggests that notice 1s given
for annual general meetings at least 20 working
days pnor to the date of the meeting The notice
for the Annual General Meeting to be convened
on 18th May 2011 will be given In accordance
with the Companies Act 2008, which requires
21 calendar days notice, but will not meet the
suggested penod under the Combined Code
This 18 because the completion of the disposals,
which the Board believe are of sigrnuficant benefit
to shareholders, was dependent on a number of
conditions precedent being satisfied Some of
these condittons were cutside the Company’'s
direct control, and due to unforeseen delays in
the completion process, posting of the notice
was delayed

On behalf of the Board

Malcoim Fallen
Chief Executive Officer
20 Old Balley

London ECAM 7LN
19th Apnl 2011
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Introduction

The Directors consider that nmanaging the
Company's nsk profile it s appropnate to analyse
nisks nherent in its business model As already
noted in the Chairman’s letter and the CEO's
report on pages 2 to 6, the Company has been
faced by discrete challenges, and whilst many of
the industry-wide issues have been relevant in
identfying and managing its risks, due to its
particular business mode! the Company has
Irrited ability to directly nfluence many of the
volatiities that may affect it The nsklevel within
private equity as an asset class s mherently higher
than conventiona! assets reflecting the potential to
earn higher rewards However, In considenng how
to mirgate some of the nsks through the likes of
hedges and dernvatives, the Directors note that
potential returms from the Company's equity
investments could be significantly mpacted

Risk review

The Company has conducted a review of nsks
affecting its business The approach taken was
to (i) categonse areas of nsk (i) identfy ndidual
matenal nsks and (i) evaluate the mherent impact
of that nsk before the controls are applied

In the context of the Company’s change in strategy
following the disposal of CPL, nsks have been
categonsed as either strategic, financial and
investment, operational or people The Directors
have identified existing controls inrelation to

each nsk and the extent to wiich such controls
operate as effective mitigants Inaddiion, actions
designed to enhance contrels have been identdied
and responsibility for the management of each nsk
has been allocated The analysis highlighted the
nsks inherent n private equity and those which are
foreseeable and avoidable and therefore could, to
a greater extent, be elminated The Risk review
also noted that whilst the averall nsk profile for the
Company was not inherently severe, the ability to
mitigate those nsks inherent in the private equity
asset class or ansing from the Company’s
business model was imited
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Risk mbgaton

As a result of the stnp sale transaction, the
Company has matenafly mpoved its financal
stability and in domng so, CPLhas gained its
independence and has been able to retamn,
mcentmse and motvate appropnate staff to
manage and maxamise the value of its mvestments
This has largely elminated the nsk of instabiity of
the investment manager in the short to medum
term The Company will continue to manitor the
performance of the investment manager through
its investment management agreement.

Risk category Risk suimmary

Instability of investrnent
manager
Single matenal asset
falure as portfolio
concentrates

As our mvestment portfofio matures and exits
take place our exposure to the rematning assets
in the portfolio mcreases. This creates a nsk that
if one or more of those remarming assets were to
fail, the mpact on the Company’s retums could
be disproportionately negatve and could
tngger breaches of our arrangements with our
noteholders Regular reviews of all portfolio
nvestments and momitonng of realisation timelnes
1s completed by the investment manager As
realisations occur and the Company moves to
anet cash position the impact of the nskis

also reduced

Company's operational
model does not
provide adequate
retums to shareholders

While the portfolio performance will determine the
retumns to the Company, a breakdown in the
operating model could undermine future returns
The nvestment manager could be removed by
the other nvestors m the Candover Funds with the
result that the Company would have to transfer
the management of its investments to another
manager determined by the other investors. The
Company will monitor the investrment managet’s
performance on a regular basis
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Risk review

Risk mitigation

continued

Risk catagory Risk summary

Financial and Company's capital

investment risk structure results in an
inability to maximise

value

The Company’s obligations to its noteholders
include a requirement to maintan aloan-to-value
ratioof not lessthat 0 4 1 Asaresult of the stnp
sale transaction recently concluded, the Company
created significant headroom relative to the
loan-to-value ratio The Company regularty
monitors its financial postion (cash/net debt) using
hedging instruments if relevant and undertaking
sensitivity testing

Faiture to meet financial
commitments

It 15 possible that the failure of the Company

to realise sufficient value from its investments
could lead to a failure to fund its future
commitments to the Candover Funds or meet
the oblhigations under its noteholder agreement
However, the strip sale transaction recently
concluded matenally improves the Company’s
financial posiion providing significant headroom
to meet all of its future funding commitments to
the Candover Funds and service its obligations to
the noteholders The Company actively morutors
the level of Indebtedness, covenants and
outstanding commitments

Financial market nsks
impacting on NAV

The Company’s nvestrnent returns may be
negatvely affected by the impact of adverse
currency and interest rate fluctuations and
negative movements in valuation multiples 1
appropnate, the Company 1s able to mitigate this
nsk by the use of hedging techriques and reguiar
forecasts of its iquidity pcsition The stnp sale
transaction significantty mitigates the exposure to
an event of default under the Company’s Notes
ansing from a significant reduction in NAV

Counterparty nsk
resulting In loss
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The failure of a contractual counterparty ina
financial transaction entered nto by the Company
may cause loss to the Company’s sharehclders
This nsk 15 addressed by the use of reputable
counterparties and the segregation of cash held
with third parties
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Risk catagory Risk summary

Risk mstigation

Falur o vostmon
manager’s operational
systems and

procedures

The Company has contractual management and
administrative arrangements in place covenng the
provision of investment management and certam
business support services The amangements
clearly delineate responsibilites and refer to
appropnate procedures and processes that are
required to be observed in the management of the
Company's investments The Company monitors
the services provided by third parties to ensure
they mest the Company’s objectives and as a
means to assess whether the nvestment
manager’s operational performance 1s adversely
affecting the Company

Change n regulatory or
legistative environment

While the regulation of the prvate equity ndustry
has seen increased focus from policy makers

and central banks n recent years, it 1s anticipated
that this trend will increase in the short-to-meduurm
term in the light of the Company's strategy to
progressively return cash to shareholders as the
portfolio 1s realised by the investment manager,

unless any regulatory change s retrospective,
the impact 1s no longer seen as significant

e

composition and
inadequate corporate
governance

The Company's failure to adhere to applicable
corporate governance standards and a farlure to
ensure the appropnate level of skills at Board level
are factors which could resultin financial loss,
reputational damage or a drop in the Company's
share pnce as a result of poor decision making
The Company addresses these nsks by ensunng
effective Board membership through a ngorous
selection process averseen by the Nommations
Committee and annual Board evaluation

In addition, through the Charman the Company
Secretary provides effective guidance on
corporate governance matters
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Directors’ remuneration report

The Directors’ remuneration report sets out

(i the actmities of the Remuneration Committeg
for the year ended 31st December 2010,

(i) the Company's remuneration policy, and

(i} the remuneration of its executve and non-
executive directors it has been prepared on
behalf of the Board in accordance with the
Compantes Act 2006, Schedule 8 of the Large
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups
(Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and
the Combined Code It will be put to shareholders
for approval by ordinary resolfution at the Annual
General Meeting to be held on 18th May 2011

The audited sections of the Directors’
remuneraton report have been clearly marked

Remuneration Committee

Composition and operation

The Remuneration Comimuittee 1s responsible for
setting a remuneration policy that reflects the
Company's strategic goals and incentmses its
executives who have a significant role m ensunng
that the Company meets its strategic objectives

Pror to the Annual General Meeting held on

20th May 2010 the members of the Remuneration
Committee were Richard Stone (Chairman),
Gerry Gnmstoneg, Antony Hichens, Chns Russel),
Lord Jay, Nicholas Jones and Jan Qosterveld
Following that meeting a number of Directors
stepped down from the Boardand as a
consequence Jan Qosterveld became Charman
of the Remuneration Comnttee with the other
members being Richard Stone, Lord Jay and
Gerry Gnmstone

The full Remuneration Comimittee, which meets
as often as necessary to discharge its duties,
rmet on four occasions In 2010 Attendance at
Committee meetings 1s set out In the Corporate
governance secticn on page 32 Terms of
reference of the Commuttee are availlable on the
Company's website

No member of the Remuneration Committee
has any personal financial nterests or conflicts
of interest (other than as shareholders) In this
regard, the Remuneration Committee gves
full consideration to the prowisions of the
Combined Cede
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Professional advice

The Company takes professional advice in support
of its remuneration policy to ensure that it remans
in line with market trends and practice No third
party advice was required durnng the course of

the year

Activities duning the year

Gven the challenges faced by the Company

and changes made to the strategy in 2010, the
Remuneration Commitiee worked to ensure that
the Company's remuneration policy reflected and
supported the Company’s strategic goals
throughout the year

As described in the Chairman’s letter, the Company
has now embarked on a strategy focussed on
returning cash to shareholders progressively over
time as the portfolio i1s realised The Remuneration
Committee was fudly engaged through the course
of the change in the Company’s strategy that led
to the announcement made on 6th December
2010 The Commuttee worked to ensure that
where severance arrangements were entered

in to they were consistently applied and that

the existing incentive arrangements for those
employees transfemng to Arte would remain in
place, appropnately alocated andtargeted to
ensure that the long-term value of the portfolio
would be maximised In particular, the
Remuneration Committee considered how best
to maximise the impact of the existing employee
benefit trusts (‘EBTs™) where the benefit 1s directly
linked to the realisation of assets by the investment
manager These incentive arrangements are more
fully descnbed below

As descnbed in the Company’s Report and
accounts for the year ended 31st December 2009,
a scheme was put in place compnsing deferred
payments for certain employees of CPL. The
scheme was designed to ensure the retentior: of
those employees over a two year penod Asa
consequence of the disposal of CPL, only part of
these arrangements crystalised dunng the year
As at 31st December 2010, the Company had a
residual contingent hability of £4 3 milion to certain
employees Following the sale of CPL some of
these employees have transferred to Arle whilst
others have already been made redundant Asa
consequence of the disposal, therefore, the full
payment will not fall due The Company will make a
discretionary award of £3 3million to an employee
benefit trust established by the Company, which
may subsequently make future distnbutions to
members of Arle In addition, the Company made
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a payment to CPL of approximately £0 9 milion
in recogrition of the obligation to make retention
payments to certan of those employees whose
employment transfesred to Arle

In 2008, the Group set up an executive co-
investment structure whereby €100 O milion had
been separately commutted to the Candover 2008
Fund The termmation of the Candover 2008 Fund
has dissolved this commitment gong forward
Dunng the year, as a result of this, the Group
assigned iis inferest in diverted management fees
of £4 7 milion i respect of the Candover 2008
Fund to certain executives within the Group

The Remuneration Commuttee reviewed salanes
and performance related bonuses payable to
Candover Group employees No discretionary
bonuses have been or will be paid to investment
executives of CPL for the penod to 31st December
2010 There were no wholesale salary increases
implemented across the Group dunng the year

Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy 1s designed to

- ensure the Company mantans competitive
remuneration packages in order to recruit,
retain and motivate executives of exceptional
quality n the overall interests of shareholders,

- reward people equitably for the size of thewr
responsibilities, performance and potential, and

- align and recogrise the indwvidual’s contnbution
to the success of our business goals

The Remuneration Committee has considered
the structure of senior executive pay from ansk
perspective. It 1s satisfied that nappropnate nsk
taking 1s not encouraged.

Long-term incentive arrangements

As 1s customary in the pnvate equity industry,
investors n third party funds managed by

CPL expect executives with responsibility for
managing those funds to paricipate in ncentive
arrangements fnked to those funds These
amargernents compnse camed interest and
co-investment

()} Carmed interest

Camed interest 1s a beneficial Interest in the imited
partnershups compnsing each of the Candover
Funds in order to afign executves' nterests with
those of third party investors in the Candover
Funds, certamn performance conditions are applhed
such that any gans achieved through the camed
interest arrangements associated with the

Candover Funds is conditional upon a certain
mnrrium return being generated for investors
The attanment of this minmum retum is subject
to mdependent venfication by KPMG LLP in thewr
capactty as auditors to the Candover Funds
These camed interest gans are pard by Candover
Funds out of profits made by those funds and are
not a charge on the profits of Candover

(i} Co-investment

Under the co-investment arrangements in place,
executives of CPL are required to make an
mvestment in the ordinary equity and loan capital
of companies in which Candover, as well as the
third party funds managed by CPL, have made an
nvestment EBTs wers established as additional
co-nvestment vehicles dunng 2001 and 2005 as
part of the arrangements constituting the Candover
2001 and Candover 2005 Funds The Company,
on behalf of ts employees, co-invests in portfolio
companies alongside the Candover 2001 and
Candover 2005 Funds managed by CPL. As and
when investments are realised by the Candover
2001 and Candlover 2005 Funds, the EBTs
distnbute realisation proceeds to the executives
of CPL who are beneficianes of the EBTs

Share matching plan

Candover implemented a share matching plan
{(“SMP") for the executives of CPL The purpose

of the SMP was 10 encourage executives to own
shares in Candover Investments pic, promoting a
better alignment of interests and a focus on Group
performance Demanding performance critena,
wiuch required the Company’s net asset per share
growth to outperform the FTSE All-Share Index by
a fixed margin over a fixed three year penod, were
attached to the receipt of any matching shares

Share option plan

Candover mplemented a company share option
plan (“CSOP”) for its support staff who played an
yimportant role that added to shareholder value,
but who did not participate in incentrve schemes
Iinked to funds managed by Candover Partners

Further details can be found in note 2 to the
accounts on page 65 No indwdual employes was
eligible for both tha SMP and CSOP schemes in
any gvenyear No further allocations under either
plan s currently anticipated
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Summary of Chief Executive Officer’s
remuneration package

The remuneration package for Malcolm Fallen
compnses both fixed and variable elements,
including salary, a performance related bonus,
pension contributions and participation ina
fong-term incentive award fully aigned to the
Company’s pnmary objective of maximising
shareholder return

Base salary

Malcolm Fallen's base salary takes account of the
size of his role and his ndvidual contnbution The
base salary 1s reviewed annually on 1st January
The Remuneration Commuttee have determined
that the annual salary should be increased by 2 5%
to £410,000 with effect from 1st January 2011

Discretionary performance related bonus

The annual performance related bonus 1s capped
at 100% of salary and 1s awarded based upon
achieving annually agreed performance objectives

Malcolm Fallen's performance objectives for
2010 were speciically targeted on reviewing
the strateqic challenges and options faced by
Candover following the unprecedented turmoil
expenenced dunng 2009 In particular his
objectives were focussed on finding a solution
to secure an appropnate ownership model for
CPL and also to address the nsks faced by the
Company in the ight of its operating model and
funding structure In respect of the financial year
ended 31st December 2010, a bonus of 100%
of his base salary was awarded

Pension contnbutions

The Company operates a non-contributory
Group personal pension plan for the benelit of
its employees, which executive Directors are
eligible tojoin Contnbutions are made based
on a percentage of base salary

Future arrangements

In the hght of the change in the Company’s
strategy, it has been agreed that Malcolm Fallen's
terms will be amended to reflect a reduction in
his time cemmitment required 1tis currently
anticipated that he will reduce his commitment
to three days per week which will result ina
pro-rata reduction in his remuneration
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Long-term incentive award

On 9th September 2009, Malcolm Fallen was
granted a nil cost option over 325,000 Shares

in the Company No payment was made for the
grant of the option and no payment Is required
onexercise The option was granted to Malcolm
Fallenunder Listing Rule 9 4 2R(2) spectically

to facitate his retention beyond his onginal six
month term of employment and to secure Malcolm
Fallen's recruitment as the new Chief Executive
Officer of the Company A summary of the prnncipal
terms of the option are set out below

The option will normailly become capable of
exercise shortly following the date of announcement
of the praliminary results of the Company for the
financial year ending 31st December 2012 (the
“2012 Year”) and will remain exercisable up until

the tenth anniversary of grant, subject to the
satisfaction of the performance conditions and
Malcolm Fallen being an employee or Director of

the Company's at that tme

On axercise, the option will be satisfied using
axisting Shares purchased in the market The
option may alsc be satisfied in cash

(i) Performanca conditions

The option has baen granted subjectto a
performance condition which i1s based on the
average pnce of a Share dunng the ten dealing
days immediately foliowing the date of
announcement of results for the 2012 Year,

plus the aggregate cash value of dvidends and
other distnbutions paid on a Share {*Absolute Total
Shareholder Return”) dunng the penod from grant
up to the tenth dealing day immediately following
the announcement of results for the 2012 Year
(the “Performance Penod”} The option will not
become capable of exercise unless Absolute
Total Shareholder Retumn is at least equal to £8
Thereafter the option will become capable of
exercise, as follows

Abschte Total Shareholder

Retum at theend of the Percontage of the option
Performance Panod becomes exersahie
Equal to or greater than £12 100%
Between £8and £12 On a straight-line basis

betwesn 20% and 100%
Equalto £8 20%
Less than £8 0%
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For the purposes of calculating Absofute Total
Shareholder Return, in additon to dvidends paid
dunng the Performance Penod, the Remuneration
Committee may, at its discretion, include the

value of any other capital or income distribution
assoctated with the proceeds of sale of portfolio
investments dunng the Performance Penocd, which
may include a share buy-back, reduction of capal
or the creation of a new class of share in the
Company which is subsequently redeemed,
repurchased or cancelled

The Remuneration Committee may vary the
performance condition if an event has occurred
which causes the Committee to consider that it
would ba appropnate to do so, provided the
Committee considers that the vaned condition 1s
far and reasonable and s neither matenally more
nor less challenging than the ongmal condition
would have been, but for the event in question

(i) Leaving employment

If Malcolm Fallen ceases employment for any
reason (except summary disrmissal), the option
may be exercised earty within the penod of

12 months of the date of cessation, subject to the
satisfaction of the performance conditton at that
time Inthis case, Absolute Total Shareholder
Return will normally only be calculated by
reference to the dwdends and other distnbutions
paid dunng the perod from grant to the date of
cessation of employment However the
Commuttee may, at its discretion, also include the
average price of a Share for the ten dealing days
immediately prior to cessation if Malcolm Fallen
15 summanly dismissed, his option will lapse

(i} Corporate events

tn the event of a takeover or winding up of the
Company (not being an mtemal corporate
reorganisation), the option shall vest to the extent
(if at all) determined by the Remuneration
Committee at its discretion

In the event of an internal corporate reorganisation,
the option will be replaced by an equivalent new
option over Shares in a new holding company,
unless the Remuneration Committee decides that
the option should become exercisable on the
basis which would apply in the case of a takeover

(iv) Rights over Shares

The option will not confer any shareholder nghts
until it has been exercised and Shares have been
transferred to Malcolm Fallen

Malcolm Fallen wiil be entitled to receve a

payment {in cash and/or Shares) on or shortly
followng the exercise of his option of an amount
equivalent to the dvidends and, at the discretion of
the Remuneration Commuttee, the value of any
other return of capital or income to shareholders
that would have been paid on those Shares in
respect of payment dates between the date of
grant and the date when the option first becomes
capable of exercise

(v) Vanation of capntal

In the event of any vanation of the Company’s
share capital, a demerger, payment of a special
drndend or similar event which matenally affects
the market pnce of the Shares, the Remuneration
Committee may make such adjustment as it
considers appropnate to the number of Shares
subject to the option

{vi) Alterations to the plan

The Company may, at any time, amend the option
agreement i any respect, provided that the pnor
approval of shareholders 1s obtaned tor any
amendments that are to Malcolm Fallen’s
advantage in respect of the basis for determining
his entitlement to, and the temms of, the Shares

or cash to be acquired and the adjustment of

his option

The requirement to obtain the prior approval of
shareholders will not, however, apply to any minor
alteration made to benefit the adrministration of the
option agreement, to take account of a change In
legislation or to obtan or maintain favourable tax,
exchange control or regulatory treatment for
Malcolm Fallen or for any company in the Group

{vi) General
The option i1s not transferable, except on death
The ophon is not pensionable

Malcolm Fallen did not participate in the SMP or
the CSOP in 2010 and wall notdo so n 2011
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Non-executive directors’ fees

For non-executwve directors, the Chairman of the Company recommends the leve! of fees to be paid based
on market information, tme commutrment required and the level of responsibility undertaken The members
of the Remuneration Commuttes, excluding the Chairman, recommend the Charman’sfee These
recommendations are then put to a meeting of the Executve Commuttee of the Company for approval
There have been no increases N non-executive directors’ fees since January 2008 Basefees are set out
below Fees for the non-executive Chairman and Board members are to be reduced following the
completion of disposal of the stnp and CPL.

Proposed’ 2010 2009

£ e |4
Non-executive Chairman 70,000 100,000 125,000
Board member 30,000 35,000 35,000
Audit Committee Charman 35,000 40,000 40,000
Remuneration Committee Chairman 35,000 40,000 40,000
Senior Independent Director 32,500 37,500 37,500

Non-executive directors are not paid bonuses or performance fees, granted share options or invited to
particpate In long-term incentive plans and spectiically are not eligible to participate in the SMP or the
CSOP

1 The proposed rechuchons reflect the anticspated reduction m work load foliowing the change in the Compary's strategy

Directors’ emoluments (audited)
Total emoluments receved by indnadual Directors dunng the year ended 31st December 2010 were as
follows

Totad Total
emolumemts  emclumants
exciuding aexcuding

Satanes/ ponson penson
Owectors  Performance Taxablo contrbutions'  contribubons
foes  related pay benatis 2010 2009
[ £ £ £ £
Executive director
Malcolm Fallen 400,000 400,000 1,601 801,601 552172°
Non-executive directors’
Gerry Gnmstone 100,000 - - 100,000 125,000
Antony Hichens? 16,667 - - 16,667 40,000
Chns Russell 16,667 - - 16,667 40,000
Richard Stone 40,000 - - 40,000 40,000
Lord Jay 36,533 - - 36,533 35000
Nicholas Jones? 14,583 - - 14,583 35,000
Jan Qosterveld 36,533 - - 36,533 35,000
Total 660,983 400,000 1,601 1,062,584 902,172
2009 comparatives 802,949 98,000 1,223 902,172

1 No pension contributions have been made on behalf of any non-executive directors n 2010
2 Antony Hchens, Chns Russell and Nicholas Jones retwed from the Board on 20th May 2010
3 Emoluments recesed both as acting Crwef Executive Officer and as a Director
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Directors’ interests in Shares
The Directors’ interests in Shares are shown below”

Ovdinary shares

of 25peach at Ordinary Ordinary

15t January 2010 shares sharas

ordatoof purchased/ sach,

Nama appointment _{disposed) todats

Gerry Gnmstone 10,000 - 10,000

Malcolm Fallen - - -

Richard Stone 8,500 - 8,500

Lord Jay 100 - 100

Jan Qosterveld - - —-

Total 18,600 - 18,600
Pension costs (audited)

Malcolm Fallen receves a contribution of 20% of his base salary by way of pension contnbutions
He recesved £80,000 as payment in heu of pension n 2010

Share incentives {audited)
Malcolm Fallen's recruitment award 15 set out below The award is subject to an Absolute Total Shareholder
Retum condition as set out on page 44

Number et Number Srare
ist at st prceon Earbest
Jery  Grantad  Exarcsed Lapsed Decarnber dataof exercss
Grant date 2010 » yoer " yen nyear 2010 grant' date
Malcolm Fallen’s 9th Septermber 325,000 - - - 325,000 473 50p 1stMarch
recrutment award 2009 2013

1 No payment was made for the grant of the option No payment 1 requared on exercise

Termination payments and payments to third parties
No payments were made to any Director of the Company for termination of employment or to third parties
for tha provision of Directors’ services to the Company during the year ended 31st December 2010
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Directors’ remuneration report
continued

Service agreements and letters of appomntment

The Chief Executive Officer, as an executive Director, has a rofling service agreement with no fixed expiry
date This contract may be terminated by either the Company or the Chief Executive Officer on 12 months'
notice There are no provisions for the Chief Executive Officer to recaive compensation upon earty

termination

Each non-executive director has a letter of appontment with the Company, setting out ther duties and
the time commitment expected from them Non-executiva directors’ appointments are reviewed annually
and are subject to the re-election requirements of the Company's Articles There are no provisions for
Directors to receve compensation upon early termination

Oata of contract Nobce penod Unexqpered termn
Executive director
Malcolm Fallen 9th September 2009 12 months' from erther party No fixed expiry date
Non-executive directors
Richard Stone 19th Apnl 2011 Terminable on 3months'  Appointment reviewed
notice by ether party  annually n December
Lord Jay 7th December 2008 Termnable atthe  Appontment reviewed
will of the parties _annually in Decernber
Jan Oosterveld 5th November 2008 Terminable atthe  Appontment reviewed
will ofthe parties  annually in December
Comparative performance

Set out below is a graph showing the Company’s total shareholder return performance assuming an
anginal Investment in the Company on 31st December 2005 of £100 and with dvidends reinvested for the
five years to 31st December 2010 This 1s compared agamnst the retum performance achieved by the FTSE

All-Share Index
£
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On behalf of the Board
Jan Oosterveld

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
1Gth Apnl 2011
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Independent auditor’s report to the

members of Candover Investments plc

Woe have audited the financial statements of
Candover Investments plc for the year ended
31st December 2010, which compnse the Group
and parent company staternent of financial
position, the Group statement of comprehensive
ncome, the Group and parent company
staternents of cash flow, the Group and parent
company staterments of changes in equity and the
related notes The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation 1s
apphcable law and Intemational Financia
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by

the European Urnion and, as regards the parent
company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act 2006

This report 1s mads solely to the Company's
members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Cur audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state
to the Company’s members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditor's report
and for no other purpose To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we dlo not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company
and the Company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and
auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’
responsbiities statement set out on page 29,

the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satsfied that
they gve a true and fair iew Our responsibility

15 to audit and express an opinion on the financial
statements n accordance with applicable law and
Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and
treland) Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical
Standards for Auditors
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Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A descnption of the scope of an audit of financial
statements i1s provided on the APB's website at
www frc org uk/aph/scope/private cfm

Opinion on financial statements

In our opnicn

- the financial statements give a true and fair iew
of the state of the Group's and ¢f the parent
company’s affairs as at 31st Oscember 2010
and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended,

— the Group financial statements have been
property prepared in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, and

- the parent company financial statements have
been properly prepared n accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the European Urion and
as appled in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006; and

- the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters prescribed by
the Companies Act 2008
In cur opinion
- the part of the Directors’ remuneration report
to be audited has been properly prepared n
accordance with the Companies Act 2006;
— the information grven in the Directors’ Report
for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared Is consistent with
the financial statements, and
- the information grven in the Corporate
governance statement set out on pages
30 to 37 wath respect to internal control
and nsk management systems inrelation
to financial reporting processes and about
share capital structures 1s consistent with
the financial statements
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Matters on which we are required to report
by exception

We have nothing to report iInrespect of the
following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required

to report to you if, inour cpinion

- adequate accounting records have not been
kept by the parent company, or retums
adequate for our audit have not been receved
from branches not wisited by us, or

- the parent company financial statements and
the part of the Directors' remuneration report
to be audited are not In agreement with the
accounting records and retums, or

- certan disclosures of Directors’ remuneration
specified by law are not made,

- wa have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or

- a Corporate governance statemsnt has not
been prepared by the Company

Under the Listing Rules, we are required to review

- the Directors’ statement, set out on pages
28 and 29, In relation to going concem,

- the part of the Comporate governance statement
relating to the Company's compliance with the
mne provisions of the June 2008 Combined
Code specified for our review, and

- certain elements of the report to the
shareholders by the Board on Directors’

/
remuneration G ok ( \lbor/\jln) LY,
Charles Hutton-Potts BSc, FCA
Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of Grant Thomton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London

19th April 2011
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Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparaton of these financial statements are set out
below These policies have been consistently
applied to all the penods presented

Basis of preparation

The Greup and Comparny have prepared ther
financial statements under International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union (“IFRSs™ IFRSs compnse standards and
nterpretations approved by the Intermational
Accounting Standards Board (/ASB”) and the
Internationat Financtal Reporting Interpretations
Commuittee (“IFRIC") as adopted in the European
Urion as at 31st December 2009

The financial statements have been prepared on
the hustoncal cost basis of accounting, except for
measurement at farr vatue of certain assets

Going concern

Under the Combined Code and applicable
regulations, the Directors are required to satisfy
themselves that it 1S reasonable to presume that
the Company is a going concem

The Group’s business activihes, together with

the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position, are set outin the
Charman's letter, the Chief Executive Officer’s report
and the Manager's portfolio review The financial
postion of the Group, ts cash flows, kquidity
positicn and bormowing facdibies are descnbed in the
Financial review The Comporate govermance section
and the Risk review outiine the Group's financial

and operational nsks In addition, note 23 to

the financial statements includes the Group's
financial nsk management objectives, its capital
rmanagernent pohcies and procedures, details of its
financial instruments and hedging actvities and its
expasures to market nsk, currency nsk, mterest rate
nsk, credit nsk, iquidity nsk and other pnce nsk.

As described in the Chairman's letter, Chuef
Executve Officer's report and Financal review, the
sale of the CPL disposal group and assets subject
to stnp disposal has substantially mproved the
Company's financial stabiity

Candover has confirmed that it 1s n full compliance
with the terms of the US private placement bonds
issued n 2007

The Directors have areasonable expectation

that the Group and the Company have adequate
resources to continue as a gong concem for the
foreseeabls future, having made enquines and after
considenng and taking into account the matters

52 GCandaver Investments pic
Report and accounts’2070

descnbed above For these reasons, they continue
to adopt the going concern basts n prepanng the
Report and accounts

The sigruficant accounting policies are set
out below

Investment Trust SORP

Where presentational guidance set out in the
Staternent of Recommended Practice (*SORP7)
for investment trusts, issued by the Association

of Investment Companies (*AlC™) 1s consistent
with the requirements of IFRSs, the Directors have
sought to prepare the financial statements on a
basis compliant with the SORP

Management expenses and finance costs
During the year the Company reviewed its split
between revenus and capital of management
expenses resulting in a revised splitbased on

the nature of estimated long-term retums
Management expenses and finance costs have
been allocated 50% to capital and 50% to revenue

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements ncorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiary
undertakings) made up to the statement of financial
position date Control 1s achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an investee entity so as

to obtain benefits directly from s actvibes

Revenue

Interest income on financial nvestments, and

cash and cash equivalents, I1s recognised in the
staternent of comprehensve income using the
effective interest rate applicable A provision will be
made against this ncome where there 1s uncertainty
as to its future recoverability The requirement or
otherwsse for a provision 1s considered in
conunction with the valuation of the related financial
investment, the approach to which is stated below

Operating segments

Candover's operating segments are being reported
based on the financial nformation provided to the
Chief Executive Officer of Candover Investrnents
Plc and to the Managing Partner of Candover
Partners Lmited

The Group operates two clearly defined segrnents
First 15 the co-nvestrment actmity of the Company
which aims to prowvide its shareholders with quoted
access to private equity retums. The second
segment mamly compnses the investment
rmanagement actvities of Candover Partners
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The Group Staternent of Comprehensive Income 1s
analysed into these segments, the co-investment
actvity reported under ‘capital’ and the other
segment reported under ‘revenue’

The Group's matenal non-current assets are the
portfolo companies of the co-investment segment.
These are assessed geographically in the
Manager's portfolio review on pages 10t0 20

Share-based payments

The Group entered into arrangements that were
equity-settled share-based payments with certain
employees These were measured at far vatue at
the date of grant, which1s then recognised in the
statement of comprehensive iIncoms on a straight-
Ine basts over the vesting penod, based on the
estimate of shares that will eventually vest The
charge s adjusted at each staterment of financial
positich date to reflect the actual number of
forfertures and leavers dunng the penod The
movemeant in cumulative changes since the
previous statement of financial positon 1s
recognised in the statement of comprehensve
income, with a cormesponding entry n equity
Cancellations are accounted for as an acceleration
of vesting rather than by adjusting the number of
equity instruments expected tovest Far valueis
measured by use of the Black-Scholes model

Loss from discontinued operations

A discontinued operation s a component of the

entity that either has been disposed of, oris

classified as held for sale, and

— represents a separate major ine of business
or geographical area of operations,

- s part of a sngle co-ordinated plan to dispose
of a separate major Ine of business or
geographical area of operations, or

— 15 a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view
toresale

Profit or loss from discontinued operations,
including pnor year components of the profit or
loss, are presented in a single amount in the mcome
statement This amount, which compnses the
post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations
and the post-tax gan or loss resulting from the
measursment and disposal of assets classified as
held for sale s further analysed nnote 3

The disclosures for discontinued operations m the
pnor year refate to all operations that have been
discontinued by the reporting date for the latest
penod presented Where operations pm.momty
presented as discontinued are now

continuing operations, pnor penod dlSClOSUl’BS are
comrespondingly re-presented

Property, ptant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment i stated at
histoncal cost less depreciation

Depreciation 1s calculated to wnte down the
cost less residual value of all property, plant and
equipment by equal annual mstalments over
their expected useful Ives The penods generally
applicable are plant and equpment two to five
years and motor vefucles three years Leasehold
improvernents are depreciated over the duration
of the lease The residual value of all assets is
assessed annually

As a result of the sale of the CPL disposal group,
accelerated depreciation was recognised on the
residual net book value of these assets

Financial investments

The Directors consider that a substantial measure
of the performance of the Group 1s assessed
through the capital gains and losses ansing from
the mvestment actwty of the Group Consequently,
for measurement purposes financial investments,
including equity, loan and simitar nstruments, are
designated at far value through profit and loss and
are valued in compliance with tAS 39 Financial
Instruments Recogrution and Measurement and
the International Private Equity and Venture Capital
Valuation Guidelines as recommended by the
BVCA, the pnnciples of which are set out on

page 20

Financial investments are recogrised in the
staternent of financial position at far value

Gains and losses on the realisation of financial
rvestrments are dealt with through the statement
of comprehensive ncome and taken to the realised
capital reserve Financial investments are not held
for immediate resale and any gains on realisations
are not avallable for distnbution as a dvmdend

The difference between the far value of financial
nvestments and cost to the Group 1s shown as
an unrealised gan or loss in the statement of
comprehensive Income and taken to the
unrealised capital reserve

Investments i subsidiary undertakings are reflected
in the Company’s accounts at cost less impaiment

Receivables and payables

Recenables and payables are accounted for at farr
value at inital recognition and thereafter at amortised
cost using the effective Interest rate method
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Accounting policies
continued

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash inhand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-dated
histed fixed iIncome secunties and money market
instruments Such assets are held-for-trading, wath
capital gamns, losses and far value movements
accounted for In the statement of comprehensive
ncorme, and taken to capital reserves due to the
fact that such balances are held for future
investment in financial mvestments

Borrowings

Interest-beanng loans and overdrafts are mibally
recogrused at the fair value of the liabiity, net of
drrect Issue costs After mitial recognition, these are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, which s the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows
through the expected Ife of the labilibies Amortised
costis calculated by taking into account any issuse
costs and any discount or prermium on settierment
Finance costs, ncluding premums payable on
settlement or redemption and direct Issue costs,
are accounted for on an accruals basis to the
statement of comprehensive Income using the
effective interest method Movements in value for
currency fluctuations ara taken to unrealised capital
reserves, net of the mpact of any designated
hedging amrangements

Derivative financial instruments

Denvative financial nstruments are used by the
Group to manage the nsk assocated with foresgn
cumrency fluctuations and changes nnterest rates
onits borowings This is achieved by the use of
currency swaps and interest rate swaps All
dernvative financial instruments are held at {ar value
Where appropnats, dervative financial instruments
are designated as far value hedges on nception
with the effectiveness tested both at this date and
serm-annually thereafter on a prospective and
retrospective basis

Denvative financial nstruments are recognised
initially at farr vatue on the contract date and
subsequentty remeasured to the far value at each
reporting date The farr value of currency swaps and
interest rate swaps I1s determined with reference to
future cash flows and future nterest and exchange
rates All changes in the far value of financial
instruments are accounted for in the statement of
comprehensive income and taken to the unrealised
capital reserve net of any designated hedging
arrangements which are offset aganst the
movements in the nstrurment beng hedged

The ineffective portion of any fair value hedgeais
assessed semi-annually and taken to the Staterment
of comprehensive Income
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The condibonal sale of assets within the sinp
transacton has ted to the recogniton of a
dervatve financial labiity equivalent in value at
31st December 2010to the difference between the
year-end valuations of these assets and ther sale
proceeds This has been recognised within
discontinued operations (see note 3)

Financial assets andliabilities on equrty
commitments

Financial assets and ligbilities on equity
commitments are measured at far value, which is
determined by reference to the Group's valuation
of the underlying portfolio company, in accordance
with the Group’s policy on financial investments

Deferred tax

Deferred tax 1s recognised in full, using the hability
method, on all temporary differences ansing
between the tax bases of assets and habilites and
ther camymng amounts in the financial statements
Deferred tax 1s measured using rates of tax that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the statement of financial position date

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be
avallable against which the temporary differences
can be utihlsed

Due to the Company’s status as aninvestment
trust, and the intention to continug meeting the
conditions required to obtamn approval in the
foreseeable future, the Company has not provided
for deferred tax on any caprtal gains and losses
ansing on the revaluation or disposal of
nvestments

Foreign currencies

curency transactions are translated into
the functional curmency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions Foreign
exchange gans and losses resulting from the
settiernent of such transachons and from the
transtation at penod-end exchangerates of
monetary assets and habilities denominated in
foreogn currencies are recognised in the statement

ncome Wherg exchange

diﬂermces result from the translation into Sterling
of forergn curmency resources that are held for future
financal investments, the gain or loss s accounted
for in the statement of comprehensve income and
taken to capital reserves

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functonal currency different from
the presentation curency are translated into the
presentation cumency as follows
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- assets and liabihbes for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that staterment
of financial position,

- income and expenses for each staterment
of comprehensive Income are translated at
actual exchange rates, and

- allresulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensiva income

The cumulative exchange gains and losses on
foreign cumency net Investments are accounted
for in the statement of comprehensive income
when these operations are disposed

Pension costs

The Group contnbutes towands a number of funded
defined contnbution pension schemes designed to
provide retirement benefits for its Directors and
employees The assels of the schemes are held
separately from the Group in independently
administered funds The pension cost charge
represents contnbutions payable by the Group to
the schemes In respect of the accounting penocd

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the nsks
and rewards of ownership are retaned by the
lessor are classified as operating leases Payments
made under aperating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the
staternent of comprehensive Income on a
straght-line basis over the penod of the lease

Prowvisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event and it 1s probable that an cutflow
of economic bensfits will be required to settle the
obligation If the effect is matenal, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the tme value of money
and, where appropnate, the nsks specffic to

the habilty

A provision for onerous contracts 1s recognised
when the expected benefits to be denved by the
Group from a contract are lower than the
unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under
the contract Prowision 1s made for the present
value of foreseeable rental commitments in respect
of surplus property, after offsetting any future
sub-letting income that could be eamed Surplus
proparty includes premises which will become
rechundant as a result of steps to which the Group
1s committed

Dividends payable

Final dvidends are accounted for when they
are approved at the Annual General Meeting
Intenm dividends are recognised when paid

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires the
use of estimates and assumptons that affect the
reported amounts of assets and labilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the
reported penod Although these estimates are
based on management’s best knowledge of the
amount, event or actions, actual results ultimatety
may differ from those estimates

The estimates and assurnptions that have a
significant nsk of causing a matenal adjustment
to the camying amounts of assets and habiities
relate to

- the valuation of uniisted financial iInvestments
held at fair value through profit and loss, which
are valued on the basis noted above (n the
secton headed Financial nvestments), the key
areas of judgement being the adjustments
required to normalise sustanable eamings and
the appropnate comparable multiple to apply
The valuation policy Is set out on page 20 and
the Group’s exposurs to valuation and market
pace nsk s considered innote 28,

- the recognition or otherwise of accrued income
on loan notes and similar instruments granted
to invastea companies, which are assassedin
conunction with the overall valuation of unhsted
financial nvestments as noted above,

— the appropnateness of the allocation of
management expenses between revenue and
capital, which 1s based on the spiit of the
long-tenn anticipated retum between revenus
and capital of net ncome,

- finance costs have been alocated on the same
basis as the above, whereas movements in the
carrying value of bormrowings and related
nstruments have been taken to the unrealised
capital reserve as they have been raised to fund
future financial investments,

- the estmated future financial hability ansing from
future equity commitrments and guaranteses,
which is assessed on the same basis as the
valuation of unlisted financial nvestments as
noted above,

- the recognition of the deferred tax asset, which
1s based on reasonable expectations on the
tirming of distnbutions to beneficianes of the
employee benefit trusis and the avallability of
future taxable profits, and

- the disposal of the stnp assets 1s onanarm's
length, secondary market basis
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Accounting policies
continued

In prepanng the Group financial statements

for the current year, the Group has adopted

the following new IFRS amendments to IFRS

and IFRIC interpretations which have not had

a significant impact on the results or net

assets of the Group:

— Amendment to IAS 27 Consoldated and
Separate Financial Statements, effective from
1st July 2009 These changes relate to the
attnbuting of losses to a non-controling interest
and the accounting for a loss of control ina
subsidiary The adoption of the amendmients to
1AS 27 has had no mpact on the results or net
assets of the Group

— Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combmations,
effective for business cornbinations for which the
acquisition date s on or after the beginning of the
first annual reporting penod beginning on or after
1st July 2009 The amendments revise the
approach on to business combinatons in stages,
accounting for non-controlling interests,
contingent consideration and costs of
acquisition The adoption of the amendments to
IFRS 3 has had no mpact on the results or net
assets of the Group

- Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments
Recognition and Measurement — Eligible Hedged
lterns, effectve for annual penods begmning on
or after 1st July 2009 The amendments clanfy
the application of the requirements on
designation of a nsk or a portion of cash flows for
hedge accounting purposes, exemptions for
business combination contracts and the
treatment of loan prepayment penalties as closely
related embedded denvatives

— Amendments to IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations, effective
for penods beginning on or after st January
2010 Clanfies that IFRS 5 and other IFRSs that
specifically refer to non-cumrent assets (or
disposal groups) classified as held for sale or
discontinued operations set out all the
disclosures required n respect of those assets
or gperations

— Amendments to [FRS 8 Operating Segments,
effective for penods beginning on or after
1st January 2010 Clanfies that a measure of
segrment assets should be disclosed only i
that amount 1s regularty provided to the chief
operating decision maker

- Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements, effective for penods begnning on or
after 1st January 2010 Amendment {0 clanfy the
classffication of a liability that can, at the ophion of
the counterparty, ba settied by the issue of the
entity’s equity nstruments
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— Amendrnents to IAS 7 Staternant of Cash
Flows, effective for penods begnning on or
after 1st January 2010 Amends IAS 7 to state
explcitly that only an expenditure that results in
arecogrised asset can be classfied as a cash
flow from investing actvmties

Standards, amendments and interpretations
effective, but do not have any impact on the
Group:

— IFRIC 12 Service Concession Agreements,
effectve for annual penods beginning on or after
30th March 2009

— IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate, effective for annual penods beginning on
or after 1st January 2010

- IFRIC 16 Hedges of Net Investment in a Foraign
Operation, effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1st Juty 2009

— IFRIC 17 Distnbutions of Non-Cash Assets to
Owmers, effective for annual penods beginning
on or after 1st Juty 2009

~ IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers,
effective for transfers of assets from customers
receved on or after 1st July 2000

- Amendments to 1AS 17 Leases, effective for
annuat penods beginning on or after 1st January
2010

- Amendments to IAS 18 Revenue, effectve for
annual penods beginning on or after 1st January
2010

- Amendments to IAS 36 Impaimment of Assets,
effective for annual penods beginning on or after
1st.January 2010

— Amendments to IAS 38 Intangible Assets,
effective for annual penods beginning on or after
1st January 2010

— Amendments to IFRIC 9 Reassessment of
Embedded Dervatives, effective for annual
penods begnning on or after 1st January 2010

- Amendments to IFRIC 16 Hedges of Net
Investment in a Foreign Operation, effectve
for annual perods begnning on or after
1st January 2010

Standards, amendments and interpretations
not yet effective, but not expected to have a
significant impact on the Group:

— Rewvision to IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of IFRS,
effective for annisal penods beginning on or after
1st July 1009

— Amendment to IFRS 2 Group Case-setiled
Share-based Payment transactions, effective
for annual reporting penods begnning on or
after 1st January 2010
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Group statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31st December 2010

Yoar to 315t December 2010 Year to 315t Decernber 2009
Revenue Capitad Total' Revero Capstal Total
Notes £m £m £m £m £m gm
Gains/(losses) on financial instruments
at fair value through profit and loss
Realised gains and losses 26 - 2n @7 - (9 8) ©8)
Unrealised gains and losses 27 - 21 2.1 - 305 305
Total - {0.6) (0.6) - 207 207
Revenue
Investment and other Income 3 8.1 - 8.1 133 - 133
Total 8.1 - 8.1 133 - 133
Recumnng administrative expenses 2 {4.5) 25 (7.0 G4 52 (8 6}
Excepttonal non-recumng costs 5 {5.1) - 51) (79 - (7 9)
Profit/{loss) before finance costs
and taxation {1.5) 3.1 (4.6) 20 155 175
Finance costs 6 {3.3) 32 (65 (18 {7 1) B89
Movement in the farr value of denvatives 7 - (0.8) (0.8} - {08 {0 8)
Exchange movements on borrowings - 0.8 0.8 - 37 37
Profit/(loss) before taxation {4.8) (8.3) (11.1) 02 113 115
Analysed between
Profit/(loss) before exceptional non-recumng costs 0.3 (6.3) (6.0} 81 113 194
Exceptional non-recurnng costs (5.1) - B 79 - 79
Taxation 8 3.4 - 34 — — -
Profit/{(loss) after taxation from
continuing operations (1.4) 63y (7.7 g2 113 115
Loss from CPL disposal group
(discontinued operations) 3 {21.7) - 217 (92 - 92
Loss relating to assets subject to the stnp
disposal {discontinued operations) 4 - 19.6) (19.6 - - -
1.7y (19.6) {41.3 92) - {9 2)
Profit/(loss) after taxation 23.1) (259) (49.0) @GO 113 23
Other comprehensive Income
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations (0.1) - (0.1) 04 — 04
Total comprehensive income (23.2) (259) (49.1) (88 113 27
Earnings per ordinary share:
Caontinuing operations - basic and diluted 11 Tp) (@29p) (36p) ip 52p 53p
Discontinued operations —basic and diuted 11 (99p) (90p) (189p) {42p) - (42p)

Total earnings per share (continuing and
discontinued operations) - basicand diluted 11 (106p) (119p} (225p) {41p) 52p 11p

1 The total column represents the Group statement of comprehensve ncomer under IFRS

1 All of the profit for the year and the total comprehensive income for the year are attnbutable to the owners of the Company

i The supplementary raverms and capdtal columns are presented for mformabon purposes as recommended by the Statement of
Recommended Practice 1ssued by the Association of Investment Comparves

i The CPL disposal group resuit reflacts the tradmg actvities of CPL, including costs recharged to CPL by other parts of the Group,
that wall not form par of the contnung opearations

w The lass retating to assets subject to the stnp disposal nclude the moverments on those assets dunng the year and the movement in
tar vatue of the related denvatve at the year engt
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Group statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31st December 2010

Calted Share Capitsi  Caphtal
upshare  pramium Other roserves- reserves-  Revenue Total
capital account B3 ur raserve aquity
Notas £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1st January 2010 5.5 1.2 0.2 3595 (1605 211 227.0
Net revenue after tax - - - - - (231 (231)
Unrealised gan on
financial instruments 27 - - - - 21 - 21
Realised gain/loss) on
financial mstruments 26 - - - 67 9 4) - 27)
Movement in fair value of denvatives
—continuing eperations 7 - - - - 08 - 08
Loss relating to assets subject to the
stnp disposal 4
—discontinued operations - - - - (196 - (196)
Exchange movements
on borrowing - - - - 08 - 08
Costs net of tax - — - (57) - - 57
Profit after tax - - - 10 (269 (231) (480)
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - - {01 - - = {0 1)
Total comprehensive income - — {C1 10 (269 {(231) {491)
Balance at 31st December 2010 5.5 1.2 0.1 360.5 (187.4 (2.0) 177.9
Called Shae Capital Cagprtal
up shae premum Other  reserves—  resenves-— Reverwe Total
capial acrount reanves. fised | Esed e equity
Notes £m tm em £m £m £m £m
Balance at 1st January 2009 55 12 (02 3698 (1821 301 2243
Dmdends
Share-based payments
Share buy-backs
Transactions with equity holders
Net revenue after tax - - - - - 90 90)
Unrealised gamn on
financial mstruments 27 - - - - 305 - 305
Realised gain/ loss on
financial mstruments 26 - - - 20 (11§ - (98)
Moverment in far value
of dervatves 7 - - - - (0 8} - ©8)
Exchange movements
on bormowing - - - - 37 - 37
Costs net of tax — - - {123 - - {123
Profit after tax - - - {103 2186 90 23
Other comprehensive Income
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations - - 04 - - = 04
Total comprehensive income - - 04 103) 216 90 27
Balance at 31st December 2009 55 12 02 3595 {1605 211 2270
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31st December 2010

Catled Share Capital Capitat
upshars  premium Other reserve- rmeserve-  Revenue Total
capital it unreaiisod reserve equity
Notes £m £ m m m m £m
Balance at st January 2010 5.5 1.2 - 361.0 (160.9) (17.6) 189.2
Net revenue after tax - - - - - (1200 (120)
Unrealised gain on
financial instruments 27 - - - - 21 - 21
Realised loss on
financial instruments 26 - - - 65 9 4) - (2 9)
Movement in fair value of denvatives
— continuing 4 - - - - 08 - {08)
Loss relating to assets subjact to the
stnp disposal 4 - - - - {(196) - {(1986)
Exchange movements
on bomowing - - - - 08 - 08
Costs net of tax - - - 57) - - (57)
Profit after tax - - - 0B (269 (120) (381)
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations - - - - - - -
Total comprehensiva Income - - - 08 (269 (120 (381)
Balance at 31st December 2010 5.5 1.2 ~ 361.8 (187.8) {29.6) 151.1
Caled Share Capatal Capatal
upshae promasm Other 1 rasarve- Ravenue Total
capital accout reserves redised  unrecised resove aquity
Notes om £m £m £m m em £m
Balance at 1st January 2009 55 12 - 3713 (1825 (174) 1781
Net revenue after tax - - - - - 02 02)
Unrealised gain on
financial instruments 27 - - - - 305 - 305
Realised loss on
financial instruments 26 - - - 20 (118) - 98)
Movement in far value
of denvatives 4 - - - - {0 8) - 08
Exchange movements
on borrowing - - - - 37 - 37
Costs net of tax - - - (123) - - (123)
Profit after tax - - - (103 216 ©2 111
Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive Income - - - {103) 216 02 111
Batance at 31st December 2008 55 12 - 3610 (1609 (176) 1892
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Group statement of financial position
at 31st December 2010

315t December 315t December
2m0 2009
Notes m £m £m £mn
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 0.1 27
Finangial nvestments designated at farr value through profit and loss
Portfolioc companies 13 2121 2916
Other financial investments 13 17.9 283
230.0 3199
Trade and cther recevables 15 6.5 47
Deferred tax asset 20 3.5 34
240.1 3307
Current assets
Trade and other recevables 15 1.8 82
Denvative financial nstruments 19 44.1 384
Current tax asset 0.1 09
Cash and cash eguvalents 16 78.9 1063
124.9 1538
Financial nvestments held for sale {discontinued operations) 13 80,0 -
Assets of CPL disposal group (discontinued operations) 151 23 -
207.2 153 8
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 (15.9) (13 8)
Financiai hability on equity commitments - {12 2)
Dervative financtal instruments 19 (29.9) {36 9}
Provisions 25 (4.5} -
(50.3) {62 9)
Denvative financial nstruments {discontinued operations) 4 (17.49) -
Liabilities of CPL disposal group {discontinued operations) 17 1 (1.2 -
(68.9) (62 9)
Net current assets 138.3 909
Total assets less current liabilities 3784 4216
Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 18 {200.5) (194 6)
Net assets 177.9 2270
Equity attributable to equity holders
Called up share capital 21,26 5.5 55
Share premium account 26 12 12
QOther reserves 26 0.1 02
Capital reserve - realised 26 360.5 3595
Capntal reserve — unrealised 26 {187.4) (160 5)
Revenue reserve 26 {2.0) 211
Total equity 177.9 2270
Net asset value per share 11
Basic 814p 1038p
Diluted 814p 1038p
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Company statement of financial position
at 31st December 2010

315t December 315t December
200 2009
Notes om & om £m
Non-current assets
Financial nvestments designated at far value through
profit and loss
Portfolio comparues 13 207.6 2599
QOther financial nvesiments 13  17.9 283
2255 288.2
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 13,14 4.6 4.8
Trade and other recevables 15 2.7 -
Deferred tax asset 20 3.5 -
2368.3 2930
Current assets
Trade and other recevables 15 10.5 106
Current tax asset - 02
Denvative financial nstruments 19 4449 384
Cash and cash equivalents 16 75.7 1019
130.3 1511
Financial investments held for sale {discontinued operations) 13 54.9 -
185.2 1511
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 17 (10.8) (30}
Financial iability on equity commitments 191 (118} (20 4)
Denvative financial instruments 19 (29.9) (36 9)
(52.5) (603)
Denvative financial Instruments (discontinued operations) 4 {17.4) -
{69.9) (60 3}
Net current assets 115.3 90.8
Total assets less current hiabilities 351.6 3838
Non-current liabilities
Loans and bormowings 18 {200.5) (194 6)
Net assets 151.1 1892
Equity attributable to equity holders
Called up share capital 21,26 55 55
Share premium account 26 1.2 12
Other reserves 26 - -
Caprtal reserve —realised 26 361.8 3610
Capital reserve — unrealised 26 {187.8) (1609)
Revenue reserve 28 (29.6) (17 6)
Total equity 151.1 1892

The financial statements wers approved on behalf of the Directors on 19th Apnl 2011

Richard Stone

N
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Group cash flow statement
for the year ended 31st December 2010

Year to Year to
3tst Decemnber 315t December
2010 2009
Notes £m &mn Bm £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flow from operations 28 (15.2) (16 1)
Interest paid {6.1) (110)
Tax receved 0.8 38
Net cash from operating activities {20.5) (23 3)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (0.4) Q1N
Purchase of financial nvestments (34.7) (40 Q)
Sale of property, plant and equipment - 01
Sale of financial Investments 35.5 44 4
Net cash from investing activities 04 44
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dmdends paid - -
Purchase of own shares - -
Advances of loans - -
Net cash from financing activities - -
(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents {20.1) (189)
Opening cash and cash equivalents 106.3 1332
Effect of exchange rates and revaluation on cash and
cash equivalents (6.3) 80}
Closing cash and cash equivalents 16 79.9 106 3
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Company cash flow statement
for the year ended 31st December 2010

Yesrto Yaar to
318t 315t December
2010 2009
Notos m £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flow from operations 28 (16.3) 89
Interest paid {8.1) (107
Tax (pad)y/receved 0.2 64
Net cash from operating activities (22.2) (132)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial nvestments (33.2) -
Sale of financial nvestments 35.5 44 4
Net cash from investing activities 23 a4 4
Cash flows from financing activities
Equity dividends pad - -
Purchase of own shares - -
Advances of loans - -
Net cash from financing activities - -
Increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (19.9) 312
Opening cash and cash equivalents 101.9 87
Effect of exchange rates and revaluation on cash and
cash equivalents (68.3) (t:39)]
Closing cash and cash equivalents 16 75.7 1019
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31st December 2010

Note 1 Revenue

2010 2009
£ £m £m m
Investment income
tncome from financiat nvestments 7.4 17
Income from other fixed nterest secunties 0.3 i1
Other income receivable ansing on cash deposits - 03
Other income recevable 0.4 02
8.1 133

tnvestrment and other ncome 1s denved from the provision of capital to unquoted companies and interest
on surplus cash

All income noted above 1s atinbutable to contnuing actmties The investment and other mcome relating to
the discontinued operations relating to the assets subject to the sinp disposal 1s shown m note 4

Note 2 Administrative expenses

2010 2009
£m £m
Management expenses Revenue 25 13
Caputal 25 52
Other administrative expenses 71 100
Total administrative expenses 121 165
Staff costs (including Drectors’ remuneration) 1.3 10
Auditors’ remuneration 0.1 01
Non-recurring exceptional costs (see below) 5.1 79
Staff costs
Salanes 0.7 08
Bonus 0.4 01
Social secunty costs 0.1 0t
Pension, insurance and other costs 0.1 -
1.3 10

Total administration expenses stated above includes £5 1 mikon (2009 £7 9 milion) of non-recumng
exceptional costs (see note 5)

Dunng the year the Company reviewed its sphit between revenue and capital of management expenses
resulting n a revised split based on the nature of estimated long-term retums
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As at 31st December 2010, the number of employees of the Group was 35 (2009 42), of whom

12 were iInvestment executives (2009 19) The remaining employees provide the Group's support
services Directors’ remuneration 1s shown on page 46, the total pard dunng the yearwas £1 1 mition
(2009 £0 6 millon} Total employer's national Insurance contributions of the Directors was £0 1 milion
for the year

The continuing operations, the costs of which are shown above as well as the costs of non-executive
directors have thres employees, nons of whom are investment executives

The Company had one full-time equivalent employee dunng the course of the year, including Directors
{2009 one)

During the year ended 31st December 2010, the Group had two share- based payment arrangements
(2009 twa), which are descnbed below

Company share option plan (“CSOP7)

The CSOP provided for grants of share options at an exercise price equal to the mid-market quoted market
price for the Company’s Shares on the day before the date of grant Options can be exercised thres years
after the grant If the oplions reman unexercised after a perod of ten years from the date of the grant, the
options exprre

Share matching plan (“SMP”™)

The SMP enabled sxecutives to nvest in the ordinary share capital of the Company The investment may
be matched dependent upon the net asset value per share performance relative to the performance of
the FTSE All-Share index over a three year pencd, up to a maximum of 3 1 matching shares (onanet to
gross basis)

Due to the performance of the Company’s share pnice and net assets since granting both of the above,
no options are expected to be exercised or the matching conditions to be met

CSOP SMP
Number outstanding at 1st January 2010 46,079 462,701
Granted - -
Lapsed (15,853) (108,025)
Exercised - -
Outstanding at 31st December 2010 30,226 354,676
Exercisable at 31st December 2010 — -
Number outstanding at 1st January 2009 59,147 594,290
Granted - -
Lapsed {13,068) {131,589)
Exercised - -
Outstanding at 31st December 2009 46,079 462,701

Exercisable at 31st December 2008 — -

No CSOP or SMP awards were granted dunng the year
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The weighted average exercise price for options outstanding at 31st December 201018 £20 74 and the

waighted average contractual ife 1s seven and a half years
Equity-settied share-based payments was a £nil charge for the year (2009 a credit of £0 1 rmillion)
Auditors’ remuneration

Dunng the year, Grant Thomton UK LLP eamed the following fees in relation to continuing and
discontinued operations

2010 2?;
T
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company’s
annual accounts 0.1 01
Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services
The audit of the Company’s subsidianes, pursuant to legistation 0.1 01
Taxation services 0.1 01
Other services 0.1 -
Auditors’ remuneration 0.4 03
Note 3 Loss from CPL disposal group (“discontinued operations”)
200 2009
om om
Management fees from third parties 14.6 187
Managsrment fees charged to continuing Group 5.0 63
Total fee Income 19.6 250
Payroll and administrative expenses (20.1) (227
Redundancy costs {2.3) {7 5)
Net operating deficit (2.8) 52
Wite-off on deferred tax asset 3.4) (23
Net income before exceptional non-recumng administrative expenses (6.2) (7 5)
Exceptional non-recurmng charges
Discretionary contnbution to EBT (3.3) -
Payment of future deferred incentives (0.9) -
Adwvisor costs (3.6) -
Bond consent fee {0.9) -
Wnite-off on fixed assets {2.1) -
Accelerated wnte-off on deferred incentive arrangements 4.7) -
Placing agents - (17)
Loss from CPL disposal group {"discontinued operations”™} (21.7} 9 2)

Of the charges incurmed above £11 1 million will result n cash payments post year end
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Note 4 Loss relating to assets subject to strip disposal (“discontinued operations”)

Ravenue Capntal Total
£m £m £m
Gains/losses on financial Instruments at fair value through
profit and loss
Unrealised gans and losses - 41) 4.1)
investment and other income 19 - 1.9
Movemnent in far value of denvatives 19 (155 (174)
Loss relating to assets subject to stnp disposal (“discontinued operations”} - (196} (19.6)

The mavernent in farr value of denvatves reflects the difference between the valuation at the year end of the
asset subject to stnp disposal and the contractually agreed sale price of these assets

Note 5 Exceptional non-recurring costs for the continuing Group

Exceptional non-recurmng costs for the continuing Group for the current year are made up as follows

Totad

£m

Other costs 0.6
Property provision (see note 12) 4.5
5.1

Other costs relate to costs of finalising strategic review and costs associated with responding to the
unsolicited approach receved in Apn! 2010, which were not reguiar running costs of the underlying business

Westem
Eunpe Other Total
£m £m £m
Staff costs 75 23 9.8
Adviser costs 41 - 4.1
Placing agents 17 - 1.7

15 1.5

Discontinued overseas operations -
133 38 171

Note 6 Finance costs
2010 2009
fm £m
Interest on loans and borrowing 3.3 18
Finance costs Revenue 3.3 18
2010 2009
£
Interest on loans and borrowing 3.2 71
Finance costs Capital 3.2 71
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Note 7 Movements in the fair value of derivatives

The movermnent in the farr value of dervatives represents the ineffective element of the swaps held to
ritigate the Group's foreign currency exposure on its loans and borrowings amounting to a charge of
£0 8 milhion (2009 a credit of £0 8 milion)

The far value movement on the loans in the year was a £2 4 million gan (2009 aloss of £15 5 million),
whilst the farr value movement on the hedging denvatives for the year was a £12 & millon gain (2009 aloss
of £16 9@ milion}

In addition to the above, there 1s movement in the fair value of dervatives relating to the stnp disposal
(seenote 4)

Further information on currency and interest rate swaps is provided in note 19 Further information on
Candover's loans and borrowings related to these swaps 1s provided in note 18

Note 8 Taxation

The relationship between the expected tax charge based on the effective tax rate of 28% (2009 28%) and
the tax charge actually recognised in the statement of comprehensive Income can be reconciled as below
As the Company Is an investment trust, no tax s payable on capital gans made dunng the penod,
consequently the profit before tax used in the reconciliation below relates solely to the revenue column of
the statement of comprehensive Income

2010 2000
£m &m
Profit/{loss) before taxation (4.8) Q2
Taxrate 28% 28%
Expected tax charge (1.9) 01
Adustments for tax-rate differences
= Qther non-deduchible expense 0.3 01
- Overseas taxation 0.1 03
- Unutiised losses camed forward 4.3 05
- Adustments in respect of previous years - {10)
Tax charge for the year on continuing operatons 3.4 —
Tax on loss on discontinued operations (see note J) {3.4) (2 3)
Tax charge for the year - 23
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Please refer to note 20 for information on the deferred tax assets and labilites The analysis of the charge 1s
as follows

2010 2009
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax on profits for the ysar - -
Adjustments in respect of previous years ~ (10)
QOverseas taxation 0.1 03
Total current tax 0.1 07)
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences 3.4 20
Adjustment in respect of previous years - 10
Recognition of tax losses {3.5] -
Total deferred tax (0.1 30
Tax on ordinary actmties - 23
UK corporation tax {credrt) at 28% (2009 28%) apportioned to capital - -
- 23

The Board of Her Majesty’s Revenue and Custorns has approved the Company as an investment trust,
under section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988, for the year ended 31st December
2009 Inthe opinion of the Directors, the Company's affairs since that date have been conducted so as to
enable it to contnue to be treated as an nvestment trust

Note 9 Profit for the financial year

As permutted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not included its own profit and
loss account In these financial statements The Group loss after tax for the year includes £38 2 million loss
(2009 gamn of £11 1 milton) wiuch 1s deak with in the financial statements of the Company

Note 10 Dividends
No dvidends were paid in 2010 (2008 €nil} No final dwdend s proposed for 2010
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Note 11 Earnings per share
The calcutation of earrings and net asset values per share 1s based on the following

2010

2009

£m £m
Revenue return (continuing operatons) {1.4) 02
Revenus return {discontinued operations) (21.7) 90
Capital return (conbnuing operations) 63 113
Capital return (discontinued operations) 19.6) -
{Loss)/profit after tax 49.0) 23
Net assets 177.9 2270
200 2009

mIBoNn milion

Weighted average number of shares — basic 21.9 219
Weighted average number of shares — diluted 218 218

At the year end there were 21,856,615 ordinary shares in issue Treasury shares and outstanding ophions

were taken into account when calculating the earnings per share

Note 12 Property, plant and equipment

Leaschod  Plantand Motor
mprovenants  ecRepment vehucies Totad
£m £m £m £m
Group
Cost
At 1st January 2010 28 35 01 6.4
Additions — 04 - 0.4
Disposals — - - —
At 31st December 2010 28 39 01 6.8
Deprecation
At 1st January 2010 09) (2 8) — 3.7)
Provided in the year 04 {05 - 0.9)
Accelerated depreciation’ 15 09 - 2.1)
Disposals - - - -
At 31st December 2010 (2 8) 39 - (6.7)
Nat book value at 31st December 2010 - - 01 0.1

1 The accelerated depreciation in the year relates to the write off of these assets and 1s ncorporated i the excephional non-recurng

costs of the CPL disposal (see note 3)
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Comparatives for 2008 were
Lesasehoid Pant and Motor
mpovaments  equpimant vehiclas Total
om £m £m £m

Group
Cost
At 1st January 2009 29 37 02 6.8
Additions - - — -
Disposals 01) 02) {01) {0.4)
At 31st December 2009 28 35 01 6.4
Depreciation
At 1st January 2009 {0 6) 20 01) 2.7)
Provided in the year {0 4) 08 - 1.2)
Disposals 01 - 01 0.2
At 31st December 2009 (0.9) 2 8) - 3.7
Net book value at 31st Decernber 2009 19 07 01 2.7

Note 13 Financial investments designated at fair value through profit and loss and investment

in subsidiary undertakings
Cther financal
rvestments  Companes Sub-total  held for sale’ Totd
£ £m £m £m m

Group
Valuation at 1st January 2010 283 2142 2425 774 319.9
Additons — 24.6 24 6 101 34.7
Less release of financial hability on equity commitments - (8 6) (8 6) 36 12.2)
Disposals (155) (165) (320) {11 33.1)
Unreahsed appreciation/{wnte-down) 51 (16) 35 (2 8) 0.7
Valuation at 31st Decembser 2010 179 2121 2300 800 310.0
Reconciiation !
Cost of Investments 04 3247 3251 1081 433.2 ‘
Net unrealised appreciation/fwnte-down) of nvestments 175 (1126) (951) (281) (123.2)
Valuation at 31st December 2010 179 2121 2300 800 310.0

1 €2 6 millon of the 315t December 2010 valuation of £80 Orufion retates to 1CG 2000 and ICG 2003 Funds The balance of

£77 4 mdlion relates to the strip disposal
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Comparatwves for 2009 were
COthar financal Portioiio
mestmats  companas Total
£m £m £m

Group
Valuation at 1st January 2009 196 2943 3139
Additions - 40.0 40.0
Disposals (168 (32.1) (48.9)
Unrealised write-down 255 (106 14.9
Valuation at 31st December 2009 283 2916 319.9
Reconciliation

Cost of nvestments

04 4217 4224

Net unrealised appreciation/(wnte-down) of mvestments

27.9 {1301) (102.2)

Valuation at 31st December 2009

283 2016 3199

operahons
Sharesn COther
subsxary fnancal Portiolo Investments
uncertakangs vestmants  comparees Sub-total  heki for salg! Total
£m fm £m m £m on
Company
Valuation at 1st January 2010 48 283 2102 2433 497 293.0
Additions - - 236 236 96 33.2
Less release of financial llability on equity
commitments - - (8 6) B6 36) (12.2)
Disposals - (155 {165 (320 (11 ({33.1)
Unreahsed apprecration/{wnte-down) 02) 51 (1.1 38 03 4.1
Valuation at 31st December 2010 46 179 2076 2301 549 285.0
Reconciliation
Cost of mvestments 48 04 3154 3206 759 396.5

Net unrealised appreciation/(wnte-down)
of nvestments

02y 175 (1078 (9095

(210) (111.5)

Valuation at 31st December 2010

46 179 2076 2301

549 285.0

1 £2 6 mulbon of the 3151 Dacembar 2010 valuation of £54 8 melion relates to ICG 2000 and ICG 2003 Funds The batance of

£52 3 milhion relates to the stnp disposal
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Comparatives for 2009 were
Sharesn Cther
fancal  Portiolio
undertakngs' ivestments  companes Totad
£m om £m £m

Company
Valuation at 1st January 2009 48 196 29043 318.7
Additions - - - -
Disposals - (168 (321) (48.9)
Unreahsed wnte-down - 255 23 23.2
Valuation at 31st December 2009 48 283 2599 293.0
Reconciiation
Cost of investments 48 04 3817 386.9
Net unrealised appreciation/{(wnte-down) of nvestments - 279 (1218 (93.9)
Valuation at 31st December 2009 48 283 2599 203.0

1 Investments n subsidianes are reflected in the Company's accounts at cost, less any imparment o value

Investments at far value include

held for sade  operabons 200 2009
£m £m £m £m

Group and Company
UK
Unquoted at Directors' valuation 382 1260 1642 1518
Europs
Unquoted at Directors’ valuation 418 1038 1456 1679
us
Unquoted at Directors’ valuation - 02 0.2 02

800 2300 310.0 3199

Interests in the Candover 1997, 2001, 2005 and 2008 Funds {other financial investments)

Candover Partners Limited is the General Partner of the imited partnerships compnsing the Candover
1997 and 2001 Funds and 1s the manager of the Candover 2005 and 2008 Funds Inwew of the excessive
length, the name and address of each partnership will be enclosed with the Company’s next annual return
as permitted under section 410 of the Companies Act 2006

The Company 1s a Special Limited Partner in the Candover 2001 and 2005 Funds and 1s a unit holder in
the unauthonsed unit trust that is a Special Limited Partner in the Candover 1997 Fund In each case, the
Special Limited Partner 1s entitled to participate in profits after a rmirwmurm rate of return has been achieved
by the Limited Partners This profit entitiernent 1s referred to as the camed interest.

As at 31st December 2010 Candover's investments as a Special Limited Partner in the 2001 and 2005
Funds were vatued at £17 5 mullion and £0 2 million (2009 £27 9 milion and £0 3 millon respectively)
Candover’s investment in the unauthonsed unit trust, which 1s a Spectal bimited Partner in the Candover
1997 Fund, was valued at £nil {2009 £nul}
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Due to the effects of the global economic cnsis last year, the Board reviewed the Group's financial strategy
and announced that it was not in a position to make any further mvestment in the Candover 2008 Fund
Dunng 2010, in agreement with the other investors in the Candever 2008 Fund, the Company extinguished
any ongoing commitment to the Candover 2008 Fund to ensure that it has the capital required to fund its
commitment for follow-on investments in the Candover 2005 Fund (callable until August 201 1)

The Company 1s no longer a Special Limited Partner in the Candover 2008 Fund following terrmination of
the investment penod on 12th January 2010 Dunng the year, the Company was retumed its initral capital
contnbution and is therefore no longer entitled to participate in the profits from the Candover 2008 Fund

Note 14 Subsidiary undertakings

Nature of business Country of noomoration Issued share captal

Candover Services Limited” Admuinustrationand  England and Wales  £4,400,000 ordinary
management company

Candover {Trustees) Limited’ Nominee compary  England and Wales £100 ordinary

Candover Nominees bimited’ Nominee company  England and Wales £100 ordinary

Candover Partners Limited? General Partner ofthe  England and Wales £50,000 ordinary
Candover 1997 and 2001
Funds and Manager of the
Candover 2005 and
2008 Funds

Candover France SAS? Identifying nvestment France €37,000 ordinary
opportunities in France

Candover Spain SL? Identfying investment Spain €3,010 ordinary
opportunities in Span

Deutsche Candover (Managing  Managing Limited Partner Gemany €25,000 ordinary
Limited Partner) GmbH! of Candover 2001
GmbH & CoKG

Deutsche Candover General Partner of Germany €5,000 ordinary
(General Partner) GmbH! the Candover 2001
GmbH & CoKG

Candover 2005 Fund General Partner of the Guemsey £10,000 ordinary
{Guernsay) Limited® Candover 2005 Fund

Candover 2008 GP Limited?® General Partner of the Guemsay €13,485
Candover 2008 Fund

Bearsted Holding Sarl’ Holds shares na Luxembourg €12,500
portfolio company

Bosting Holding Sar® Holds sharesina Luxembourg €12,500
portfolio company

Candover Asia Limited’ Identsfying investment Hong Kong HKE 1

opportunities in Asia/
Discontinued operations

1 Wholly cwned directly by tha holding company

2 92 5% owned directly by Candover Services Limited and 7 5% owned directly by Candover investments pic

(2009 90% and 10% respectvely)

3 Whally owned by ong or mora subsidiary undertakangs
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Note 15 Trade and other receivables

Group
2010 2009 2010 2009
m £m £m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Trade recevables 0.3 21 - -
Social secunty and other taxes 0.5 02 0.1 01
Other recevables 0.3 49 0.1 01
Amounts owed from Group undertakings - - 102 104
Prepayments and accrued income 0.7 10 0.1

1.8 82 10.5 1

06

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Trade receivables 6.5 47 2.7

83 129 13.2 1

06

Note 15.1 Assets of CPL disposal group {discontinued operations)

2010

£m
Trade recevables 03
Social secunty and other taxes O]
Other receivables 03
Prepayments ()]
Cash and cash equivalents 15
2.3

Note 16 Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
om £m m m
Listed fixed interest secunties and money market funds 536 995 53.6 995
Cash at bank and in hand 253 68 221 24

789 1063 75.7 1019

Included in cash at bank at 31st December 2010 was restncted cash of £0 1 milhon (2009 £0 6 mullion)
the Candover 2001 Fund Employes Benefit Trust and £0 5 mullion for the Candover 2005 Fund Offshore
Employee Benefit Trust (2009 £0 6 milion) Additional commentary on the holdings of cash and cash
equivalents 1s provided in note 29

n
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Note 17 Trade and other payables

Group Comparry
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m fm fm £m
Trade payables 1.8 13 1.0 02
Social secunty and other taxes 1.5 08 - -
Other payables 0.4 05 121 -
Accruals and deferred income 122 112 9.4 28

15.9 138 225 30

Note 17.1 Liabilities of CPL disposal group {discontinued operations)

2mno0

£m

Trade payables 03
Cther payables 01
Accruals 08
1.2

As at the year end, CPL held a £1 1 mulon intercompany payable balance owed to Candover Services
Limited Incorporating this, CPL's net assets 1s equal to £50,000 which 1s in line with completion

amangements

Note 18 Loans and borrowings
Group Company
20 2009 2010 2009
£m fm m £m
Loans and bormowings due between one and five years 2005 1946 2005 1946

Loans and borrowings are mamly payable n October 2014, within five years (2009 after five years)

Group
2010 2009 2mo0 2009
Rate: £m £m fm £m
Issued under the US private placement
Senes A (US$200 0 million due
12th October 2014) 702% 1293 1256 12903 1256
Senes A — Far value hedge adjustment 16.5 133  16.5 133
Senes B (€30 0 milhion due
12th October 2014) EURIBOR + 1 40% 257 270 257 270
Senes C (£30 Omilion due
11th January 2015) 7 45% 300 300 300 300
Deferred costs (1.0) (13 (1.0) (13)

2005 1946 2005 1946

The senes A, B and C loan notes are repayable in one instalment on the respective maturity dates, with
interest payable on a six-monthly basis The Company wili grant a floating charge over its remaining assets,
after those subject to the stnp disposal, as secunty under the loan notes

78 Candover Investments pic
Repart and accourds/2000




Business review | G IF ta | Sharsholder services

Note 19 Derivative financial instruments

2mo0 20089 2010 2009
©m £ m £m

Current assets
Currency and interest rate swaps designated as far value hedges 44.1 384 44.1 384

4.1 384 4.1 38 4

Current liabilities

Other currency and interest rate swaps 299 369 29.9 369

Stnp disposal (discontinued operations) 17.4 — 17.4 -
47.3 369 47.3 369

Currency swaps

The Group uses currency and interest rate swaps to minimise the effect of fluctuations in the value of the
loans and borrowings from movement in foreign exchange and to swap fixed rate interest payments to
fioating rate payments

The fair value of these contracts s recorded in the statement of financial position and 1s determined by
discounting future cash flows at the prevailing market rates at the statement of financial position date
Contracts designated as far value hedges are offset aganst moverments in the underying loans and
borrowings in the statement of comprehensive income

At the statement of financial position date, the notional amount of outstanding dermvative financial
instrument contracts is as follows

2010 2009

o on
Currency and interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges 86.2 86 2
Other currency and interest rate swaps 116.2 1162

The Group does not trade ndenvatives In general, derwvatives are held to hedge specific exposures and
have matunties designated to match the exposures they are hedging

The denvatives are held at farr value which represents the replacement costs of the nstruments at the
statement of financial position date Movements in the farr value of denvatves are included in the statement
of comprehensive Income

Note 19.1 Financial liability on equity commitments
The fair value of the Group’s iability relating to future equity comnutments and guarantees at the year end
was £nil (2009 £12 2 million)

The fair valus of the Company's hability relating to future equity commitments and guarantees at the year
end was £11 8million (2009 £20 4 millon)

The Group’s and Company’s total cash value of future equity commitments and guarantees at the year end
was £16 6 million (2009 £46 4 million})
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Note 20 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

No temporary differences resulting from investments in subsidiary undertakings qualified for recogniion as
deferred tax assets or habilities Under the current fiscal ervironrnent, disposals of these entities are exempt
from capital gains taxes

Deferred taxes ansing from temporary differences can be summansed as follows

2010
Deforrsd  Defersd  Defered  Defered
tax e e tax
asset  Enbilites asset  EabEbes
tm fm £m £m
Group
Non-current asseta/{(labilities)
Property, plant and equpment - - - -
Tax losses 3.5 - 34 -
Total 35 - 34 -
Deferred tax at 1st January 3.4 - 65 -
Deferred tax credit/{charge) in profit and loss account
Prioryear - - {1 0) -
Current year 0.1 - {2 1) -
Deferred tax at 31st December 35 - 34 -

Other temporary differences anse pnmanly in respect of contnbutions into the EBT and inrelation to tax
losses camed forward which have been assessed for recoverability against future earnings The prior year
deferred tax asset related to contrnibutions made mto the employee benefit trust whereas those for the
current year relate to the recognition of an asset in respect of tax losses camed forward

The Company has a deferred tax asset of £3 5 mitlion as at 31st December 2010 (2009 €} Ithadno
deferred tax labiliies

The Group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £23 0 milkon, of which £17 9 rmilhon relates to losses
camed forward Ofthese, £14 9 milion relate to the Company

Note 21 Share capital

2010 2009
Number £m Number o

Authonsed
Ordinary shares of 25p each 29,000,000 7.3 29,000,000 73
Allotted, called up and fully pad
Ordinary shares of 25p each at 1st January and

31st December {including shares held in treasury) 21,856,615 5.5 21,856,615 55
Ordinary shares of 25p each at 1st January and

31st Decernber (exciuding shares held in treasury) 21,778,580 55 21,778,580 55

No ordinary shares were bought by the Company to be held in treasury (2009 nil)
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Notifiable interests in the Company’s shares
Set out below are the names of those persons who, insofar as the Company 1s aware as at 19th Apnl 2011,
are interested directly or indirectly n 3% or more of the 1ssued share capitat of the Company

As at 16th April 2011
Number of ordinary shares of 25p each % of voting rights.

Lloyds TSB Banking Group plc and subsidianes (including

Scottish Widows Investment Partnership) 2,074,771 95
BP Investment Management 1,345,743 62
Schroder Investment Management 1,239,712 57
Legal & General investment Management 1,085,856 5.0
Electra Partners Europe 950,000 4.4
Red Rocks Capital Managerment 844,162 3.9
Co-operative Insurance Society 834,123 38
MAG Investrments 751,878 35

Note 22 Capital commitments
Outstanding co-investment commitments are detaled in note 29

Note 23 Pension commitments

The Group contributed towards a number of funded defined contnbution pension schemes designed
to provide retirement benefits for its employees The assets of the schemes are held separately from
the Group in Independently administered funds The penston cost charge represents contnbutions
by the Group to the schemes in respect of the accounting penod and amounted to £0 8 milhon

(2009 £1 6 million) for both continuing and discontinued operations At 31st December 2010, there
was an amount of £0 1 million payable to the schemes (2009 £0 1 milkon}

Note 24 Operating lease commitments
The Group's total commitments under generally non-cancellable operating leases, all refating to office
rentals, are set out below

2010 2008
£m £m
Within one year 1.5 17
Between one and five years 4.2 56
More than five years - -
5.7 73

Note 25 Provisions
2010 2009
£m £m
At 1st January 2010 - -
Provision for onerous lease 4.5 -
At 31st December 2010 4.5 -

The Company s the ultimate guarantor of a leasehold property that has a lease expinng in December 2014
As a consequence of the change in the Company’s iInvestment strategy and decision to sell CPL, the
property Is to be vacated Provision has been made for the estmated fair value of unavoidable lease
payments together with an estimate of the associated cost of rates, service charges and reinstatement
under the terms of the lease It 1s expected that these payments will anse over the next one to four years

The provision is based on estmates both of the future costs that will anse but also the potenhal income that
the Company may denve from a sub-letting or similar arrangement based on the latest nformation
available to the Directors on market rates and from discussions with potentially interested parties
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Note 26 Movement on reserves

Other rasarves
Share-
Share based Captad  Roalsed Unmaisad
Sham premeun  payment  Treasury Fransiabon redempbon caprtal captal  Revenue
captal  accourt reserve shares resarve raserve resene resenve TESEVE Totd
£m fm fm £m £m £m £m &m m £m
Group
At 1st January 2010 55 12 01 0B 02 05 3595 (1605 211 227.0
Unrealised loss on
financial instruments - - - - - - - 21 - 21
Realised gain/(loss) on
financial nstruments - - - - - - 67 94 - 2N
Movement in far value of
denvative - continuing - - - - - - - (08 - {0.8)
Loss relating to assets
subject to the stnp
disposal — discontinued
operations - - - - - - - {19¢) - {19.6)
Exchange movements
on bormowing - - - - - - - a8 - 0.8
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations - - - - 01 - - - - (0.1)
Net revenue - - - - - - - - (231 (23.1)
Costs net of tax - - - - [B7 - - 6.7
At31stDecember2010 55 12 01 06) 01 05 3605 (1874 (20) 177.9
Group
At 1st January 2009 55 12 01 06y (02 05 3698 (1821) 301 2243
Unrealised loss on
financial nstruments - - - - - - - 305 - 305
Realised gan/(loss) on
financial nstruments - - - - - - 20 (119 - {9.8)
Movernent in farr valus of
denvative
Exchange movements
on borrowing - - - - - - - (08 - (0.8}
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign
operations - - - - - - - 37 - 3.7
Net revenue - - - - 04 - - - - 0.4
Share-based payments - - - - - - - - B0 (0.0
Share buy-backs - - - - - - - - - -
Dwidends paid - - - - - - - - - -
Costs net of tax - - - - - (123) - - {(12.3)
At 31st December 2009 55 12 01 06 02 05 3595 (1605 211 227.0
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Crther esarves
Share-
Shae  basad Reafsed Urvealisad
Share premum payment  Treasury rodemphon capta  Copetal Revenue
Gaprial  account reserve shares rasenve reserve  resenve resenve Total
£m £m £m £m &m £n £m £m £m
Company
At 1st January 2010 55 12 Qi (06) 05 36101609 (176} 189.2
Unrealised gain on financial
instruments - - - - - - 21 - 2.1
Realised gan/{loss) on financial
instruments - - - - - 65 (949 - (2.9)
Movement infarr value of denvative
— continuing operations - - - - - - {08 - (0.8)
Loss relating to assets subject to
the stnp disposal - discontinued
operations - - - - - - (196) - (19.6)
Exchange movements on
borrowings - - - - - - 08 - 0.8
Net revenue - - - - - - - {(120) (12.0)
Costs net of tax - - - - - 67 - - {5.7)
At 31st December 2010 55 12 01 06 05 3618 (1878) (296) 151.1
Company
At st January 2009 55 12 01 06) 05 3713 (1825 (174) 1784
Unreahsed loss on financial
instruments - - - - - - 305 - 30.5
Realised gain/(loss) on financial
instruments - - - - - 20 (118) - (9.8)
Movement in far value of dervatve . ~ - - - - - (08 - (0.8)
Exchange movements on
borrowings - - - - - - 37 - 3.7
Net ravenue - - - - - - - 02 (0.2)
Share-based payments - - - - - - - - -
Share buy-backs
Didends paid - - - - - - - - -
Costs net of tax - - - - - (123 - - (123)
At 31st December 2009 55 12 01 O6) 05 361016090 (176} 189.2

Note 27 Unrealised gains/(losses) on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss

™
Gan/{loss) on revaluation of mvestments and cash equivalents (48) 171
Farr value gain/{loss) on denvatives and bomowings 69 113
Fair value gain/{loss) on financial iabilities on equity commitments - 21

2.1 305
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Note 28 Reconciliation of operating income to net cash flow from operating activities

2010 2009
mn m

Group
Total income 8.1 319
Administrative expenses {27.5) (420)
Operating (deficity/income {19.4) (101)
Increase/{decrease) in trade and other receivables (6.7} 19)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 7.9 4 5)
Depreciation 0.9 12
Exceptional depreciation 2.1 -
Option cost - 08)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities (15.2) (161)

The following table summanses the impact on the Group’s net cash outflow from operating activities of the

CPL disposal group

2010 2009
£ £m
CPL disposal group
Net cash from operating actvibes 34 (103
Net cash from investing actvities (0.4) 01)
Net cash from financing activities - -
3.0 (i104)
200 2009
£m £m
Company
Total income 9.2 127
Administrative expenses {(23.4) (16 4)
Operating (deficitYincome {14.2 37)
Increase/(decrease) In trade and other recevables (11.5) 70
(Decrease}/increase n trade and other payables 94 (114)
Option cost - {0 8)
Net cash (outflow)inflow from operating activties (18.3) 89

Note 29 Financial nsk management
The Company and Group's activities expose the Group to a vanety of financial nsks ansing fromits

investment in equities and other Instruments for the long-term so as to achieve its investment objectives
In pursuing its investment objectives, the Group 1s exposed to a vanety of nsks that could result in erther

a reduction in the Group’s net assets or a reduction of the profits avalable for dvidends

These nsks include market nsk (compnsing valuation currency nsk and interest rate nsk), kquidity nsk and
credit nsk The Board of the Company oversees the Group's nsk management and the Drrectors’ approach

to the management of these nsks 1s set out below

The ohjectives, policies and processes for managing the nsks and the methods used to measure the risks
that are set out below have not changed from the prevous accounting penod other than the approach to

currency nsk, as descnbed below
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Note 29.1 Valuation/market price risk

The Group's exposure to valuation nsk mamnly compases of movements in the value of its mvestments.

A breakdown of the Group's portfolio 1s given on page 10 and a detalled analys:s of the ten largest
investments Is given on pages 13 to 17 All underlying nvestments are valued at far value by the Directors
in accordance with the Group's valuation policy. It shoutd be noted that at 31st December 2010, all

{2009 100%) of the Group's underlyng investments were valued on the multiple of earmings basis other
than Equity Trust which was based on sales proceeds. Hence, future changes in comparable eamings
multiples of publicly quoted companies, which we use to value our unguoted holdings, will impact the
valuations of the portfolio companies, as would changes m the trading resuits of portfolio companies

The table below, which captures the effect of the relatve geanng of the underiying investments,
summanses the effect that any fluctuation in market mutbples would have on the valuation of the Group’s
portfolio

Increase  Decrease

Continuing operations’ £m £m
Fixed asset investments at far valug through profit and loss at

31st December 2010 2300 2300
10% changes n comparable muliples 447 (45.5)
Adjusted far value of nvestments 2747 1845
Percentage of current far value of nvestments 19%  20%

1 Excludes mvestments hekd for sale, namely the stnp mvestments and ICG Funds

Valuation sensitivity

The Group’s sensitvity to valuation nsk will be affected by changes in the Group’s levels of borrowing and
Iquidity Any reduction in the value of the portfolo will be amplified by our level of ndebtedness tharatio
of net debt to net assets was 51% at 3tst December 2010 (2009 33%), reducing to 15% on a pro-forma
basis as a result of the sale of CPL and assets subject to the stnp disposal It will also be affected by the
local currency denomination of such Investments, whach is considered separately under currency nsk

Management of the nsk

The exposure to market sk is monitored based on the overall level of market nsk on the whole of the
investrment portfolio on an ongoing basts The Board monitors valuation nsk by reviewing and approving
the valuation of the portfolio

Concentration nsk

As disclosed the Group 1s no longer making new mvestments other than contractually obligated follow-on
investments alongside the Candover 2005 Fund This wali mean that as and when realisations occur the
portfolio becomes more concentrated Over-exposure to a particular sector or geography could increase
the impact of adverse changes in macro econormic or market condiions on the Group  The portfolio s
subject to periodic reviews by the Board in order to moritor exposure to any one sector or geography and
to monitor the exposure to larger investments One of the conditions set out under section 842 of the
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 is that, on acquisition, no single investment can exceed 15%

of the Group's investment portfolic to mamtamn the Group's tax status as an investment trust

As at 31st December 2010, the ten largest investments represented 87 0% of the overall nvestment
portiolio (2009 87 7%), of which the underlying exposure to Expro International accounted for 27 9%
of the investment portfolio (2009 29 9%}, or 48 6% of net assets (2009 42 2%)
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Note 29.2 Liquidity risk
This 15 the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in mesting obligations associated with uncalled
cormmitments and financial labiibes

The Group's outstanding co-investment commitments and financial Labiliies at 31st December 2010 were
as follows

Uncalled commitments

Outstanding
comnitments
Reportad Pro-forma’
2010 2009 2009
em €m €m
Candover 2008 Fund Nl 904 3! Nl
Candover 2005 Fund 454 897 897

454 9940 897

1 As disclosed in the 2009 financial statements on 12th January 2010, the Company was released from its funding obigabons under
the co-nvestment agreemant n respect of the Candover 2008 Fund Therefore, the only outstancing commitment during 2009 was
to the Candover 2005 Fund

The stnp sale reduces the Company’s iability to fund its remaining commitmenits by €13 2 million
(€11 3 mullion)

Pro-stip: Posi-strip
QOutstanding commitments as at 31st Decemnber 2010 €45 4m €322m
Net assets as at 31st December 2010! €207 6m €207 Bm
Ratio of outstanding commitments to net assets 22% 16%
Ratio of cash to outstanding commitments 2% 5x

1 Net assets converted at a year end exchange rate of €1 16716

It should be noted that in addition to the movements in comparable multiples other significant factors,
including covenant concerns and recent relevant market transactions are taken into account in arnving at
the individual nvestment valuations

Financial liabiities
The remaining contractual matunties of the financial habilties at 31st December 2010, based on the earliest
date on which payment can be required, were as follows

3 months Nutmuml!:mman I months Ndmammeman
orless than 1 year 1 yoar Total orless  than 1 year 1 year Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Group and Company
Bomowings under the US private
placement loan notes! - - 185.0 185.0 - - 1826 1826
Future equity
Commitments? 16.7 - - 16.7 71 308 a7 476
Interest payable on US private
placement loan 1.4 4.3 15.3 20.7 11 45 217 273

17.8 43 2003 2224 82 353 2140 2675

1 The terms of issue of the US private placement loan notes and mult-currency revoiving facility require the Group to comply with a
loan-to-valus covenart
2 Candover 2005 Fund equity brdge obligations

The farr value of borrowings under US pnvate placement loan notes i1s not matenally different to carrying value
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Future equity commitments at the end of the year relate to the equity bndges on Parques alongside the
Candover 2005 Fund as part of the overall outstanding commitment alongside that fund

The Company also has a restriction for iguicity purposes from the loan-to-value covenant of its US private
placement loan notes, where the ratio of net debt to adjusted investments should not exceed 40% At year
end, the ratio was 32 6% {2003 26 4%), with a pro forma ratio of 13 7% adjusting for the sale of the CPL
disposal group and assets subject to stnp disposal, associated costs, Equity Trustand ICG sale proceeds
{excluding the addrtional contractual proceeds expected in June 2011)

Note 29.3 Currency risk

Certain of the Group's assets, tabifites, mcome and expenses are denommnated in curencies other than
Sterting {the Group's functional currency and in which it reports its results), prnimanly with respect to the
Euro and the US Dollar Foreign exchange nsk anses when future invaestment transactions and recognised
assets and labilites are denominated in currency that 1s not the entity's functional currency As a result,
movements in exchange rates may affect the Sterling value of those items

Management of the nsk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currencies 1s monitored and reported to the Board on a regular basis
The nsk to the Group 1s the foreign currency iImpact on the Group’s net asset value and income following
amovement In the rates of exchange to which the Group's assets, labilities, income and expenses

are exposed

Foreign currency borrowings and denvative financial instruments are used to imit the Group's exposure
to anticipated future changes n exchange rates which might otherwise adversely affect the value of the
portfolio of nvestments and the related impact on the Cormpany’s loan-to-value covenant These
borrowings and contracts are limited to cumencies and amounts commensurate with the asset exposure
to those curencies

The proceeds from the strip sale of £60 0 mdlion net of related costs, combined with proceeds from other
disposals completed since the year end, will reduce net debt on a pro forma basis to £26 7 million at

31st December 2010 from £91 G milion as reported at year end with the pro forma loan to value covenant
improving to 13 7% from 32 6%

As we move towards a net cash position, our current hedging structure may no fonger be required

The existing arrangements were put in place when the onginal US private placement notes were raised
in 2007 and were structured to match the currency of our indebtedness against the currency of our
investments Based on our current estmates it may be appropnrate to unwind the exsting hedges which
wou'd benefit the Company’s net assets
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Foreign currency exposure

The farr values of the Group and Company’s monetary items (inciuding financial investments and denvative
financial nstruments) that have foreign cumrency exposure at 31st December are shown below

uss Euro Other
Group gm £m £m
2010
Cash and cash equivalents 09 733 -
Payables (interest payable) 03 {12 -
Bomowings under the US private placement loan notes (1458 (257) -
Denvative financial nstruments 1303 (146 1} -
Foreign currency exposure on net monetary items (149) (997) -
Investments at fair value through profit or foss! 748 1517 19
Total net foreign currency exposure 599 520 19
1 Excludes nvestments held for sale, namely the stnp mvestments and ICG Funds
2009
Cash and cash equivalents 03 914 -
Payables (interest payable) 02 N -
Bomrowings under the US pnvate placement loan notes (1389 (27 0) -
Denvative financial instrurments 1246 (1531} -
Financial labilities on eguity commitments - {122} -
Foreign currency exposure on net monetary tems {142) (102 6) -
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 906 2259 28
Total net foreign currency exposure 764 1233 28
uss fro Other
Comparny fm £m 2m
2010
Cash and cash equivalents 0¢ 711 -
Payables (interest payable) 03 (12) -
Borrowings under the US private placement loan notes 1458 257 -
Denvative financial nstruments 1303 (146 1} -
Foreign currency exposure onnet monetary tems 2767 [505) -
Investrnents at fair value through profit or loss! 703 1517 19
Total net foraign currency exposure 3470 1012 19
1 Excludes nvestments hekd for sale, namety the stnp nvestments and ICG Funds
2009
Cash and cash equivalents 03 894 -
Payables (interest payable) (03) (3 6} -
Borrowings under the US private placement ioan notes (1389 (270} -
Denvative financiat instruments 1449 (164 4) -
Financia! labilities on equity commitments - {122} -
Foreign currency exposure on net monstary items 60 (1178} -
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 588 2259 28
Total net foreign cutrency exposure 648 1081 28
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Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table llustrates the sensitmty of the equity In regard to the Group’s monetary financial assets
and financial labilties and the exchange rates for Sterling/US Doltar and Stering/Eure

It assumes the following changes in exchange rates

Sterting/US Dollar +/-20% (2009 10%)
Sterling/Euro +/-20% (2009 10%)

The increase m percentage used this year s to reflect the current market conditions compared to the year
ending 31st December 2002

These percentages have been determined based on a reasonable estimate of the potential volatiity
The sensitvity analysis 1s based on the Group’s monetary foreign currency financial nstruments held at
each statement of financial position date

If Sterling had weakened/strengthened {amounts negative of those shown) against the currencies shown,
this would have had the following effect

2010 (#/-10%) 20009 {+/-10%}
uss Euro uss Euo

£m £m £m £m

Gain attributable to equity shareholders {+10%) 67 58 69 112
Loss attnbutable to equity shareholders (-10%) (54) 47 B85 {37

Note 29.4 Interest rate risk

Interest rate movements may affect

— the fair value of the investments in fixed nterest rate secunties (including unquoted loans),

— the level of ncome recenvable on cash and cash equivalents,

— the farr value of the Company's loan notes issued under the US private placement (inked to farr value
movement and denvatives),

— the mterest payable on the Company's vanable rate borrowings, and

~ the farr value of the Company’s denvative financial nstruments

Management of the risk
The possible effects on far value and cash flows that could arise as a result of changes in interest rates are
taken into account when making investment and funding decisions

The majonty of the financial Investments that are interest-beanng bear fixed interest, as a result, the Group
I1s not subject to significant amounts of cash flow interest rate nsk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels
of market nterest rates

Any excess cash and cash equivalents are nvested at short-term market interest rates, further reducing
suchnsks The loan notes raised through the US private placement were partly raised at fixed mterest
rates, these have substantally been swapped to floating rates seton a penodic basis at the prevailing
market rate plus margn Proceeds from the sale of the stnp wll be used to reduce net debt and this will
also reduce the Company's net annual interest costs The proceeds will be made avalable to the 2007
noteholders to prepay part of the outstanding notes at par f this offer of prepayment s not accepted by
some of the noteholders, the remaining proceeds will be invested m cash and cash equivalent assets to
meet future repayment obligations
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Interest rate exposure

The exposure for the Group and Company, at 31st December, of financial assets and financial kabilittes to

interest rate nsk1s shown by reference to

- floating Interest rates §i @ gmving cash flow interest rate nsk) when the interest rate1s due to be re-set, and
—~ fixed Interest rates {| e gnving farr value interest rate nsk) when the financial mstrument is due for

repayrment
2010 2009
Within Mo than Withnn  Mara than
1 yoar 1 yoar Total 1 yor 1 year Total
Group £m £m £m &m £m £m
Exposure to floating interest rates
Cash and cash equivalents 71.2 - 71.2 388 - 388
Borrowings under the US pnvate placement
loan notes - (25.7) (25.T) - @270 270
Financial iabilities on equity commitments - - - (1223 - (122
Dervative financial instruments - (25.8) (25.5) - (302) (302
71.2 (51.2 20.0 266 (572) (306}
Exposure 1o fixed nterest rates
Cash and cash equivalents 8.7 - 87 675 - 675
Investments at fair value through prefit or loss’ - 2027 2027 - 2770 2770
Borrowings under the US pnvate placement
loan notes - (170.9) (170.9) - (1676) (167 6)
Derwvative financial Instruments - 1558 155.8 - 1478 1478
8.7 1876 1963 675 2572 3247
Total exposure to interest rates 799 131.7 2116 841 1910 2851
1 Excludes nvestments held for sale, namely the stnp mvestments and ICG Funds
2010 2009
Within Mo than Wittt Marathan
1 yoar 1yon Tota 1 year 1 year Total
Compaony £m £m fm o m £m
Exposure to floating interest rates
Cash and cash equivalents 67.0 - 67.0 388 - 388
Borrowings under the US private placement
loannotes - {25.7) (25.7) - (270 (270
Financial habiities on equity commitments - - - (122 - (122
Derwvative financial instruments - 25.5) (25.5) - (302) (302
67.0 51.2 158 266 (572) (306)
Exposure to fixed interest rates
Cash and cash equivalents 8.7 - 87 675 - 675
Investmenits at farr value through profit or loss! - 1982 198.2 - 2355 2355
Bomowings under the US pnvate placernent
loan notes - (170.9) (170.9) - (1676} (167 6)
Denvative financial instruments - 1558 1558 - 1478 1478
a7 1831 1918 675 2157 2832
Total exposurs to interest rates 75.7 1271 2029 941 1495 2436

1 Excludes nvestments held for sale, namely the stnp investments and ICG Funds
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Interest recevable and finance costs are at the foliowing rates

— Interest receved on cash and cash equwvalents 1s managed to achieve amargm over LIBOR or its foreign
currency equivalent (2009 no change),

— Interest pard on borrowings under the multi-currency loan faciity 1s at a margin over LIBOR or its foreign
currency equivalent for the type of loan of 0 85% {2009 0 85%),

— Interest paid on borrowings on the US private placement loan notes 1s partly fixed and partly floating
rate (US$200 O milhon at 7 02%, €30 0 milion EURIBOR pius 1 40% and £30 Omilion at 7 45%) The
fixed rate exposures have manly been swapped into floating rate exposures through the use of the
denvative financial nstruments, with a subsequent weighted average margin over EURIBOR of 1 40%
to144%

Interest rate sensitivity

As the Group's loan note nvestments are held at farr value through profit or loss and valued in conjunction
with the equity mvestment in the portfolio company these are not subject to changes in value ansing from
interest rate movements

As cash and cash equivalents are invested at short-termn market rates, for fixed short-term penods and
held to matunty, they are not signicantly impacted i respect of far value by movements in interest rates
As certain of the borrowings under the US private placement loan notes are held atamorhised cost, the
movernent N interest rates does not impact upon ther camying value

A 50 bps movement in interest rates would impact upon the cambined valuation of the dervatives and
related hedged US private placement loan notes by +50bps, a decrease in profit of £2 g mithon
(2009 £1 0million), and -50bps, an increass in profit of £2 0 milklon 2002 £1 O milton)

Note 29.5 Creditnsk
The Group’s exposure to credit nsk principally anses from its nvestment in short-dated listed fixed income
secunties, money market instruments and its cash deposits

Management of the nsk

This nsk 1s managed as follows

— where an Investment 1s made in an unquoted loan to a private eGguity investment, ti1s made as part of the
overall equity and debt investment package and the recoverability of the debt is assessed as part of the
overall investment process,

- transactions nvoiving dervatives are entered into only with investment banks, the credit rating of which s
taken into account 50 as to minimise the nsk to the Group of default,

— exposure to ndmdual financial institutions 1s minimised by the Group spreading its cash across a number
of lquidity funds and banks,

— cash equvalents consist of short-dated histed fixed ncome secunties and money market mstruments,
with a credit rating of AA- or above, and

— cash at bank i1s held only with major UK banks with high quality external credit ratings or govemrment

support
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Crednt nsk exposure

In summary, compared to the amounts included in the statement of financial position, the maximum

exposure to credt nsk at 31st December was as follows

2010 2009
Statement of Staterment of
financial Maxdimum fmanced  Maamum
pasition  exposure poshon  eposEe
Group £m fm £m m
Denvative financial nstruments 14.2 14.2 15 15
Cash and cash eguvalents 799 799 1063 1063
94.1 941 1078 1078
Statement of Statemnent of
financtad  Maxirmsn financal  Maamum
postion  exposue poshon  exposue
Comparny £&m m £m £m
Denvative financial nstruments 14.2 14.2 15 15
Cash and cash equivalents 75.7 757 1019 10198
89.9 899 1034 1034
Note 29.6 Fair value hierarchy disclosures
The tabls below sets out farr value measurements using the IFRS 7 far value hierarchy
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2010
Lavel 1 Loval 2 Leval 3 Total
Group em fm £m m
Continuing equity nvestments - - 2300 2300
Equity iInvestments held for sale - - 800 80.0
Denvative financial nstruments - 441 - 441
Cash equivalents® 536 - - 53.6
Tota) 53.6 441 310.0 407.7
2010
Leval 1 Lovei 2 Lovel 3 Totd
Compeny £m £m £m £m
Continuing equity mvestments - - 2303 230.3
Equity investments held for sale - - 549 54.9
Derivative financial instruments - 441 - a4.1
Cash equivalents® 53 6 - - 53.6
Total 53.6 441 285.2 382.9

* These are short-dated kisted fixed Income secunties and money market nstruments which meots the defintion of cash and
cash equivalents
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Financal iabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2010
Leved 1 Lovel 2 Level 3 Total
Group £m £m £m £m
Denvative financial instruments - 299 - 29.9
Borrowings under the US private placement loan notes - - 1458 1458
Total - 299 1458 175.7
2010
Lenved 1 Level 2 Level 3 Totad
Company £m m £m £m
Dernvative financial instruments - 209 - 29.9
Borrowings under the US private placement loan notes - - 1458 1458
Total - 209 1458 175.7

Categonsation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest lavel nput that1s

significant fair value measurement of the relevant asset as follows

Level 1 — valued using quoted pnces In actve markets for identical assets

Level 2 - valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices

included within Level 1

Level 3 - valued by reference to valuation techrigues using inputs that are not based on cbservable

market data

The valuation policy is explaned on page 20
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Level 3 financial assets and habiities at far value through profit or loss

2010
Assets held for sale Contrwng operzbons
Francal Fnancal undler the
kabknhes fablibes US private
Equity on equly Bty onequty placement
nvestments Co Ioan notes Totad
Group £m £m om m £m
Valuation at 1st January 2010 77 4 (36) 2425 (8 6) (194 6) 113.1
Additions 65 36 160 86 - 4.7
Disposal proceeds (14) - (34 1) - - (35.5)
Realised gans 03 - 21 - - 24
Unrealised gans or losses (2 8) - 35 - 59 {5.2)
Valuation at
31st December 2010 80.0 - 230.0 - {200.5) 109.5
2010
Assats held for sale Contrung operations
Bomowngs
Francal Financaal under the
kabibes Fabibes US prvate
Ecqty on equly Eaquty onequity placament
mestments commeiments rvestiments Commimants loan notes Total
Company €m £m £m &mn £m
Valuation at 1st January 2010 497 (8 6) 2433 (1t 8) (194 6} 78.0
Additions 60 36 150 86 - 33.2
Disposal proceeds (14) - (34 1) - - (35.5)
Realised gains 03 - 21 - - 24
Unrealised gains or losses 03 (2 2) 40 (14) 59 (5.2
Valuation at
31st December 2010 54.9 {7.2) 230.3 (4.6} {200.5) 72.9
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Note 29.7 Capital management and policies and procedures
The Group's capital management objectives are

— to ensura that it will be able to continue as a going concern, and

— to maximise the Income and capital return to its equity shareholders

The Group's capital at 31st December compnses

2010 2008
£m £m
Debt

Borrowings under the US private placement loan notes 2005 19486
2005 1946

Equity
Equity share capitai 55 55
Retaned eamings and other reserves 1724 2215
177.9 2270
Total capital 3784 4216
Debt as a % of total capital 53% 46%

The Board monitors and reviews the broad structure of the Group’s capital on an ongoing basis

This review includes

— the planned level of geanng, which takes account of senior management's views on the market,

- the need to buy back equity shares, either for cancellation or to hold In treasury, which takes account
of the difference between the net asset value per share and the share pnce (i e the level of share price
discount or premium),

— the need for new issues of equity shares, Including issues from treasury, and

- the extent to which revenus, in excess of that which 1s required to be distnbuted, should be retained

The Group's objectives, policies and processes for managing capitat are unchanged from the preceding
accounting penod

The Company 1s subject to several externally imposed capital requirernents

— the terms of 1ssue of the US private placing of loan notes and mult-currency revolving faciity require the
Group’s level of borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents not to exceed 40% of nvestments at far
value through profit or loss (subject to certain restnctions),

- as a public company, the Company has to have a minimum share capital of £50,000,

— in order to be able to pay dvidends out of profits available for distnbution by way of dvidends, the
Company has to be able to meet one of the two capital restnction tests imposed on investment
companies by company law, and

— to retain its status as an investment trust, the Company Is required to comply wath the regulations of
section 842 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1888

These requirements are unchanged since last year and the Group and the Company have complied
with them

Candover Investments pic 93
Report and accounts/2010




Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31st December 2010
continued

Note 30 Related party transactions
The Company’s interest in the Candover 1987, 2001, 2005 and 2008 Funds 1s disclosed nnote 13 on
page 73

The Company’s subsidiary undertakings are isted in note 14 on page 74, which ncludes a descnption of
the nature of their business

Dunng the course of the year, the Group assigned its interest in diverted management fees of £4 7 milllon in
respect of the Candover 2008 Fund to certain of the executives within the Group

Dunng the course of the year, the Company undertook transactions with Candover Partners Limited which
provided investment and administration services to the Company for which the Company was charged
£5 3milkon (2009 £4 6 milkon)

Note 31 Contingent liabilities

During the course of 2008, the Company had guaranteed a €4 8 million facility made avalable to Northern
Trust Fiduciary Services (Guernsey) Lmited as trustee of the Candover 2005 Offshore Employee Benefit
Trust and the Candover 2005 Onshore Employee Benefit Trust For 2010, this guarantee remains at

€4 8 milon Other than in the normal course of business, there were no other contingent labibties at

31st December 2010 (2009 ni)

Note 32 Subsequent events

Post the year end, the sale of Equity Trust to Doughty Hanson completed in January 2011 generating
initial cash proceeds of £14 1 milkon for Candover, including £4 0 mifhon of camed interest A deferred
payment of £5 1 million, guaranteed by Funds managed by the purchaser, 1s payable upon the earlier of
arefinancing or recapitalisation of the business and the end of June 2011 The camed interest from this
deferred payrnent will retum an additional £2 O milkon The Candover 2001 Fund recenved ntial proceeds
of £79 1 million and will recenve a further £40 2 million from the deferred payment, gmng aninvestment
multiple, before camed interest, of 1 5x the onginal nvestment

In addition, the Company completed the sale of its interests in the ICG 2000 and ICG 2003 funds with initial
proceeds of £1 3 million receved and a further £1 3 million due by 30th June 2011.

On 31st March 2011 early redemption of the guaranteed, interest accruing deferred payment relating to
Ontex occurred, with Candover recemving £10 6 million, ncluding further camed interest of £3 mithonin
respect of the Candover 2001 Fund

On 18th Apnl 2011, all conditions precedent relating to the disposal of CPL to Arle and the disposal
of the stnp were satisfied Accordingly, the transactions set out in the circular sent to shareholders on
6th December 2010, and approved by them mn General Meeting on 22nd December 2010, were
completed As aconsequence of the exercise of nghts by tag investors, proceeds received by the
Company were reduced by £0 4 milion to £59 6 milkon

Since the year end a follow-on investment of £0 6 million has been made in EurotaxGlass’s to finance

a small acquistion In addition a further investment of £16.6 mifion has been made n Pamques Reunidos
as part of the re-financing of existing equity bndge arrangements put n place at the time of the onginat
acquisitron of the business The stnp disposal completion mecharnism prowvided for the Company to sell,

at cost, to the purchaser 29 1% of any follow-on investments made between 6th December 2010 and the
date of completion As further investments were made in thus penod totallmg £17 2 mflion, £5 0 rmullion
was therefore paid by the stnp purchaser to the Company on 19th April 2011 ncreasmg total proceeds
recerved to £64 6 milion As a consequence of both the stnp transaction and these follow-on iInvestments,
the Campany’s outstanding cormmitments to the Candover 2005 Fund have reduced to £15.3 miflion
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Shareholder information

Financial calendar

Evernt Date
Preliminary announcement of results for the year ended 31st December 2010 1st March 2011
Candover Investments plc Annual General Meeting 18th May 2011
Intenm announcement of results for the half year ended 30th June 2011 End August 201 1'
1 Provisional

Share price

The Company's shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange under share code “CDI* The share price
1s quoted darly in the Financral Times, The Daily Telegraph, The Times, The Independent, and the Evening
Standard and 1s also avarlable on our website at www candoverinvestments com/ and www
candovennvestments comvinvestor-info/price-graph

Information about Candover
For the latest nformation about Candover Investments plc, visit our website

Home page
www candovennvestments com

Latest plc news
www candovernvestments corm/media/atest-plc-news

Dividend history
www candovennvestments com/financial-performance/dmdend-his

Capita share portal

Candover's registrars, Capita Registrars, offer a share portal service which enables registered shareholders
to manage their Candover shareholdings quickly and easily online Once registered for this service, it1s
possible for a shareholder to view therr Candover sharehclding, recent share trades and dvdend
payments, to obtain cument valuations, to update ther address or amend a dvdend mandate (e g to
enable dwvidends to be paid directly into the shareholder’s bank account) and ta vote online at shareholder
meetings For further Information visit www capitashareportal com

Total voting rights

As at 19th Apni 2011 the Company’s 1ssued share capital consists of 21,778,580 ordinary shares with a
nominal value of 25 pence each A further 78,035 ordinary shares are held in treasury The above figure of
21,778,580 ordinary shares 1s subject to change However until othermse announced that figure may be
used by shareholders in the Company as the denominator for the calcutations by which they will determine
if they are required to notify therr interestin, or a change in therr interest in, the share capital of the Company
under the Disclosure and Transparency Rules published by the Financial Senvices Authonty
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Candover and advisers

Candover Investments plc

200\d Baley

London ECAM 7LN

Telephone +44 (0)20 7489 9848
Facsmile +44 {0)20 7248 5483

email info@candover com

website www candovennvestments com

Registered in England and Wales No 1512178

Solicitors

Ashurst LLP
Broadwalk House
5 Appold Strest
London EC2A 2HA

Stockbrokers

Bank of Amenca Memll Lynch

Bank of Amenca Mermll Lynch Financial Centre
2 King Ecward Street

London EC1A 1HQ

Registered auditors
Grant Thornton UK LLP
Melton Street

Euston Square

London NW1 2EP

Bankers

Bank of Scotland
London Chief Office
PO BoxNo 267

38 Threadneedle Street
London EC2P 2EH

Registrars

Capita Registrars
The Regstry

34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham

Kent

BR3 4TU

Telephone 0871 664 0300 (from UK)!
+44 (0) 20 8639 3399 (from Overseas)
Facsimile +44 (020 8639 2220

email ssd@capitaregistrars com

1 Calls cost 10 pence per mmnute plus network extras
ines are open 8 3Cam - 5 30pm Monday-Fnday
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